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A trilogy of resilience: from turbulence to tranquillity

Over the past three years, our journey has unfolded as a trilogy — weathering storms, navigating uncertainty, and now
charting a course towards stability. From adversity to resilience, and now renewal, 2024 marks our transition to calmer
waters, driven by conviction, courage, and empathy. As we move forward, we remain steadfast in our commitment —
building trust, embracing progress, and shaping a sustainable future for all.
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OURVISION

To be the most technologically advanced, innovative and
customer friendly financial services organisation in Sri
Lanka, poised for further expansion in South Asia.

OUR MISSION

Providing reliable, innovative, customer friendly financial
services, utilising cutting-edge technology and focusing
continuously on productivity improvement whilst
developing our staff and acquiring necessary expertise to
expand locally and regionally.

OUR PURPOSE

To be a responsible financial services provider by enabling
and empowering people, enterprises and communities
towards environmentally-responsible, socially-inclusive and
economically-enriching growth.

OUR VALUES

ffffff Honesty — We strive to earn and retain the trust of our
stakeholders through transparent actions that inspire
them and align with their values.

****** Integrity — Maintaining our integrity is of paramount
importance to us in ensuring that our brand value
keeps growing for all stakeholders.

ffffff Fairness — We focus on doing the right thing by all
our stakeholders so that their trust in us continues to
deepen, enriching invaluable relationships.

ffffff Responsible citizenship - Continuing our
commitment to the community we focus on making
lives better and being a force for good.

****** Accountability — We live by our brand values, ready
to take responsibility for our actions towards all
stakeholders.
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In Context
From turbulence towards tranquillity

After years of storms and challenges,

2024 was a relatively calm year with steady
progress. Together with our stakeholders,

we have braved the storms with courage, care,
and resilience, staying true to our purpose.
Guided by these values, we have weathered
rough seas and navigated towards brighter
shores. As the skies clear and the waters calm,
we remain steadfast in our journey - standing
strong for our customers and communities,
building enduring trust, and creating

a sustainable future filled with hope and
opportunity for all.
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S Muhseen
Chairman

Despite formidable challenges,
Commercial Bank emerged stronger,
leveraging its financial stewardship,
operational resilience, and customer-
centric approach to reinforce its
leadership in the banking sector.

S CU Manatunge
Managing Director/
Chief Executive Officer

Navigating economic volatility with
resilience, we accelerated digital
banking, empowered businesses,
and advanced sustainable finance -
shaping the future of banking with
innovation, agility, and purpose.
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This Integrated Report and Financial
Statements is published within three months
of the date of the Statement of Financial
Position. The comprehensive end to-end
online HTML version and the interactive PDF
version are also published online on the same
date as the date of issue of this Integrated
Report and Financial Statements at

https://combank2024.annualreports.lk/

Scan to view the
comprehensive end-to-end
online HTML version

Scan to view the interactive
PDF version

All the industry related figures mentioned in this

Annual Report have been extracted/computed/annualised
based on the information published by the CBSL as at
September 30, 2024.

Look out for these throughout the report:

[ Reference to another page, table,
figure or graph in the report

EL. Reference to further reading online
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As permitted by the International <IR> Framework, this Annual Report
features a dedicated Integrated Report section, followed by Financial
Statements and Supplementary Information. Structured per the

<IR> Framework’s guiding principles and content elements, it provides
a balanced view of our value creation process. As affirmed in the
Annual Report of the Board of Directors on page 4, due diligence

has been exercised to ensure its integrity, accuracy, and relevance to
all stakeholders.
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Introduction and overview
Annual Report of the Board of Directors

Preamble

The Board of Directors of Commercial Bank of
Ceylon PLC (the Bank) is pleased to present
the 56th Annual Report, which includes the
Integrated Report, the Audited Financial
Statements of the Group and the Bank for
the financial year ended December 31, 2024
and the Independent Auditor’s Report on the
Financial Statements. This Report complies
with all applicable statutory requirements.

In addition to the printed version, this Report
is also available in multiple digital formats,
including an interactive HTML version
supported by an Al-Powered Annual Report
Assistant (Chatbot), an interactive PDF version
and a mobile-friendly version accessible on
the Bank’s official website (www.combank.lk),
to ensure greater accessibility and enhance
stakeholder engagement.

Integrated reporting and strategic focus

The Bank has adopted an integrated
approach to reporting, in line with the
Guiding Principles and the Content Elements
of the IFRS Foundation’s International <IR>
Framework. This Integrated Report articulates
how the Bank creates sustainable value to

all its stakeholders across multiple capitals
over the short, medium and long term
through its robust business model (refer
pages 74 to 75). It also identifies key risks

and opportunities arising from a dynamic
operating environment and outlines strategic
responses to them.

Through the annual strategic planning
process, the Bank has developed a robust
Sustainability Framework, identified
strategic imperatives and executed
appropriate strategies to manage risks
and seize opportunities. For further details
on the Bank’s Sustainability Framework,
strategic imperatives and strategies, refer
to the Business Model for Sustainable Value
Creation (pages 72 to 77) and Management
Discussion and Analysis section (pages
83 to 151). Additional information on
Governance Reports and Risk Governance
and Management is available on pages 192 to
253 and 254 to 284.

Independent assurance on the Bank's
Integrated Report, Sustainability Reporting
and Financial Statements was provided by
Messrs KPMG, in compliance with globally
accepted standards. Assurance reports can
be found on pages 512 to 515. Additional
details on the Bank’s sustainability strategy
are available on pages 78 to 82.

Board’s responsibility

The Board of Directors assumes responsibility
for the preparation and presentation of the
Financial Statements of the Group and the
Bank in accordance with Sections 150, 151,
152 and 153 (1) and (2) of the Companies

Act No. 07 of 2007 and amendments

thereto, ensuring that they present a true
and fair view of the financial position and
performance of the Group and the Bank.

In this respect, the Board of Directors
wishes to confirm that the Financial
Statements — comprising the Income
Statement, Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income, Statement
of Financial Position, Statement of Changes
in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and
accompanying Material Accounting Policies
and Notes thereto - have been prepared
and presented in compliance with the
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS/LKAS)
as mandated by the Sri Lanka Accounting
and Auditing Standards Act No. 15 of 1995
and amendments thereto and the Companies
Act No. 07 of 2007 and amendments thereto.
Detailed disclosures as required by these
statutes are presented on pages 285 to 458 of
this Report.

This Report also includes the required
information and disclosures in compliance
with the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and
amendments thereto, the Banking Act No. 30
of 1988 and amendments thereto along with
related Directions, including the Banking
Act Directions No. 11 of 2007 on Corporate
Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks
in Sri Lanka (which was revoked with effect
from January 01, 2025), the Listing Rules
of the Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE) with
specific reference to Section 9.14.8 (4) on
Related Party Transactions and the Code
of Best Practice on Corporate Governance
2023 issued by The Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka).

We are also confident that the Bank will
meet the requirements of the Banking Act
Directions No. 05 of 2024 on Corporate
Governance for Licensed Banks, which came
into effect from January 01, 2025.

As confirmed by a resolution passed on
February 28, 2025, the Financial Statements
of the Group and the Bank for the year ended
December 31, 2024, including comparative
figures for 2023, were reviewed, approved
and authorised for issuance by the Board
of Directors. Copies of the Annual Report
will be submitted to the CSE and the
Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards
Monitoring Board (SLAASMB). Soft copies
will also be made available on the Bank’s
official website.

The Independent Auditors, Messrs
KPMG, who were appointed at the 55th
Annual General Meeting held on March
28, 2024, have issued an unmodified audit
opinion, which appears on pages 288 to 292.
Disclosure of auditors’ remuneration is made
in Note 21 on page 342. The auditors have
confirmed their independence and indicated
that they have no direct or indirect interest in
any contract with the Bank or its subsidiaries
and the associate, other than as auditors.

The Board, to the best of its knowledge
and belief, acknowledges that all statutory
payments due to the government, regulatory
institutions and employees have been made
on time. Following a review of the business
plans and financial position of the Bank,
its subsidiaries and the associate, the Board
is confident that the Group has adequate
resources to continue operations in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Financial
Statements of the Group and the Bank have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

In line with evolving global reporting
standards, a comprehensive gap analysis is
being conducted to assess the applicability
of the newly issued SLFRS S1 - General
Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-
related Financial Information and SLFRS S2 -
Climate-related Disclosures. This proactive
initiative will enable the Bank to implement
appropriate disclosures in its reporting for the
financial year ending December 31, 2025.

Compliance with statutory requirements
and codes on governance

The Bank’s compliance with Section 168

of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and
amendments thereto and other relevant
statutes is outlined on pages 177 to

180. Additionally, the Bank provides a
comprehensive disclosure of compliance
with the following governance-related
requirements in Annex 1 (pages 460 to 490):

e Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007
on Corporate Governance for Licensed
Commercial Banks in Sri Lanka, issued by
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL)
(Annex 1.1 on pages 460 to 471).

e Code of Best Practice on Corporate
Governance 2023 (Code), issued by
CA Sri Lanka (Annex 1.2 on pages 472 to 476).

e Section 9 of the Listing Rules of the CSE
(Annex 1.3 on pages 477 to 483).

e Disclosure requirements prescribed by the
CBSL for the preparation, presentation and
publication of annual audited financial
statements (Annex 1.4 on pages 484 to 490).
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External Assurances obtained

To ensure the integrity and credibility of the Bank’s disclosures, independent
assurance was obtained in the following areas:

Internal controls

Financial statements

Sustainability reporting

Integrated reporting

Assurance on the Directors’
Statement on Internal
Control over financial
reporting. Assured by

Messrs KPMG in accordance

with the Sri Lanka Standard

on Assurance Engagements
(SLSAE) 3050 (Revised):

Assurance Engagements on

Directors’ Statement -

Assurance on the Audited
Financial Statements.
Assured by Messrs KPMG in
accordance with Sri Lanka
Auditing Standards.

Assurance on the Bank's
Sustainability Reporting
criteria. Assured by Messrs
KPMG in accordance with
the Sri Lanka Standard on
Assurance Engagements
(SLSAE) 3000: Assurance
Engagements other
than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial

Assurance on the Integrated
Annual Report. Assured by
Messrs KPMG in accordance
with the Sri Lanka Standard
on Assurance Engagements
(SLSAE) 3000: Assurance
Engagements other
than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial
Information.

on Internal Control

Page 250 Pages 288 to 292

Scan to create

Fifty-Sixth (56th) Annual General Meeting

The Bank’s Fifty-Sixth Annual General
Meeting (AGM) will be held on March 28,
2025, at 2:30 p.m. at the Galadari Hotel, Grand
Ballroom, No. 64, Lotus Road, Colombo 01.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the AGM and more details can be found in
the Notice of Meeting on page 531, which
is signed in accordance with a resolution
adopted by the Directors.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.
7
\
(578 ﬁﬂf
S CU Manatunge

Managing Director/
Chief Executive Officer

S Muhseen
Chairman

R Senanayake
Deputy Chairman

SR = =<

Information

Pages 512 to 513

a calendar entry for the
Annual General Meeting

fhie K

L D Niyang
Director

n
Q -~
P

Pages 514 to 515

Board’s confirmation

After carefully evaluating the matters significant
to the Bank and its stakeholders, the Board of
Directors affirms that due diligence has been
exercised in the preparation and presentation
of this Integrated Report and Financial
Statements, ensuring its accuracy and integrity.
In compliance with Section 168 (1) (k) of the
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, the Board of
Directors hereby acknowledges the contents of
this Annual Report.

MsNTMS Cooray
Director

oda

NS

Ms J Lee Ms D LTS Wijewardena S Prabagar Dr S Selliah D N L Fernando
Director Director Executive Director/ Director Director
Chief Operating Officer
P M Kumarasinghe PY S Perera R A P Rajapaksha
Director Director Company Secretary

February 28, 2025
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© Introduction and overview

Introduction to our 56th Annual Report

The 56th Annual Report of Commercial Bank
of Ceylon PLC reflects our enduring legacy
of over a century, alongside our continuous
evolution amidst an ever-changing

financial landscape. Beyond capturing key
financial and operational achievements,

this year’s Report emphasises our steadfast
commitment to innovation, sustainability,
and stakeholder-focused value creation.
Transparency, accountability, governance,
and sustainability remain the core pillars
driving our long-term resilience and success.

In line with global best practices,
the Report integrates both financial and
non-financial performance to illustrate
how the Bank is fulfilling its purpose,

driving strategic priorities, and assessing
progress towards financial and non-financial
objectives. It presents material information
that enables providers of capital to evaluate
the opportunities, risks, and relationships
impacting the Bank’s ability to create

and preserve value. It also outlines the
governance framework and the actions taken
to safeguard against value erosion.

Demonstrating our role in fostering
economic growth and social well-being,
the Report showcases not only the
accomplishments of 2024 but also our
forward-looking strategies designed to
navigate future challenges and capitalise on
emerging opportunities. Targeted primarily

at providers of financial capital, this Report is
also intended to benefit a wider stakeholder
audience by offering valuable insights into
how the Bank generates and sustains value
across the short, medium, and long term.

Our reporting journey

In this Report, we strive to present a holistic
narrative of our journey throughout 2024,
highlighting key milestones, challenges
overcome, strategies adopted and trade-offs
made to create, preserve and minimise
erosion of value - collectively referred to

as value creation - over the short, medium
and long term.

Building blocks of our 12th Integrated Annual Report Figure - 01

Stakeholder
relationship

Connectivity

Basis of

preparation &
presentation

Outlook

Governance

Strategic
focus & future
orientation

Materiality

Organisational
overview & external
environment

cr

Risks &
opportunities

Our 12th Integrated

Business Annual Report

Performance
model

i conexT

Reliability &
completeness

Conciseness i

Consistency
&
comparability
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Since 2013, the Bank has diligently
adhered to the <IR> Framework in presenting
its annual reports. Over the years, this
framework has enabled the Bank to offer a
comprehensive, transparent and forward-
looking narrative of its financial and
non-financial performance in accordance
with the Guiding Principles and the Content
Elements of the Framework. This 56th
Annual Report, comprising the Integrated
Report and the Financial Statements, covers
the 12-month period from January 01 to
December 31, 2024, and is consistent with
the Bank’s usual annual reporting cycle for
financial and sustainability reporting.

This follows our most recent Annual Report
for the year ended December 31, 2023,

for which comparative figures are given,
where applicable. This Report reflects our
steadfast commitment to value creation
for all stakeholders, balancing economic,
environmental and social priorities.

The Annual Report has been produced
with a focus on six key qualitative criteria
as given below to ensure a high standard
of disclosure. It maintains completeness by
covering both direct and indirect material
impacts, including those influenced through
stakeholder engagement and Corporate
Social Responsibility (CSR) initiatives.
Clarity is achieved by blending text with
visual elements to enhance readability
and comprehension. To provide a fair and
unbiased account, the Report strives for
balance in presenting material information.
Ensuring credibility and reliability, the
financial and sustainability data has been
independently vetted by Messrs KPMG.
Additionally, accuracy and consistency are
upheld through robust internal controls that
guarantee the traceability and verifiability
of information. The Report also enhances
comparability by including performance data

for both the current and the previous periods,

along with relevant industry benchmarks.

Criteria underlying the
preparation of this Annual Report

e Strategic focus and future
orientation

e Integrated thinking

e Non-financial information

e Guiding principles and frameworks
e Qualitative criteria

e Independent assurances

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Materiality

The principle of materiality guides the content
of this Integrated Report by identifying key
issues, opportunities, and risks that materially
affect our capitals and our ability to create,
protect, and sustain value over the short,
medium, and long term. The identification

of material matters is based on input from
business and service units as well as analysis
of the external environment through a double
materiality lens — assessing both the impact
of our business on the economy, society, and
environment, and vice versa - and also the
insights gathered through our stakeholder
engagement process. These material

matters, detailed on pages 66 to 67, shape
our strategy, refine the risk management
framework, and drive the ongoing evolution
of our business model, influencing short,
medium, and long-term goals.

We prioritise matters with the greatest
relevance to earnings sustainability and
stakeholder value creation, ensuring they are
reviewed and validated through our strategic
planning process. This approach integrates
financial materiality — how external factors
influence the Bank - and impact materiality -
how the Bank affects external factors -
into our decision-making processes, fostering
a resilient, future-ready and sustainable
business model.

Annual Report 2024 7

Stakeholder engagement

The Bank views its stakeholders as integral
partners in its journey of value creation.
Engaging with stakeholders through
structured dialogue as detailed on pages
62 to 65 enables the Bank to gain critical
insights into their expectations, concerns
and emerging priorities. This ongoing
engagement shapes not only the Bank’s
strategic direction but also its approach to
transparent reporting, ensuring that the Bank
remains responsive to the evolving needs
of its key stakeholders, namely, customers,
employees, investors, regulators and the
broader community.

By fostering inclusivity and mutual
trust, the Bank’s stakeholder engagement
framework allows it to address material
issues proactively, strengthen long-term
relationships and ensure that its actions
deliver sustainable value across the six
capitals (refer page 62).

A unified strategy
for sustainable growth

The Bank’s strategic direction is shaped by

a balanced pursuit of financial excellence
and responsible business practices,
whereby financial goals are integrated with
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

Double materiality Figure - 02

Impact materiality

The Bank’s outward impact on \L

Double
materiality

the planet and the society

Financial materiality

T The planet and the society’s -

impact on the Bank
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imperatives. We recognise that long-term
value creation is inherently linked to the
well-being of the environment, the society
and our stakeholders. By embedding ESG
imperatives into our core strategy, we ensure
that our growth ambitions are aligned with
the United Nations’' Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs). This unified approach not only
strengthens our financial performance but
also enhances our ability to effectively address
emerging risks and seize opportunities in an
evolving economic landscape.

This Report depicts how we deliver
shared value to all stakeholders by
prioritising responsible financing, inclusive
banking, operational efficiency and ethical
governance, guided by this holistic strategy
while fostering economic, environmental and
social resilience across our footprint.

Annual Report 2024

Please refer page 72 for the Bank’s
Sustainability Framework to understand how it

helps the Bank achieve its underlying Purpose.

These pillars, in turn, contribute to value
creation across the six interconnected capitals.

We have aligned our sustainability
journey with global standards, including
the SDGs, contributing to eight key
goals most relevant to our operations.

This integrated approach enables us to
balance our commercial objectives with a
broader commitment to societal well-being
and environmental stewardship, with a
particular focus on quality education,

clean energy, gender equality, and

responsible consumption, and climate action.

Navigation Icons

Sustainability at the core of our strategy

As permitted by Sections 2.17 and 2.18 of the <IR> Framework, this Report is structured
around the Bank's 3-Pillar Approach to Sustainability:

_s. Sustainable banking

Eé Driving responsible financing,
financial inclusion and

sustainable products and

services.

9.@, Responsible organisation
Promoting green and safe
workplace, workplace culture
and sustainable supply chain.

Community engagement
Enabling environmental
engagement, social
engagement and social
enterprise.

Six Capitals

@

Financial Manufactured Intellectual
Capital Capital Capital
I N 7,

(~
()

Human Social & Natural
Capital Relationship Capital
Capital

Key Stakeholders
f?@ =9 “’%@’
= = &

Investors Customers Employees

i X
A I
R
Society and Business Government
Environment Partners Institutions and

Regulators
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Balancing growth with sustainability

As a responsible financial institution,
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC recognises
the critical role it plays in fostering
sustainable development while delivering
long-term value to its stakeholders.

We understand that balancing economic
growth with environmental stewardship and
social responsibility is essential to ensure

a sustainable future. Guided by a robust
sustainability framework, we continue to
take measures in order to mitigate the social,
environmental and climate-related risks
associated with our operations and lending
activities, adhering to the precautionary
principle to proactively identify and minimise
potential adverse impacts.

Integrated thinking for
sustainable value creation

Since adopting integrated reporting, we have
continually evolved to embed integrated
thinking across all facets of our operations.
This year’s Report continues to demonstrate
how integrated thinking drives our ability to
adapt, innovate and deliver sustained value
across our stakeholder ecosystem.

This mindset has allowed us to:

e Embed ESG principles within our core
operations;

e Harmonise diverse functions across
the Bank to improve collaboration and
streamline decision-making, while going
beyond economic objectives to align with
societal and environmental goals;

e Align our business model with emerging
trends and disruptive forces, ensuring
long-term relevance and resilience; and

e Enhance operational agility through
the implementation of unified service
standards and integrated digital platforms.
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Integrated thinking for sustainable value creation Figure — 03

Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 83
to 151 and Performance

Analysis on

pages 152 to 175

performance
towards delivering

&————— OurPurpose, Vision,
and Values
Inner front cover

_7
il
Monitor

&

Our purpose
on strategy

Governance Reports on

Integrated pages 192 to 253 and
s Risk Governance and
thinking for
{i@’g ) Management on
N\ sustainable value pages 254 to 284
Strategies creation Governance
to seize to safeguard
opportunities against value
and mitigate erosion
risks

Integrated Strategy
for long-term value
creation on

pages 78 to 82

By fostering a culture of integrated thinking,
we have been able to better anticipate risks, allocate
resources more effectively and deliver superior value
to all stakeholders.

Defining report boundary

The Financial Statements present the consolidated
performance of the Group, encompassing the Bank
and its six subsidiaries - Commercial Development
Company PLC, CBC Tech Solutions Limited, CBC
Finance Ltd., Commercial Insurance Brokers

(Pvt) Ltd., Commercial Bank of Maldives Private
Limited and CBC Myanmar Microfinance Company
Limited -along with the associate company, Equity
Investments Lanka Ltd. (Refer to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on pages 285 to 458).

Unless otherwise indicated, the Bank'’s social and
environmental impacts, detailed in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 83 to 151, pertain
to its operations in Sri Lanka and Bangladesh. These
two markets represent the core of Commercial
Bank of Ceylon PLC, the parent entity, contributing
over 97% of the Group’s total revenue, loans and
advances, deposits and assets.

During the reporting period, there were no
significant changes in the Bank’s ownership,
structure, or reporting boundaries. Further, there
were no changes in reporting or restatements
to the previously reported financial, social or
environmental information.

0Q
14

Culture that
aligns with our
core values Responsible
Organisation on

pages 120 to 136

Crafted with clarity

This Report has been prepared by using concepts, principles and guidelines prescribed in:

INTEGRATED IR
REPORTING

The International <IR> Framework

THE INSTITUTE OF
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
OF SRILANKA

A Preparer’s Guide to Integrated
Corporate Reporting published by
CA Sri Lanka

Handbook on Integrated Corporate
Reporting, published by CA Sri Lanka
in collaboration with The Integrated
Reporting Council of Sri Lanka

(https://www.ifrs.org)

B FRS

Foundation

International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS)

(https://www.ifrs.org)

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
Standards

(www.globalreporting.org)

(www.casrilanka.com)

Sustainability Framework of the Bank
(Page 72)

Accordingly, the report provides a balanced representation of the Bank's
ability to create and sustain value over the short, medium and long term.
It encompasses both historical performance and forward-looking insights to
meet the expectations of financial capital providers and other key stakeholders.
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Qualitative criteria used in the production of the Annual Report Figure - 04

Encompasses material impacts, \/
both within and under the direct ———— ()
control of the Bank as well as
external impacts that are indirectly
influenced through our engagement
with stakeholders and broader
sustainability initiatives undertaken
through the Bank’s own CSR Trust

Completeness

Includes the performance —— _—
1 N
of current and previous TN

reporting periods together

\|/

Clarity

Incorporates both text and visual

- @ — ¢« elements to enhance readability,
TN

facilitate understanding and
maintain concision

Makes every possible effort to
present a fair representation of
relevant material information

iy

with industry benchmarks, Comparability Balance
where relevant and available
Information is supported by inbuilt ————— \/I [:6\7 Financial and sustainability
internal controls to facilitate N =~ information has been vetted by
traceability and verifiability of a reputed external assurance
information Accuracy and Credibility service provider
consistency and reliability
Non-financial performance Our non-financial disclosures not only e Engaged Messrs KPMG as independent

Recognising the shift in the role of banks
beyond profitability to include broader
environmental and social contributions,
the Bank continues to prioritise
non-financial performance by integrating
ESG considerations into its core strategy.

The Bank’s sustainability efforts are
guided by globally recognised frameworks.
These efforts encompass a wide range
of initiatives aimed at reducing our
environmental footprint, fostering financial
inclusion, promoting employee well-being
and contributing to community development.

Assuring integrity

During 2024, our focus on non-financial
aspects resulted in:

reflect our commitment to creating
long-term value but also serve as a
foundation for responsible corporate o Conducted rigorous internal reviews and
behaviour. By providing both qualitative
insights and quantitative metrics on our
ESG performance, we aim to enhance
stakeholder confidence and foster
sustainable growth in the years to come.

assurance provider for both financial and
sustainability information.

verifications to maintain the integrity of
our disclosures.

This Annual Report reflects the Bank's

unwavering commitment to transparency,

stakeholder engagement and responsible
business practices.

Ensuring the accuracy, credibility and
reliability of the information presented in this
report is a top priority. To that end, we have:

Sustainable banking . Community
@ initiatives [(° engagement

Increased green Investments in
financing and support education, healthcare
for renewable energy and livelihood
projects. programs aimed at
uplifting underserved

Refer pages 84 to 119
communities.

for more details
Refer pages 137 to 151
for more details

Employee
well-being

Continued emphasis
on diversity, inclusion
and professional
development,
ensuring a supportive
workplace culture.

Refer pages 120 to
136 for more details

Environmental

@ stewardship

Expansion of carbon-
neutral initiatives,
resource efficiency
programs and
paperless operations
to reduce our
ecological impact.

Refer pages 137 to
151 for more details
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Guiding principles, regulations, codes and acts for financial and narrative reporting Figure - 05
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Financial reporting

CA &

Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and
amendments thereto and Auditing
Standards Act No. 15 of 1995

THE INSTITUTE OF
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
OF SRILANKA

Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and
amendments thereto (Companies Act)

Circular No. 2 of 2019 on the Preparation,

Presentation and Publication of Annual

Audited Financial Statements of Licensed

Commercial Banks issued by the CBSL

Circular No. 5 of 2024 on Publication
of Annual and Quarterly Financial
Statements and other disclosures by
Licensed Banks

Narrative reporting

INTEGRATED IR
REPORTING

International <IR> Framework

THE INSTITUTE OF
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
OF SRILANKA

CA &

® A Preparer’s Guide to Integrated
Reporting by CA Sri Lanka in
collaboration with the Integrated
Reporting Council of Sri Lanka

e Handbook on Integrated Corporate
Reporting by CA Sri Lanka

e Non-Financial Reporting Guidelines

Banking Act Direction No. 13 of 2021
on Classification, Recognition and
Measurement of Credit Facilities in
Licensed Banks

Banking Act Direction No. 14 of 2021
on Classification, Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets other
than Credit Facilities in Licensed Banks

THE INSTITUTE OF
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
OF SRI LANKA

CA &

Guidelines issued by CA Sri Lanka in
the form of Statements of Alternative
Treatment (SOAT)

CCISE
e
COLOM36 STOCK EXCHANGE

Listing Rules of CSE

Sustainability reporting

GRI Standards — Revised 2021 issued by

the Global Sustainability Standards Board

(GSSB)

Corporate governance
Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007

Banking Act Direction No. 05 of 2024

X.C'SE

COLOMBO STOCK EXCHANGE

Listing Rules of CSE

THE INSTITUTE OF
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
OF SRI LANKA

CA &

Code of Best Practice on Corporate

Governance 2023 issued by CA Sri Lanka

PNy E—
~ I &

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION OF SRI LANKA

Securities and Exchange Commission
of Sri Lanka - Act No. 36 of 1987
(as amended)

RO
%% United Nations

&/ Global Compact

UNGC Principles and UN Sustainable
Development Goals

Uy,

Sustainability Accounting Standard for
Commercial Banks of the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB) of
the IFRS Foundation

Assurance
Sri Lanka Auditing Standards

Sri Lanka Standard on Assurance
Engagements SLSAE 3000: Assurance
Engagements other than Audits

or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information

Sri Lanka Standard on Assurance
Engagements SLSAE 3050 (revised):
Assurance Engagements on Directors’
Statement on Internal Control
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Transcending mediums

In keeping with our commitment to a
digital-first approach, this Annual Report is
available in multiple formats to cater to the
preferences of our diverse stakeholder base,
following the Swiss Army Knife model:

e Comprehensive end-to-end online HTML
version, supported with an Al-Powered
Annual Report Assistant (Chatbot),
accessible through both desktop and
mobile devices.

e Downloadable PDF version hosted on the
Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE) website.

e Downloadable interactive PDF version
hosted on the Bank’s website.

Annual Report 2024

While we have printed a limited number
of hard copies for select stakeholders,
our primary focus is on digital accessibility
to promote environmental sustainability.
Readers can scan the QR codes provided in
the Figure — 06 below of this report for quick
access to the online versions. These efforts
underscore our commitment to balancing
conciseness, comprehensiveness, accessibility
and environmental responsibility.

© Introduction and overview
Introduction to our 56th Annual Report

Your opinion matters

We invite our stakeholders to share their
comments or queries on this Annual
Report. Feedback can be directed to:

Chief Financial Officer
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC
“Commercial House”

No. 21, Sir Razik Fareed Mawatha,
Colombo 01,

Sri Lanka.

Transcending mediums Figure — 06

The comprehensive end-to-end online HTML version of this Integrated Report and Financial Statements offers user-friendly features
designed to enhance navigation across key sections such as the Business Model, Statement of Capital Position, Duality of Value Creation,
Animated Graphs and Notes to the Financial Statements displayed on mouse-over, along with hyperlinked cross-references.

In addition to the Chatbot, this HTML version includes the following distinctive features for an improved user experience.

Chatbot

Chart generator

I CONTEXT i
Y —— -
-

(i)

N

©)

Download center

My Report

&)
Key word search

Scan to view the
comprehensive end-to-end
online HTML version

Scan to view the interactive
PDF version
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Organisational overview Figure - 07

North America

Correspondent
Banks

11

Organisational overview

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC operates
as a robust and well-diversified financial
institution, with a strong domestic franchise
and a growing international footprint.

Our expansive network includes 272
branches across Sri Lanka, supplemented
by international operations in Bangladesh,
the Maldives and Myanmar, establishing
ourselves as a prominent regional player.
Additionally, extensive correspondent
banking relationships in North America,

Business volumes and market share Table 01

) Europe \

Corresponde‘nt/ Correspondent
Banks Banks

19 2

Europe and Australia, combined with 10
Business Promotion Officers, underscore
our strategic efforts to facilitate seamless
cross-border financial services and
strengthen international partnerships.

Higher-tier domestic systemically
important bank

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC is the only
private sector bank in Sri Lanka designated
by the CBSL as a Higher-Tier Domestic
Systemically Important Bank (D-SIB).

{/Australia —="> "

&—— Asia
Sri Lanka Myanmar
Branches Subsidiary
272 1
Subsidiaries Correspondent
4 Banks
Associate 25
1 Business
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, Promotion
Maldives Officers
Subsidiary 10
/ 1 """"""""""""
Bangladesh
Branches

20

This recognition underscores our critical role
in safeguarding the stability of Sri Lanka’s
financial system.

With total Group assets of Rs. 2.876 Tn.
as at December 31, 2024, we remain the
largest private sector bank and the third
largest bank in Sri Lanka. Our presence
spans across multiple geographies, with
six subsidiaries, an associate and branch
networks, offering a comprehensive range of
financial services locally and internationally.

Business volumes and market share of the
Bank are given below.

Indicator Currency December 31, Market share (%) December 31, Market share (%)
2024 2023

Gross Loans & advances Rs. Bn. 1,487 13.22 1,266 11.49
USD Mn. 5,075 3,903

Deposits Rs. Bn. 2,237 12.90 2,085 12.54
USD Mn. 7,633 6,430

Total assets Rs. Bn. 2,790 13.16 2,580 12.65
USsD Mn. 9,521 7,958

Import volumes USD Mn. 2,368 14.30 1,475 11.40

Export volumes USD Mn. 2,709 21.20 2,248 18.90
USD/LKR exchange rate LKR 293.00 324.25
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What sets us apart

Our distinctive strengths lie in a unique blend
of financial prowess, a century-old legacy,

a growing international presence and our
steadfast commitment to sustainability

and innovation. Key elements that set us
apartinclude:

%

Market leadership

e Largest private sector bank in
Sri Lanka by assets, loans and
deposits.

e First private sector bank to surpass
Rs. 2 Tn. in assets & deposits and
Rs. 1Tn.in loans.

o Industry-leading CASA ratio,
standing at 38.07% as at end 2024.

e Largest lender to the SME sector
since 2020.

o Highest market capitalisation of
Rs. 230.309 Bn. (USD 786.039 Mn.)
among the financial institutions
listed on the CSE.

o
G
Global reach

o International footprint with
subsidiaries in the Maldives and
Myanmar, along with a network of
20 branches/outlets in Bangladesh.

o Extensive correspondent banking
relationships spanning the globe.

(gL
_@3_
Technological innovation

o Pioneering digital banking
solutions, offering advanced
mobile banking, digital banking
and Al-driven financial services.

S

Commitment to sustainability

o First fully carbon-neutral bank in
Sri Lanka.

o Dedicated portfolio of green
financing products and initiatives
aimed at supporting renewable
energy and environmentally-
friendly projects.

Annual Report 2024

Over a century of legacy

Tracing its roots back to 1920, the Bank has
grown from a modest entity on Chatham
Street, Colombo, into Sri Lanka’s largest
private sector bank. Marking over 50 years
under its current name, our journey is defined
by resilience, innovation and an unwavering
focus on customer-centric banking.

Today, with over 5,000 employees
and a customer base exceeding 4 million,
the Bank serves both retail and corporate
clients through a vast network of branches,
subsidiaries and digital platforms.

Growing international footprint

Our strategic foray into international markets
began with the acquisition of Crédit Agricole
Indosuez’s Bangladesh operations in 2003.
Since then, we have steadily expanded

our international presence, establishing
subsidiaries in the Maldives and Myanmar,
alongside 20 branches/outlets in Bangladesh.

Our international operations now account
for 15.04% of the Group’s consolidated assets
and 22.21% of consolidated profit before taxes.

Risk profile

The Bank is known for its conservative risk
profile, which is anchored in a robust risk
management framework and prudent
risk-taking practices. This cautious approach
has enabled the Bank to remain resilient

in challenging market conditions while
safeguarding stakeholder interests and
maintaining a healthy balance sheet. Through
disciplined credit underwriting, proactive
asset quality monitoring and prudent
provisioning, the Bank effectively manages
credit, market and operational risks with a
long-term perspective.

In January 2025, following the upgrading
of the sovereign rating, Fitch Ratings
upgraded the Bank’s National Long-Term
Rating to AA-(lka), reflecting its robust
financial fundamentals, strategic capital
augmentation plans, strong domestic
franchise, intrinsic credit strength and
operational resilience amid a gradually
improving economic environment. The
affirmation acknowledged the Bank’s capital
strengthening efforts, liquidity management
initiatives and recovery in profitability.
Additionally, our Bangladesh operations
continued to maintain the highest credit
rating of AAA from Credit Rating Information
Services Ltd. for the 14th consecutive year.

The Bank’s risk governance framework,
supported by regular stress testing and capital
adequacy assessments, ensures resilience
against macroeconomic volatility while a well-
diversified portfolio mitigates concentration
risks, safeguarding sustainable growth.

© Introduction and overview
About Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Diversified for resilience

Diversification is at the heart of our strategy,
ensuring balanced growth across

business segments and geographies and
enabling resilience amidst economic
volatility. Our diversified operations
mitigates concentration risk and enhances
financial stability.

The Bank’s well-diversified portfolio
encompasses various parameters, including:

e Business segments: Corporate Banking,
Personal Banking, Treasury and
International Operations.

e Customer segments: Corporate, SME, Micro,
Agri and Retail.

e Geographical presence: Operations in
Sri Lanka, Bangladesh, the Maldives and
Myanmar.

e Currency mix: Operations across multiple
currencies.

e Products and services portfolio:
Comprehensive offerings ranging from
savings and loans to trade finance and
investment solutions.

e Funding profile: A balanced mix of retail
deposits, corporate deposits and wholesale
funding.

e Economic sectors: Exposure across a
multitude of sectors.

e Revenue streams: A mix of interest income,
fee-based income and investment income.

ComBank ranked
Strongest Bank in

Sri Lanka in TAB Global
1000 strength index 2024

The Bank once again assessed as the
“Strongest Bank in Sri Lanka’, taking
its place in a prestigious global
ranking published annually by TAB
Insights, the global research and
consulting subsidiary of TAB Global,
the parent company of the Asian
Banker magazine.
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Vibrant financial intermediation

As a leading financial intermediary, we play
a pivotal role in channeling funds to drive
economic growth. With over 80% of total
assets funded by customer deposits and

a loans-to-deposits ratio of 66.48% as at
December 31, 2024, we maintain a strong
balance sheet.

Our industry-leading CASA ratio of
38.07% as at end-2024 further demonstrates
our ability to attract low-cost deposits,
providing a competitive edge in a
challenging interest rate environment.

Capital position

In August 2024, the Bank raised Rs. 22.54 Bn.
through an equity infusion aimed at
strengthening its core capital and improving
the Tier | capital ratio. This strategic move
ensured continued compliance with
regulatory capital requirements while
providing a strong foundation to support
future growth and absorb potential risks

in an uncertain macroeconomic climate.

A Rs. 20.00 Bn. Basel lll-compliant
subordinated debenture issue enhanced
the Bank’s Tier Il capital in July 2024.

The long-term debt issuance, with tenures
of up to ten years, was geared towards
funding growth opportunities, optimising
the balance sheet and maintaining a healthy
asset-liability profile.

The above initiatives coupled with the net
impairment reversal of Rs. 46.39 Bn. to the net
profit before taxes following the conclusion
of restructuring of International Sovereign
Bonds (ISBs) in December 2024, helped the
Bank to strengthen the capital position in
2024, further reinforcing its financial stability
and resilience in a challenging environment.
As of December 31, 2024, the Bank’s Tier |
Capital Ratio at 14.227% and Total Capital
Ratio at 18.142% remained comfortably
above the regulatory minimum thresholds of
10.0% and 14.0% respectively, required for a
higher-tier D-SIB.

Commitment to compliance

Commercial Bank places a strong emphasis
on regulatory compliance, always adhering
strictly to both local and international
standards. Our comprehensive Compliance
Policy outlines the processes for identifying,
monitoring and managing compliance
risks, supported by a dedicated compliance
function reporting to the Board of Directors
through the Board Integrated Risk
Management Committee (BIRMC).

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Efforts to strengthen our compliance
framework include:

/) Incorporating new regulatory
developments into internal
policies.

@ Enhancing transaction
monitoring systems.

@ Regularly reviewing and
updating the Bank’s compliance
program to meet evolving
regulatory requirements.

Commitment to ESG and sustainability

We recognise the evolving expectations of
our stakeholders regarding ESG factors and
broader sustainability. Our sustainability
journey is guided by a comprehensive
framework, which balances financial growth
with environmental stewardship, social
responsibility and governance excellence.
We continued to strengthen our internal
policies and practices, ensuring alignment
with global sustainability standards

and frameworks. We aim to deepen our

Annual Report 2024 15

engagement with stakeholders, including
customers, employees, regulators and the
community, to promote shared responsibility
in achieving sustainable development goals.
Our Sustainability Framework (refer page 72),
embodying our commitment to ESG spheres,
is anchored on the three pillars of sustainable
banking, responsible organisation and
community engagement, balancing financial
performance with positive societal and
environmental outcomes.

While the Bank’s Business Model and
operations do not inherently produce
significant negative environmental
impacts, we remain vigilant of our indirect
environmental footprint, particularly through
the business activities of our borrowers.

This consciousness is reflected in the Bank’s
ongoing commitment to sustainability,
which is integrated into our decision-
making processes, product offerings and
operational practices. Our efforts to balance
growth with environmental sustainability are
evident through such key initiatives as green
financing, social & environmental screening
of credit proposals, investments in energy-
efficient technologies to enhance operational
efficiency and progress towards achieving
carbon neutrality independently.

ComBank ranked Most
Respected Bank in Sri Lanka
for 20th successive year

-

- el e, —a

The Bank completed two decades as LMD’s Most Respected Bank in Sri Lanka,
with the announcement of the LMD magazine's “Most Respected Entities in Sri Lanka”
rankings for 2024 and the third Most Respected corporate entity in the country

overall in 2024.
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SOURCES OF FUNDS UTILISATION OF FUNDS
Funding structure Deposit mix by product Utilisation of funds
Graph - 01 Graph - 02 Graph - 05
A A
1 2oz« | |
B B
1 o | |
0 20 40 60 80 100 C C 0 20 40 60 80 100
% %
As at December 31, 2024 2023 As at December 31, 2024 2023 As at December 31, 2024 2023
% % % % % %
Deposits to total assets 80.17 80.81 B A Currentaccount balances 8.52 10.96 [l Other assets 1.07 1.45
Capital to total assets 9387 833 Il B Savingsdeposits 29.54 28.28 [l Deferred tax assets 043 1.32
Subordinated Liabilities to B C Time deposits 6194  60.76 M Intangible assets 0.15 0.14
total assets 2.07 1.41 B D Otherdeposits 0.00 0.00 [l Property plant and equipment 0.99 1.02
Other Borrowings to total assets 0.51 0.49 [ Investments in subsidiaries and 0.21 0.23
I Due to Banks to total assets 0.76 1.83 associate
"~ M Loans and advances 4963 4559
[ Securities sold under repurchase
agreements to total assets 4.03 431 Investments 4262 41.80
I Other Liabilities to total assets 259 282 M Derivative financial instruments 0.15 0.28
: : Balances with central banks 1.64 2.05
Cash and cash equivalents 3.11 6.12
| 4 y
Deposits by type of Currency Maturity analysis - Liabilities & Equity Assets by business segment
Graph - 03 Graph - 04 Graph - 06
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2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
B
A A B A A B B
C C
As at December 31, 2024 2023 As at December 31, 2024 2023 As at December 31, 2024 2023
% % % % % %
A Srilankan Rupee 71.42 67.12 A Upto 3 months 60.35 61.36 A Personal banking 23.99 26.98
I B United States Dollar 17.96 20.17 Il B 3tol12months 23.56 2437 B B Corporate banking 19.52 17.79
B C GreatBritain Pound 0.70 0.81 B C 1to3years 3.81 231 B C International operations 15.04 16.94
1 D Euro 0.61 0.67 M D 3to5years 1.91 3.00 D Dealing/treasury 4115 3647
I E Australian Dollar 0.37 0.46 [l E  Morethan 5 years 1037 8.96 B E NBFI, real estate and
B F BangladeshTaka 881 1062 services — 073 0.62
B G OtherCurrencies 013 015 Bl F Unallocated/eliminations -0.43 1.20
| 4 | 4 | 4
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Loans and advances mix by currency
Graph - 07

Loans and advances by customer type
(Sri Lankan operations)
as at December 31,

BE G H EF ¢ H Graph - 08
D\ D\
C ‘ [
W 2024 M 2023
B
E %
2024 2023 60
48
A 36
A
24
As at December 31, 2024 2023 12
% %
. 0
A Srilankan Rupee 72.61 71.01 Corporate MSME Retail
I B United States Dollar 17.66 16.38
B C GreatBritain Pound 0.11 0.15
Il D Euro 145 0.95
- As at December 31, 2024 2023
[ E Australian Dollar 0.01 0.04 % %
F ) Y 0.05 0.01
n apanese Yen Corporate 4632 5393
B G BangladeshTaka 8.08 11.46 MSME 2023 19.80
B H Others 003 000 Retail 2445 2627
| 4
Loans and advances mix by product Maturity analysis - Total assets
Graph - 09 Graph - 10
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As at December 31, 2024 2023 As at December 31, 2024 2023
% % % %
A Overdrafts 11.19 10.37 A Upto 3 months 34.71 39.43
B  Trade finance 8.69 7.94 I B 3to12months 23.40 21.77
[l C Lease/hire purchase Il C 1to3years 2117 19.38
receivable 3.59 2.86 B D 3to5years 1157 11.16
D Credit cards 143 1.51 [l E  Morethan5 years 915 826
B E Pawning 2.91 2.76
B F staffloans 0.96 1.05
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B | Shortterm Loans 19.88 22.58
B J LongtermLoans 38.93 3848
B K Billsof exchange 4.40 3.89
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The Bank’s multi-faceted diversification has
yielded positive and meaningful results,
serving as an effective risk management
tool to mitigate concentration risks, enhance
long-term stability, and reduce exposure to
specific market fluctuations. This approach
has strengthened the Bank's agility, enabling
it to navigate volatile economic conditions
while remaining resilient in an evolving
financial landscape.

Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR)

Loans and
Advances

13.05%

Total Assets

13.37%

Deposits

15.50%

CAGR over

10 Years

Gross
Income

13.90%

Profit
before tax

19.76%

Profit
after tax

17.07%
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Awards and accolades

International Awards
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Global Finance Magazine
4"‘“‘5 World’s Best Bank

§ a‘é Awards 2024

e

v e Best Bankin
¥R sriLanka2024

3_'!"“4‘& Best SME Bank
Awards 2024

%‘ 't'# e Best SME Bank in
"M SriLanka 2024

World'’s Best Digital

P
3 "‘ Banks 2024
e

e Best Online Product
Offering - ComBank
Digital

Asian Banking & Finance Magazine

ABF Corporate and Investment

Banking Awards 2024

e Corporate Client Initiative of the
Year - Treasury FX Portal

e Debt Deal of the Year -
Debenture Issuance 2023

ABF Retail Banking Awards 2024

e Digital Consumer Banking
Initiative — Sri Lanka

e SME Bank of the Year - Sri Lanka

ABF Fintech Awards 2024

e Ecosystem Collaboration
Award - Sri Lanka

e The Payments Solution
Award - Sri Lanka

Women's Tabloid
Women's Tabloid Awards 2024

e Best Bank for Women to
Work — Sri Lanka 2024

Indian Chamber of Commerce
2nd ICC Emerging Asia Banking
Conclave & Awards 2024

e The Best Bank - Runner Up

e The Best Performance on
Growth - Runner Up

TAB Global Pte Ltd.

IN SHI LANKA 2024

THL ASEAY BANKER
i THE STRONGEST BANK
- Ty balemes aliaer
Strongest Banks in the World 2024
e Strongest Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
The Asian Banker - Transaction
Finance Awards 2024

o Best Productivity, Efficiency &
Automation Initiative — Treasury
FX Portal

Retail Banker International
Asia Trailblazer Awards 2024

e Best Retail Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

Brands Review Magazine
Brands Review Magazine 2024
e Best Sustainable Bank in

Sri Lanka 2024

e Most Innovative Digital Bank
in Sri Lanka 2024

e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

ACEF Asian Business Leaders
Awards 2024

e Grand Prix Awards - Overall
Excellence in Social Responsibility

FinanceAsia Magazine

FinanceAsia Awards
2024

e Best Bankin
Sri Lanka 2024

MEED Media FZ LLC

Private Banker International Global
Wealth Awards 2024

e Most Innovative Al Offering
2024 - AIPARA

Business Pinnacle Magazine

Business Pinnacle Magazine
Awards 2024

e Best Banking Partner For Sustainable
Energy Solutions in Sri Lanka 2024

® Best Collaboration for SME
Development - Combank
Leap GlobalLinker

Euromoney Magazine
Euromoney Awards for Excellence

e Best Bank for ESG in Sri Lanka

Brands and Business Magazine
Brands and Business Magazine
Awards 2024

o Best Digital Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
o Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

e Best Sustainable Bank in
Sri Lanka 2024

Business Tabloid Magazine
Business Tabloid Awards 2024

e Best Digital Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

Cosmopolitan The Daily
Cosmopolitan The Daily Business
Awards 2024

e Best Retail Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
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BANK AWARDS CEREMONY 202¢ ComBank

crowned “Best
e Bankin
~  SriLanka”
.. by Global Finance
; 8%  for the 22nd year

wE 0Ty
& 5T
3
L "R

L i

i
E Ujonak e
. [ :JI;‘!:“-“ ’ The Bank was named as the “Best Bank
i - in Sri Lanka” for a remarkable 22nd year
in the “World’s Best Banks 2024 list
released by the US-based Global
Finance magazine.
: '|"|1ﬂ."-r. L B fcac finan i
- -t est Bank Award recognises financial
— institutions that offer the broadest range
of services, long-term reliability, and
technological innovation.
Gazette International Magazine Global Banking and Finance Review Finance Derivative Magazine
Gazette International Magazine o Century of Excellence Banking Finance Derivative Magazine
Awards 2024 Group Sri Lanka 2024 Awards 2024
g - ) © Best Private Bank Sri Lanka 2024 e Best Digital Bank Sri Lanka 2024
i . ¢ Best Digital Bankiin o Best SME Bank Sri Lanka 2024 i
‘ Sri Lanka 2024 ® Best SME Bank Sri Lanka 2024
- E
[ @™ BestSMEBankin Global Brands Magazine Global Business Review Magazine
R . Sri Lanka 2024 Global Brands Awards 2024 Global Business Review Magazine
- L

Awards 2024
© Best Banking Brand

in Sri Lanka 2024

M,

wI =30
[ ]

Best Private Bank in

Sri Lanka 2024 Best Retail Bank

Sri Lanka 2024

e Best Sustainable
Banking Brand 2024

1

Best Bank in CSR

activities Sri Lanka 2024 Best CSR Bank

Sri Lanka 2024

e Largest Private Bank

in Sri Lanka 2024 ® Best SME Bank

Sri Lanka 2024

Global Business and
Finance Magazine

Global Business and
Most Sustainable Finance Magazine Awards 2024
Private Bank -
Sri Lanka 2024

e Best Bank for
Environmental, Social
and Governance (ESG)
Sri Lanka 2024

e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
e Best CSR Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

e

*
[ ]
[ ]
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ComBank named
best SME

Bank in Sri Lanka

at Global Finance
Awards 2024 in UK

The Bank won the award for the

“Best SME Bank” in Sri Lanka at the
Global Finance Awards 2024. The Bank
received the prestigious Global Finance
Award in this sphere for the second
consecutive year.

International Business Magazine
International Business Magazine
Awards 2024
e Most Sustainable Domestic Bank

Sri Lanka 2024

® Most Reliable Digital Banking Services
Provider Sri Lanka 2024

e Best Retail Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
e Best SME Bank Sri Lanka 2024

World Business Stars Magazine

World Business Stars Magazine
Awards 2024

e Best Digital Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

World Finance Magazine
World Finance Banking Awards 2024

e Most Sustainable Bank in
Sri Lanka 2024

The Global Economics Magazine
The Global Economics Awards 2024

e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
e Best CSR Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

World Business Outlook Magazine
World Business Outlook Awards 2024

o Best Digital Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
o Largest Private Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

World Economic Magazine

o Best Retail Bank in
Sri Lanka 2024

e Best Digital Bank in
Sri Lanka 2024

e Best SME Bank in
Sri Lanka 2024

e

Global Business Magazine
Global Business Magazine

Awards 2024

e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

e Best Digital Bank in Sri Lanka 2024
e Best Retail Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

Global Business Outlook Magazine
Global Business Outlook Awards 2024

e Best SME Bank in Sri Lanka 2024

® Most Innovative Digital Bank in
Sri Lanka 2024
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Industrial Development Board

Green Industry Awards 2024

e Gold Award - Low carbon and/or
climate-resilient production

e Gold Award - Green Digital and
Information Technologies

e Bronze Award - Inclusive Business
Development

Lankaclear (Pvt) Ltd

i-'ﬂn'al TECHNNOVYATION
AWARDS 2024

LankaPay Technnovation Awards 2024
e Gold - Best LankaPay Card
Implementor of the Year

e Gold - Best Mobile Application for
Retail Payments via LankaQR

e Gold - Best Bank for Retail Payments

o Silver - Overall Award for Excellence
in Digital Payments

o Silver — Most Innovative Bank of the Year

Media Services (Private) Limited
LMD - Most Respected Entities

e Banking Sector - 1st place
e Overall - 3rd Place

Media Services (Private) Limited
LMD - Most Loved Brand

e Banking Sector - 1st place
e Service Brand - 2nd Place
e Corporate Brands - 7th Place

Sri Lanka Institute of Marketing

SLIM KANTAR
e e BT People’s
::-'.';!’!" {-'E Awards

= SLIN ERWLEN

o People’s Private Bank of the Year 2024

ComBank wins 4 including double
Gold CA Sri Lanka TAGS Awards 2024

The Bank won two Golds, a Silver and a
Bronze at CA Sri Lanka’s “TAGS” Awards
2024, reaffirming the Bank’s prowess in
financial reporting through its Annual
Report for 2023.

The Bank was presented the Gold for
“Corporate Governance Disclosure”

in the Financial Services sector and for
the “Best Annual Report among the
private sector banks”. The Bank also won
the Silver for “Digitally Transformative
Reporting”across all sectors, as well as
the overall Bronze award for Excellence
in Corporate Reporting.

Green Building Council of Sri Lanka

Green Business Leadership
Awards 2024

e Platinum Awards - Jaffna Branch

NBQSA ICT Awards 2024

o Banking, Insurance
i i and Finance in
‘-1_ 4 ! Consumer Category

e Gold Award - ComBank Digital
e Merit Award - Jimi-GPT

The Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka

TAGS Awards 2024
e Gold - Corporate Governance
Disclosure in Financial Sector

e Gold - Best Annual Report —
Private Banking Sector

o Silver - Digitally Transformative
Reporting

® Bronze - Overall Excellence in
Corporate Reporting

Sri Lanka Institute of Marketing

SLIM Brand Excellence
2024

e Gold Award - Green Brand of
the year 2024

Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants

ACCA Sustainability Reporting
Awards 2024

e Banking Category — Winner

e Overall - Runner Up
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Our social initiatives are anchored in
fostering financial inclusion, supporting
small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and
championing gender equality through
targeted programs such as Women Banking.
We are also deeply invested in community
development, contributing to education,
healthcare and sustainable livelihoods
through our CSR initiatives.

Governance remains a cornerstone of
our sustainability approach, ensuring that
we operate with integrity, accountability
and transparency. Guided by global best
practices, regulatory frameworks and a robust
risk management culture, our governance
structures uphold ethical decision-making
and long-term stakeholder value creation.

By balancing growth with sustainability,
the Bank remains committed to delivering
long-term economic value while contributing
positively to the society and safeguarding
the environment for future generations.

Our proactive approach to sustainability
underscores our role as a responsible financial
partner, ensuring that our progress is both
inclusive and environmentally conscious.

Tax Compliance

The Bank is committed to fulfilling its tax
obligations in all jurisdictions where it
operates, while ensuring that its products
and services are not used for tax evasion.
Details on taxes paid by the Bank on its
profits, and the taxes collected and remitted
by the Bank on behalf of its customers to the
Governments are given below:

Direct taxes paid during 2024
by type of tax

Income tax

Rs. 19.558 Bn.

Taxes on financial services

Rs. 10.188 Bn.

Other taxes

Rs. 0.884 Bn.

Total

Rs. 30.630 Bn.

Annual Report 2024

Taxes collected and remitted during
2024 by tax type (in Sri Lanka)

Advance Income Tax (AIT) on
interest paid on deposits

Rs.6.101 Bn.

PAYE tax on staff emoluments

Rs.3.152 Bn.

Stamp duty

Rs. 0.671 Bn.

Value added tax

Rs. 0.426 Bn.

Other taxes

Rs.0.191 Bn.

Total

Rs. 10.541 Bn.

Ownership of the Bank

As at December 31, 2024, the Bank had
16,966 ordinary voting shareholders. Major
shareholders included MrY S H I Silva (9.87%),
DFCC Bank PLC (9.72%), Mr D P Pieris (9.68%),
entities related to the State (17.93%) and
notable institutional investors such as the
International Finance Corporation and
related funds (14.41%). Twenty largest
ordinary voting shareholders held 77.08%

as at December 31, 2024 (77.09% as at
December 31, 2023).

Notably, foreign shareholders
held a 18.26% stake in the Bank as at
December 31, 2024 (18.00% as at
December, 2023) reflecting strong
international investor confidence in
our operations.

© Introduction and overview
About Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Our approach to value creation

At Commercial Bank, value creation is driven
by our ability to blend financial performance
with social responsibility with the best
interest of all the stakeholders at heart across
short, medium and long-term horizons.

Our business model focuses on delivering
sustainable returns to stakeholders while
fostering economic growth, social well-being
and environmental stewardship.

ComBank ranked

"Most Loved" Bank
brand in Sri Lanka in 2024

The Bank was voted Sri Lanka’s
“Most Loved” Bank brand and the
second ‘Most Loved'brand in the
country overall in the “Service” sector
in 2024 by the leading business
magazine LMD.

These titles were based on the
findings of an online survey by
LMD’s research partner PepperCube
Consultants.

Key elements of our value creation
strategy include:

1 Customer-centric solutions
that drive engagement and
T loyalty.

Technological innovation
to enhance operational

= efficiency and service
delivery.

ESG and Sustainability
initiatives that contribute
to a better future for all
stakeholders.
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Snapshot of the Bank

Profitability
(2023 —Rs. 2.580 Tn) Profit after taxation 164.3%
Total assets
[ ] 2023-Rs.204618n.
Earnings per share (8asic) 153.5%
RS. 2 '2 3 7 Tn ¢
(2023 —Rs. 2.085 Tn)
Customer deposits
Return on assets (ROA) 119 bps
Financial Maturity
Intermediation Transformation
Return on equity (ROE) ———— 1,228 bps
Rs. 1.487 Tn.
(2023 - Rs. 1.266 Tn.)
g:lc::: Iczz:z:‘r;?sadvances to Interest margin 95 bps
[2023-3.32% |
L] L]
Over 4 million A :
Customers sset Qua 'ty
Cost of credit risk on loans and
advances -108 bps
5
4 46 1 2023 - 0.45%
(2023 - 5,201)
Employees Impaired loans (Stage 3) ratio 309 bps
2023 - 5.85%
AA-(Ika) | |
Rating Outlook Stable Impairment (Stage 3) to
Fitch Ratings Lanka Ltd. Stage 3 loans ratio ——— 2,139 bps
2023 - A(lka)
Rating Outlook Stable (2023 - 4322% |
Fi“.'h Total Impairment coverage ratio—- 16 bps
Hdl‘ 1 “gb [2023-7.05% |
1st in Market Capitalisation Open credit exposure 2,363 bps
Ranked 1st in the Bank sector on the CSE
P [2023 - 38.69% |
(]
2 CISIE ,
ST EACHANGE Bank’s Market Share
¥ v s g
Assets 57 bps
Best Bank in Sri Lanka 2024 () - 13.16%
For the 22nd time [2023-1265% ‘
Global Finance Magazine Advances 173 bps
2024 (*) - 13.22%
; (2023 - 11.49% |
Deposits 36 bps
Strongest Bank in Sri Lanka 2024 () - 12.90%
TAB Global 1000 Strength Index 2024, (2023 - 1254% ‘
Commercial Bank surpasses statAe Profit after tax 1 ’] 86 bps
banks and stands as the only private — .
bank to make to the list

The Asian Banker magazine

THE ASIAN BANKER

., S W NN A T PN ST R

* As at September 30, 2024 (Source: CBSL)
** Extrapolated based on 3rd quarter 2024 (Source: CBSL)

Stability
Tier 1 ratio
Minimum requirement — 10%)
2024 - 14.227%

[2023 - 11.442% |

278 bps

Total capital ratio

Minimum requirement — 14%)
2024 - 18.142%

[2023-15.151% |

299 bps

Net stable funding ratio -641 bps

Minimum Requirement — 100%)
2024 - 187.29%
[2023-193.70%

169 bps

Leverage ratio
Minimum requirement - 3%)
2024 - 6.79%

[2023-5.10% |

Liquidity

Liquidity coverage ratio ——— 3,/59 bps
Rupee)

Minimum requirement — 100%)

2024 - 529.20%

[2023-491.61% |

Liquidity coverage ratio -6,191 bps
All currencies)

Minimum requirement — 100%)

2024 - 454.36%

[2023-516.27%

CASA ratio

[2023 -39.23% \

(Minimum requirement — 100%)

2024 - 66.48%

(2023 - 60.70% |

ordinary share (NAV) —————— 4.5%

2024 - Rs. 170.94
[2023 - Rs. 163.55 |

85.5%

Market capitalisation

2024 - Rs. 230 Bn.
2023 - Rs. 124 Bn.

———0.27 times

Price-to-book value

2024 - 0.85 times
2023 - 0.58 times

Dividend yield -
Ordinary voting shares

2024 - 6.56%
[2023-6.81%

——-25 bps
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Financial highlights

Table - 02
[ crowr N s
2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
(%) (%)
Results for the year (Rs. Bn.)
Gross income 274.976 341.566 (19.50) 267.332 335.770 (20.38)
Operating profit before taxes on financial services 117.515 38.885 202.21 115.138 36.842 212.52
Taxes on financial services 19.707 4.961 297.20 19.604 4.961 295.13
Profit before taxation (PBT) 97.808 33.927 188.29 95.535 31.880 199.67
Income tax expense 42.122 12.027 250.22 41.461 11.419 263.08
Profit after tax (PAT) 55.686 21.900 154.28 54.074 20.461 164.28
Gross dividends 15.298 8.542 79.09 15.298 8.542 79.09
Position at the year end (Rs. Bn.)
Shareholders’ funds 281.129 220471 27.51 275.262 214.931 28.07
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — due to depositors 2,306.079 2,147.907 7.36 2,236.567 2,085.046 7.27
Financial assets at amortised cost — loans and advances to other customers (Gross) 1,525.507 1,295.751 17.73 1,486.901 1,265.559 17.49
Total assets 2,875.993 2,655.612 8.30 2,789.780 2,580.328 8.12
Information per Ordinary Share (Rs.)
Earnings (Basic) 38.44 15.37 150.10 37.74 14.89 153.46
Earnings (Diluted) 3838 15.36 149.87 37.69 14.88 153.29
Dividends - Cash - - - 7.50 4.50 66.67
Dividends - Shares = = - 2.00 2.00 -
Net assets value 174.58 167.77 4.06 170.94 163.55 4.52
Market value at the year end - Voting N/A N/A - 144.75 95.50 51.57
Market value at the year end — Non-voting N/A N/A - 115.50 80.40 43.66
Key financial ratios
Return on average assets (ROA) — After tax (%) 2.01 0.85 1.16 2.01 0.82 1.19
Return on average shareholders’ funds (ROE) - After tax (%) 22.20 10.20 12.00 22.06 9.78 12.28
Financial intermediation margin (%) N/A N/A 9.96 13.41 (3.45)
Total impairment provision as a % of gross loans and advances (%) 6.85 7.01 (0.16) 6.89 7.05 (0.16)
Cost of credit risk on loans and advances (%) 1.52 0.48 1.04 1.53 0.45 1.08
Impaired loans (Stage 3) ratio (%) - - - 2.76 5.85 (3.09)
Impairment (Stage 3) to stage 3 loans ratio (%) - - - 64.61 43.22 21.39
Price earnings - ordinary voting shares — (times) N/A N/A - 3.84 6.41 (2.58)
Dividend yield - ordinary voting shares (%) N/A N/A - 6.56 6.81 (0.25)
Dividend cover on ordinary shares (times) N/A N/A - 3.97 2.29 1.68
Statutory ratios
Capital adequacy ratios (under Basel Ill) (%)
Common equity tier | capital ratio (minimum requirement — 8.500%) 13.968 11.513 2.455 14.227 11.442 2.785
Tier | capital ratio (minimum requirement — 10.000%) 13.968 11.513 2455 14.227 11.442 2.785
Total capital ratio (minimum requirement — 14.000%) 17.653 15.090 2.563 18.142 15.151 2.991
Liquidity coverage ratio (%)
Rupee - (minimum requirement — 100%) N/A N/A - 529.20 491.61 37.59
All currency — (minimum requirement — 100%) N/A N/A - 454.36 516.27 (61.91)
Net stable funding ratio - (minimum requirement - 100%) N/A N/A - 187.29 193.70 (6.41)
Gearing ratio (%)
Leverage ratio (minimum requirement - 3%) 6.94 5.29 1.65 6.79 5.10 1.69
| 4
(*) Discontinued as per the Banking Act determination No. 01 of 2024 dated June 13, 2024
Financial goals and achievements - Bank
Financial Indicator Goal Achievement
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Return on average assets (ROA) — After Tax (%) Over 2% 2,01 0.82 1.05 1.28 1.05
Return on average shareholders’ funds (ROE) - After Tax (%) Over 20% 22.06 9.78 12.46 14.66 11.28
Growth in gross income (%) Over 20% (20.38) 21.90 71.20 7.46 0.68
Growth in profit after tax for the year (%) Over 20% 164.28 (10.92) (2.70) 4417 (3.83)
Growth in total assets (%) Over 20% 8.12 6.37 2445 12.27 25.15
Dividend per share (DPS) (Rs.) Over Rs. 5.00 9.50 6.50 4.50 7.50 6.50
Capital adequacy ratios
Common equity Tier | capital ratio (minimum requirement — 8.500%) 2% buffer over the 14.227 11.442 11.389 11.923 13.217
Tier | capital ratio (minimum requirement — 10.000%) regulatory minimum 14.227 11.442 11.389 11.923 13.217
Total capital ratio (minimum requirement — 14.000%) requirement 18.142 15.151 14.657 15.650 16.819
| 4
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Table — 03
Sustainability Pillar  Capital/Indicator Unit of Measure 2024 2023 Relevant Strategic Imperative
W/%T Intellectual capital
E@ Brand Equity (Brand Finance) Rs. Bn. 43.600 43.600  Customer Experience and
inabl . ) Data Analytics
Sustainable Brand ranking (Brand Finance) Number 3 3
banking
Compliance with industry standards- Compliance Yes Yes  Digitisation and IT
I1SO 27001, PCI-DSS, Baseline
Security Standards
Key digital banking initiatives/products ~ New product/ Digital Service Portal Flash FAM  Customer Experience and
introduced during the year feature N Data Analytics
Host to Host Commercial Bank
LEAP GlobalLinker
New card activation through eSavings and eMoney
ComBank Digital market accounts
Enabling trilingual to “SimplePay” to facilitate
ComBank Digital digital payments,
particularly for
SME merchants
Enabling reward point “Visa Direct”and
for digital usage “MasterCard Send”
(Max Loyalty) — Industry First card-based fund transfer
facilities
Enable “Prepaid Card Topup” “Green home loan”
facility through and “Green building loan”
ComBank Digital
e-FDs opened during the year % 62 50
as a % of total FDs opened
YoY Growth in digital banking % 31 46
retail customer base
Number of existing customers Number 339,903 339,032
migrated to ComBank Digital
Total number of financial transactions Number (Mn.) 72.225 58.265
initiated through digital channels
during the year
ComBank digital customer base Number Over 1,500,000 Over 1,100,000
as at the end of the year
ComBank Digital penetration % 47 36
Social and relationship capital
Facilities subjected to ESMS Number 10,727 11,925  Growth
screening during the year Sustainability
Green financing portfolio Rs. Bn. 39 18  Customer Experience and
Data Analytics
Green Financing Facilities disbursed Number 2,168 649
during the year
Contribution of Green finance portfolio
for reduction of CO, emissions to the
atmosphere CO, Tonnes 292,331 233,918
Adoption of IFC Performance Standards ~ Complied with Yes Yes
Bank’s position as a lender to the SMEs Ministry of Largest SME lender Largest SME lender
Finance Data in 2023 in 2022
MSME participants in financial literacy Total Number 16,612 14,907
programmes conducted by the Bank (accumulated
since 2011)
Members in ComBank BIZ Club Total Number 6,273 5,678
Participants in Capacity-building Total Number 715 567

programmes for women entrepreneurs
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Sustainability Pillar  Capital/Indicator Unit of Measure 2024 2023 Impacted Outcome
S8 Human Capital
23 P
[@ Employment opportunities created
Responsible at the end of the year Number 5,461 5201 Talent
organisation New recruits during the year Number 700 589
Investment in training and development
during the year Rs. Mn. 168.690 88.620
Total training hours during the year Hours 193,276 180,313
Number of employees serving for >20 years ~ Number 1,056 1,041
Natural capital
Paper recycled Kgs 150,110 286,240  Sustainability
Branches connected with solar
power generation Number 89 82
Power generated through renewable sources % 17.32 16.09
Total carbon footprint
Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions CO, Tonnes Pending 868
Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions CO, Tonnes Pending 5,586
@ Natural capital
< Reforestation Area Planted 88,000 trees under 12,000 trees planted under  Sustainability
Community the “100,000 Trees for the “100,000 Trees for
engagement Tomorrow” initiative Tomorrow” initiative
Mangrove restoration 12,000 mangrove plants Scientific research
planted across 1.25 km in publication/maintenance
Kathduwa Island  and eco-tourism promotion
Sea turtles released to date Number Over 85,000 Over 72,000
Social and relationship capital
IT labs established in rural schools at the Sustainability
end of the year Total Number 362 334

Number of students benefitted
from IT labs with the end of the year

Total Number

approximately 320,000

approximately 300,000

STEM classrooms in schools at the end
of the year

Total Number

176

170

Students benefitted from STEM classrooms
at the end of the year

Total Number

approximately 170,000

approximately 160,000

Math labs established in rural schools at the

end of the year Total Number 123 122
Supported the Vocational Training Authority

to enroll students from Government schools ~ Number of

and providing jobs at the end of the year jobs provided Over 360 Over 340
Donation of critical medical equipment Value and

and infrastructure facilities to Government Number of Rs. 16.0 Mn. and
hospitals hospitals Rs. 1.7 Mn. eight hospitals
Initiatives to support social enterprise N/A collaboration with Collaboration with IFC

“Janarukula Women Society”
to support women-led
cashew processing initiatives
in rural Sri Lanka

and Sarvodaya to support
establishing a Childcare
Centre in Batticaloa

Collaboration with UNDP to
donate a food dehydrating
machine to Hettipola Village
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Commitment to Transparency, Accountability,
Governance, and Sustainability

As part of our ongoing commitment to stakeholder trust and ethical governance, we have introduced various initiatives aimed at enhancing
transparency, accountability, governance and sustainability. These efforts, which included enhanced disclosure practices, robust internal
controls and proactive stakeholder engagements, are elaborated in this report.

Transparency Accountability
The Bank ensures full disclosure and openness in its financial reporting, The Bank upholds responsibility and ownership in decision-making
operational policies, and stakeholder communication. and performance.
1. Integrated reporting approach: The Bank adopts the International 1. Board oversight and accountability: The Board of Directors is
<IR> Framework, ensuring clear, concise, and transparent disclosure directly accountable for strategic decisions, ensuring compliance
of both financial and non-financial performance. with regulatory requirements and corporate governance best
2. Comprehensive financial disclosures: Compliance with SLFRS/LKAS practices.
ensures accurate and fair financial reporting. Regular updates and 2. Independent audit and risk committees: The Board Audit
disclosures enhance stakeholder trust. Committee and the Board Integrated Risk Management Committee

provide independent oversight of financial reporting, risk

3. Stakeholder communication and engagement: Regular publication
management, and internal controls.

of investor presentations, press releases, and reports ensures that

shareholders, customers, and regulators remain informed. 3. MD/CEO and Senior Management responsibility: The MD/CEO and
4. Annual independent audits: The Bank undergoes independent Senior Leadership team are responsible for strategy execution and

audits by Messrs KPMG, ensuring transparent validation of financial operational performance, ensuring measurable accountability.

and sustainability performance. 4, Performance-based executive compensation: The Remuneration

Committee ensures that executive compensation is linked to

5. Proactive disclosure of ESG performance: The Bank voluntarily
performance metrics, fostering accountability at all levels.

reports on environmental, social, and governance (ESG)
performance, ensuring clear communication of its sustainability 5. Transparent procurement and supplier evaluation: The Bank has
initiatives. fair and accountable procurement processes, including supplier
screening based on ESG criteria.

6. Access to digital reports: The Bank provides a
comprehensive, Al-powered interactive online
report, allowing stakeholders to navigate financial
data and corporate performance transparently.

6. Compliance with regulatory directives: The Bank
aligns with CBSL, SEC, and CSE directives, ensuring
that all financial and operational processes meet
legal compliance and accountability standards.

Sustainability Governance

The Bank is committed to long-term sustainability
through environmental, social, and financial
initiatives.

The Bank maintains a strong governance structure
ensuring compliance, ethics, and risk management.

1. Well-defined Board governance structure:
The Bank’s Board is structured to include

1. First carbon-neutral bank in Sri Lanka: The Bank

remains the first fully carbon-neutral financial independent non-executive directors who provide
institution in Sri Lanka, reducing its environmental footprint oversight and strategic direction.
through sustainable banking operations. 2. Adoption of best practice on corporate governance: Compliance

2. Integration of ESG principles into banking operations: Sustainability with the CBSL's Banking Act Directions, Code of Best Practices
is embedded in the Bank’s business model, ensuring responsible on Corporate Governance etc. ensures a robust governance
lending, social inclusion, and ethical investment practices. framework.

3. Sustainable finance and green banking initiatives: The Bank has 3. Strong risk management and compliance framework: The Bank has
launched green lending products and renewable energy financing a well-structured risk governance model, ensuring that all financial
solutions to support sustainability-focused businesses. and operational risks are systematically identified, assessed, and

4. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Initiatives: The CSR Trust mitigated.
invests in education, healthcare, and community development, 4. Regular Board and Committee meetings: The Board holds regular
ensuring long-term social sustainability. meetings with dedicated committees on audit, risk management,

5. Climate risk assessment and carbon footprint monitoring: The compliance, remuneration, and sustainability.

Bank actively monitors its climate impact, aligning with the IFRS S2 5. Ethical governance and Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
Climate-Related Disclosures Framework. oversight: The Bank integrates CSR governance into its strategic

decision-making to align with stakeholder expectations and ethical

6. Digital banking for a paperless future: Initiatives such as ComBank
banking standards.

Digital, Al-powered chatbots, and mobile banking solutions
contribute to reduced paper usage and a sustainable digital 6. Independent external assurance on governance practices: Messrs

transformation. KPMG provides independent assurance on corporate governance,
ensuring that the Bank’s governance structure meets international
standards.
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Our journey over 100 years

1920 - 1979 g

1920

e Eastern Bank Ltd. (EBL)
opens a Branch in Chatham
Street

1957

® EBL was acquired by
Chartered Bank

1969

® Commercial Bank of Ceylon
Ltd. (CBC), incorporated
with EBL holding a 40%
stake

1971

® Business of EBL was
completely integrated with
Chartered Bank

1972

¢ First two branches opened
in Galewela and Matale

1973

e CBCacquired Galle, Jaffna
and Kandy branches of
Mercantile Bank Ltd.

1979

* Offshore Banking Centre
formed

1980 - 1998 g

1980

® Commercial Development
Company (CDC) formed
to construct Head Office
Building for CBC with 40%
equity participation

1984

¢ Head Office moved to new
premises at No. 21, Sir Razik
Fareed Mawatha, (formerly
Bristol Street), Colombo 01

1987

® EBL changed its name to
Standard Chartered (UK)
Holdings Ltd.

1990

¢ Introduced ATM facilities to
customers

1993

¢ Introduced core banking
software-International
Comprehensive Banking
System (ICBS)

1996

* Increased shareholding in
CDC to 94.5% through a
share swap

1997

¢ Standard Chartered Bank
sold its 40% stake in the
Bank

1998
o First 365 Day Branch opened
in Colombo 07

¢ All branches linked to ICBS
(except Jaffna)

T e T T
i | sl

20002012 R
2000

¢ Launched Internet Banking

2001

¢ Opened the 100th branch at
Kaduruwela

2003

® Acquired operations of
Crédit Agricole Indosuez in
Bangladesh

2005

® Raised USD 65 Mn.
syndicated loan, becoming
the 1st non-sovereign
corporate in Sri Lanka to
source external funding

2006

® |ssued USD 10 Mn.
bond, becoming the first
indigenous bank to do so

2008

e First Sri Lankan bank to be
ranked among the Top 1,000
Banks in the World

2009

e First Sri Lankan Bank to be
certified CMMi

2011

® Commenced “Sharia”
compliant Islamic Banking

¢ Opened 200th branch in
Kataragama

® Opened an exclusive “Elite”
Branch at Colombo 07 for
high net worth customers

® Reached milestone

500th ATM located at the
Maradana railway station

2012

® Raised USD 65 Mn., from
the International Finance
Corporation (IFC)

® Launched an exclusive
Savings Account for Women
named “Anagi”

A

2013 -2018 K

2013

® Opened “24-Hour
Automated Banking Centre”
at Ward Place

® Raised a 10-year
subordinated debt of
USD 75 Mn. from IFC

2014

® Bank acquired 100% stake of
Indra Finance Ltd.

® Became the first Sri Lankan
Bank to be granted a
license by the Central Bank
of Myanmar to operate a
Representative Office

2015

* Indra Finance, a fully-owned
subsidiary of CBC, renamed
Serendib Finance Ltd.

2016

® Opened Commercial Bank
of Maldives Private Limited,
2nd foreign subsidiary with
a 55% stake

¢ The Bank became a Trillion
Rupee Asset company

2017

e Commercial Bank of
Maldives opened its second
branch in Hulhumalé

® CBC Myanmar Microfinance
Company Limited., was
established as the second
fully-owned subsidiary of
CBC outside Sri Lanka in Nay
Pyi Taw, Myanmar

2018

® Launched the country’s first
fully-automated cheque
deposit machine at City
Office Branch in York Street
Colombo

¢ Launched UnionPay cards
by a bank in Sri Lanka for
the first time, making
Sri Lanka the 51st country
in the world to issue
UnionPay cards

® Introduced Flash Digital
Bank Account
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2019 - 2024 frg

2019 2021 2023 2024
¢ The Bank enabled “Visa o

® One of the leading mobile
payment solutions in China,
“WeChat Pay” acceptance
launched in Sri Lanka for
the first time by CBC with
a partnership between
Tenpay Payment Technology
Ltd.

¢ Became PCI-DSS (Payment
Card Industry Data Security
Standard) certified

® “Flash”becomes Sri Lanka’s
first multilingual Digital
Banking App

¢ Launched ComBank Q+
Sri Lanka's first QR based
payment app under
LANKAQR

¢ Enabled Dynamic Currency
Conversion at ATMs for
foreign Visa Cards

e Serendib Finance Ltd., a
fully-owned subsidiary of
CBC, was renamed CBC
Finance Ltd.

» Deposits surpassed Rs. 1 Tn.
mark

2020

¢ Celebrated 100 years of
banking in Sri Lanka with a
series of events including
a staff gathering of
unprecedented scale

¢ Launched“ComBank Digital”
powered by Fiserv, the
US-based global provider of
financial services technology

® Commenced a project to
donate smart STEM classes
to 100 schools to mark the
Bank's centenary

® Became Sri Lanka’s first
carbon-neutral bank

¢ UK’s CDC Group commits
USD 50 Mn. to bolster SME
lending and climate projects

e First private sector bank
to achieve the feat of Loan
book surpassing Rs. 1 Tn.,,
joining Assets and Deposits

* Named once again among
global giants in banking,
becoming the only
Sri Lankan bank to be
ranked in the “Top 1000
World Banks”, for the 11th
consecutive year

2022

¢ Introduced breakthrough
“Tap to Phone” payments
acceptance

¢ Under the latest
environment-linked
commitment, the Bank
undertook to reforest
a 100-hectare swath of
degraded habitat belonging
to the Kandegama forest in
the Dimbulagala range of
the Polonnaruwa District

® Became the only Bank in
Sri Lanka to win National
Quality Award from
Sri Lanka Standards
Institution (SLSI)

® Won 50 international awards
including the Best Bank in
Sri Lanka - Bank of the Year
awards from the Banker - UK

Direct” and “Mastercard
Send’, the card-based fund
transfer facilities for the first
time in Sri Lanka

» Launched a national
credit and debit card with
international acceptance in
collaboration with LankaPay.
This is the first launch of
LankaPay Credit Cards in
Sri Lanka and the first
time five variants of
LankaPay cards

» Bank launched two
platforms to link local
businesses to global
markets, “Commercial Bank
LEAP’, in collaboration with
the International Finance
Corporation (IFC) and
the other independently
developed “Trade Club”

¢ The omni-channel digital

banking platform “ComBank
Digital” reached the
milestone of one million
registered users

» Embarked on an ambitious
nationwide tree planting
campaign titled “Trees
for Tomorrow”, to plant
100,000 trees across
Sri Lanka in three years,
to help achieve country’s
self-defined national climate
pledges under the UN Paris
Agreement

» The AP licence (Authorised
Person License) was
presented to the Bank by
the Colombo Port City
Economic Commission,
paving the way for the
Bank to operate within
and from the precincts
of the Colombo Port City,
offering banking services
to investors as well as
customers

Unveiled evolved logo,
symbolising commitment to
sustainability encompassing
diversity, inclusivity, good
governance, transparency,
social equity, accountability
and eco-friendly banking
solutions

» Opened the first “DigiZone”

experience centre -

a purpose-designed

space for customers to

be introduced to, and
experience the convenience
and functionality of the
Bank’s comprehensive
digital banking offering at
Wellawatte branch

» Bank’s Debenture Issue,

largest ever by a private
sector bank oversubscribed
on opening day, raising

Rs. 20 Bn.

» Became the first Sri Lankan

Bank to join PCAF - the
global Partnership for
Carbon Accounting
Financials

» Completed the largest

rights issue to date by a
bank in Sri Lanka, raising
Rs. 22.54 Bn. to increase
the Tier | and total capital
of the Bank

Became the first bank in
Sri Lanka to receive
Corporate Finance Advisor
licence from SEC

Successfully marked the
completion of 100,000 trees
project with pledge to plant
another 100,000
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Local subsidiaries
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dl» cBC FINANCE

A Fully Owned Subsidiary of Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

CORMEROE. FAREE
i

Commercial CBCTech CBC Finance Commercial Insurance
Development Company PLC Solutions Ltd. Limited Brokers (Pvt) Ltd.
Incorporated on March 14, 1980 February 17,2003 February 18, 1987 August 17, 1987
in Sri Lanka in Sri Lanka in Sri Lanka in Sri Lanka

Bank’s holding

@ 0%

@ o

@ oo

& 60%

Principal business
activities

Property development and

provision of other utility
services

Providing Information &

Communication Technology

(ICT) related products,
services and solutions to

Granting of leasing & hire

purchase facilities, mortgage

loans and other loan

facilities. Accepting public

Insurance Brokering

Colombo 01.

corporate sector deposits
Business address 4th Floor, “Commercial House”, No. 187, No. 347,
No. 8-4/2, No. 21, Sir Razik Fareed Katugastota Road, Dr Colvin R De Silva
York Arcade Building, Mawatha, Colombo 01. Kandy. Mawatha,
Leyden Bastian Road, Colombo 02.

Contact numbers

+94 11 244 7300

+94 11 257 4417

+94 81 220 0272
+94 81 221 3498

+94 11 760 0600

Board of Directors

Chairman

A L Gooneratne

R Senanayake

S Muhseen

M P Jayawardena

Managing Director/
Chief Executive Officer

P KA S K Gunawardhana

G A JCSFernando

P Dodangoda

Chief Executive Officer

K Basnayake *

N P Gunatunge *

M G N Dharmasiri *

Director S CU Manatunge K D N Buddhipala S M S C Jayasuriya D M D KThilakaratne
Director U I STillakawardana K'S A Gamage DMD S S Bandara U I STillakawardana
Director DrR A Attalage N | Senaratna L H Munasinghe W M N S KWeerapana
Director P L P Withana M P Dharmasiri D J D P Hettiarachchi
Director N Abeysuriya S C De S Wickremasekera L W P Indrajith
Director
Director
Company Secretary L W P Indrajith M P Dharmasiri Ms H D U O Gunasekara MsY A Kularathna
(*) Not a Board Member
(**) Resigned w.e.f. December 31, 2024
Summary of financial information
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn.
Total assets 4,909.396 4,326.289 930.297 882.140 16,860.915 12,457.318 834.133 815.258
Additions to property,
plant and equipment 0.571 0.045 218274 7.162 106.855 117.057 0.539 1.729
Total liabilities 786.381 704.817 459.044 470.910 13,801.332 9,481.425 202.454 198.906
Net assets 4,123.015 3,621.471 471.253 411.230 3,059.583 2,975.893 631.679 616.351
Total revenue 708.259 687.511 1,168.502 812.547 2,661.367 1,991.470 220.080 172.236
Profit/(loss) before tax 829.055 461.977 102.105 228.546 157.664 (320.605) 66.587 65.525
Profit/(loss) after tax 582.623 294.060 62.358 173.573 81.541 (225.178) 45.192 43.800
Dividend per share (Rs.) 7.00 7.00 - 600.00 - - 50.00 25.00
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Commercial Bank of
Maldives Private Limited

e e P
L | Roartsmandn

CBC Myanmar Microfinance
Company Limited

August 8, 1990 March 24, 2015 April 4,2017 Incorporated on
in Sri Lanka in Maldives in Myanmar
‘ Bank’s holding
22.92% 55% 100%
Venture Capital Financing ~ Banking Microfinancing Principal business

activities

No. 108 A, 2/1, H. Filigasdhoshuge, No. 15, Business address
Maya Avenue, Ameer Ahmed Magu, Office Street,
Colombo 06. K. Male 20066, Maldives. Ward 4, Lewe Township,
Nay Pyi Taw,
Myanmar.
+94 11 250 7605 +96 0333 2668 +95 67 80 30566 Contact numbers

+94 11 250 7606

Board of Directors

M J C Amarasuriya Ahmed Nazeer K G D D Dheerasinghe **  Chairman
E B Sooriyaarachchi W D A Rodrigo Managing Director/
Chief Executive Officer
A HM Riyaz * Chief Executive Officer

Deshamanya S E Captain

S CU Manatunge

S Prabagar **

Director
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J D Peiris S Prabagar D J D P Hettiarachchi Director
J B Abu Baker U I STillakawardana G Sivasubramaniam Director
W Arambage Dr Ibrahim Vishan Director
M H Wijewaradene Ms Fareeha Shareef Director
Ms Aishath Zahira Director
J A DJCNanayakkara Director
Mrs R R Dunuwille Ms Aminath Nashadil W D A Rodrigo Company Secretary
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn. Rs. Mn.
226.766 228.063 74,531.037 68,306.425 591.917 717423  Total assets
Additions to property,
0.540 0.042 92.425 81.378 24.325 18455 plant and equipment
6.902 8.558 65,120.648 59,267.392 406.323 370.828 Total liabilities
219.864 219.505 9,410.389 9,039.033 185.594 346.595 Net assets
28416 49.952 4,598.108 4,057.234 117.902 156.575  Total revenue
(2.008) 15.248 1,703.207 2,170.599 (4.198) (24.299)  Profit/(loss) before tax
(2.008) 15.248 1,275.633 1,658.421 2.308 (24.022)  Profit/(loss) after tax
= - = - = - Dividend per share (Rs.)
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Despite formidable challenges,
Commercial Bank emerged
stronger, leveraging its financial
stewardship, operational resilience,
and customer-centric approach

to reinforce its leadership in the

banking se

Hear the Chairman’s
perspective

Navigating challenges with
strength and vision

As we reflect on 2024, it is with immense
pride that | acknowledge the journey we
have undertaken - one marked by resilience,
strategic foresight, and an unwavering
commitment to our stakeholders. Building
on the solid foundation we laid in 2023,
Commercial Bank has not only reinforced

its leadership position but has continued

to drive sustainable growth, digital
transformation, and financial stability amidst
evolving challenges.

The year 2024 will be remembered as
one of complex global economic dynamics
and domestic recalibration. Globally, while
early indications pointed to a gradual
recovery, persistent geopolitical tensions,
inflationary pressures, and financial market
volatility created uncertainties for businesses
and economies worldwide. The effects of

these global forces cascaded into emerging
markets, including Sri Lanka, Bangladesh, and
the Maldives, the key operating markets of
Commercial Bank.

At home, Sri Lanka continued on the
path of stabilization under an IMF-advised
macroeconomic framework. The country
underwent a crucial debt restructuring
process, which, while essential for long-term
economic stability, imposed significant
losses on financial institutions, including
the banking sector. The macroeconomic
challenges were further amplified by the
impact of two major national elections, a
volatile foreign exchange market, skilled
labour migration, and a constrained credit
environment. Meanwhile, in Bangladesh
and the Maldives, transformative political
changes and economic headwinds created a
volatile operating environment, exacerbating
financial instability, dampening credit
demand, and elevating credit risk exposure.

Despite these formidable challenges,
Commercial Bank emerged stronger,
leveraging its financial stewardship,
operational resilience, and customer-centric
approach. Our ability to navigate a highly
volatile landscape underscores the strength
of our leadership, the agility of our business
model, and our deep-rooted commitment to
national and regional economic progress.

A year of strength and stability

The Bank’s response to the challenges of 2024
was rooted in its legacy of financial discipline
and forward-thinking strategy. While
macroeconomic indicators showed signs of
stability, the reality for financial institutions,
including our Bank, was an exceptionally
demanding operating environment. Yet,
recognising that access to capital is a
cornerstone of economic resilience, we
prioritized initiatives to restore business
confidence, stabilize key industries, and
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drive sustainable growth. Even amidst the
complexities of sovereign debt restructuring,
we remained steadfast in our commitment
to empowering businesses and individuals,
ensuring uninterrupted access to credit
precisely when it was needed most. Our
steadfast commitment to SMEs continued
unabated, reinforcing our position as Sri
Lanka’s largest SME lender for the fourth
consecutive year.

Throughout the year, we upheld our
responsibility as Sri Lanka’s only higher-
tier private-sector Domestic Systemically
Important Bank (D-SIB), by being a
cornerstone in national economic recovery.
Despite the challenges, we stood by our
customers, fueling business revival and
economic progress, just as we have done
for decades. We strengthened our support
structures for corporate and personal
banking customers, providing liquidity,
financing solutions, and restructuring
assistance, where needed. Our support
extended beyond lending, as we intensified
our efforts to educate and empower
entrepreneurs, strengthening their resilience
through financial literacy programs and
advisory support.

Our international operations, particularly
in Bangladesh and the Maldives, played a
crucial role in diversifying our earnings and
balance sheet exposure. Despite political and
economic uncertainties in these regions, our
overseas operations contributed over 20%
to the Group’s pre-tax profits and accounted
for over 15% of total assets, reinforcing our
position as a leading regional banking force.

A record year of
performance and progress

The power of our business model was
reflected in our financial results, as we
delivered the highest profits in the Bank's
history. Our unwavering focus on efficiency,
digital transformation, and customer-centric
innovation allowed us to strengthen our
market position and increase our market
share. The Bank’s total assets grew by 8.12%
year-on-year, reaching Rs. 2.79 Tn., while
our deposit base expanded by 7.27% to

Rs. 2.24 Tn., underpinned by the industry-
leading CASA ratio in the banking sector

at 38.07%.

Our proactive risk management strategy
led to a substantial improvement in asset
quality, with Stage 3 impairment coverage
rising to 64.61% from 43.22% in 2023 and
the impaired loans (Stage 3) ratio improving
to 2.76% by end-2024, marking a significant
step in strengthening our risk resilience.

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Sustaining our strategic momentum

As we move forward, we continue to build
upon the strong foundations laid over the
years, reinforcing key strategic priorities and
principles that have consistently guided

our progress. With renewed commitment,
we will accelerate these efforts, consistently
delivering sustainable growth, innovation,
and value creation for all stakeholders.

Digital first: accelerating
digital transformation

The financial services industry is undergoing
a rapid digital transformation, and
Commercial Bank is at the forefront of

this revolution. Our “Digital First” strategy

is driving innovation across all facets of
banking, from customer experience to risk
management and operational efficiency.
As part of our efforts to encourage digital
adoption, we became the first bank in

Sri Lanka to introduce a loyalty program for
digital transactions, rewarding customers
for embracing the convenience of digital
banking. Over the past year, we made
significant strides in expanding our digital
banking services, evidenced by a 31%
year-on-year growth in digital customers
and a sharp increase in transactions routed
through our digital platforms.

We continue to make substantial
investments in technology, particularly in
artificial intelligence (Al), predictive analytics,
and automation. Al-driven solutions are
already enhancing our risk assessment
capabilities, improving customer service
through intelligent chatbots, and optimising
credit decision-making processes. We will
continue to deepen our digital capabilities,
ensuring that our banking solutions remain
seamless, secure, and accessible to all
customer segments.

Sustainability: a core principle in
value creation

Our commitment to sustainable finance

and responsible banking remains stronger
than ever. In 2024, we accelerated our green
financing initiatives, recording an impressive
117% year-on-year growth in our green
financing portfolio. Our focus remains on
supporting businesses and individuals in
transitioning towards renewable energy,
sustainable agriculture, and carbon
reduction. These initiatives are in line with
industry best practices of the United Nations
Principle for Responsible Banking and
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
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Beyond financial services, we continue
to make meaningful contributions to
environmental conservation and community
development. Our STEM education initiative
has made a tangible impact, with 176 smart
classrooms and 362 IT labs established
across the country to date, equipping young
minds with the skills needed for a digital
future. Additionally, our financial inclusion
efforts have brought banking services to
underserved communities, ensuring that
economic opportunities are accessible to
all. As we move forward, sustainability will
remain integral to our decision-making,
ensuring that our growth is not just
profitable, but also responsible and impactful.

Customer-centric banking

The success of Commercial Bank has always
been rooted in our ability to place customers
at the center of everything we do. In 2024,
we reinforced our commitment to enhancing
customer experience through data-driven
personalization, seamless digital integrations,
and real-time feedback mechanisms.

The establishment of our Customer
Experience Steering Committee has enabled
us to take a structured approach to improving
service quality across all touchpoints.

We have used data analytics and Al to
enhance our understanding of customer
journeys, allowing us to tailor products and
services to meet and exceed customers’
expectations. This is coupled with extensive
staff training programs to deliver a customer
centric mindset and higher service quality.
We will continue to refine and enhance our
customer experience strategy, ensuring that
every interaction with Commercial Bank
reflects our commitment to excellence and a
rewarding experience.

Building a fortress balance sheet

The true resilience of a financial institution

is tested in times of uncertainty, and our
unwavering commitment to financial
strength has positioned us as a pillar of
stability in a volatile economic landscape.

In 2024, we took decisive measures to fortify
our balance sheet, raising Rs. 42.54 Bn. in
fresh capital to reinforce both our Tier |

and Tier |l capital positions. These strategic
capital enhancements not only strengthened
our financial foundation but also provided
the agility to navigate evolving risks and
capitalise on emerging opportunities.

Our approach remains focused on
maintaining strong liquidity buffers,
optimising risk-adjusted returns, and steadily
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enhancing our provision coverage to align
with the highest industry standards -
safeguarding the Bank'’s long-term
sustainability while continuing to support our
customers and stakeholders with confidence.

A dynamic leadership and an
agile workforce

Behind every milestone we achieve is a team
of dedicated professionals who drive our
success. The Board has placed a constant
emphasis on nurturing leadership excellence,
encouraging innovation, and fostering a
culture of integrity and professionalism.

To equip our employees with future-ready
skills, we invested heavily in training, talent
development, and leadership succession
planning. From Al and digital transformation
training to leadership programs for
high-potential employees, we are ensuring
that our people are equipped to thrive in an
evolving banking landscape.

As we continue to foster a culture of
innovation, integrity, and excellence,
we recognize that our greatest strength lies in
the agility and adaptability of our team.
In a rapidly evolving banking landscape,
our commitment to nurturing talent remains
unwavering. We firmly believe that the
ability to learn, unlearn, and innovate is
fundamental to sustaining our competitive
edge and driving future success.

Creating value for stakeholders

As we move forward, we do so with purpose,
confidence and an unrelenting commitment
to excellence. We remain steadfast in our
mission to empower progress, fuel economic
resilience, and redefine the future of banking.
Together, we will continue to rise, adapt, and
lead - shaping a stronger, more sustainable
future for Sri Lanka and beyond. The journey
ahead is one of promise, and we invite all
our stakeholders to walk this path with us

as we build a legacy of strength, trust, and
enduring success.

Acknowledgements

The strength of Commercial Bank lies in the
unwavering support of all our stakeholders.

| would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude
to our Board of Directors for their strategic
guidance and vision. | sincerely thank

Prof A KW Jayawardane for his dedicated
nine-year tenure on the Board, including

his leadership as Chairman until April 21,
2024, quiding the Bank through challenging
times. On behalf of the Board, | take this
opportunity to warmly welcome MrPY S
Perera, who joined the Board during the year.
A distinguished Chartered Accountant,

Mr Perera brings a wealth of expertise

for driving financial excellence. A special
appreciation goes to Mr Sanath Manatunge,
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer, for
his exemplary leadership in steering the Bank
through an intricate financial landscape.

We also acknowledge the invaluable
support of the Governing Board and officials
of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, whose
regulatory guidance has been instrumental in
ensuring financial stability. To our investors,
customers, and all other stakeholders,
thank you for your trust and confidence in
Commercial Bank. Above all, | extend my
heartfelt appreciation to the dedicated
employees of Commercial Bank. Your
resilience, hard work, and passion are the
driving force behind our achievements.

As we look ahead to 2025 and beyond,
we remain steadfast in our mission to build
Sri Lanka'’s premier banking franchise. With a
compelling vision, innovative strategies, and
a deep commitment to sustainability, we will
continue to deliver increasing value to all
those we serve. Together, let us build a future
of enduring success, innovation, and growth.

Sharhan Muhseen
Chairman

February 28, 2025
Colombo
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A year of stability,
resurgence, and transformation

As we reflect on the year 2024, it is evident
that this has been a defining period for
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC - a year of
resilience, resurgence, and transformation
that has positioned us for long-term
sustainable growth. We successfully
navigated an evolving financial landscape,
balancing the challenges of a complex
operating environment while reinforcing our
position as Sri Lanka’s most stable, strongest,
and trusted financial institution.

For nearly 105 years, Commercial Bank
has remained a steadfast pillar of strength,
adapting to economic cycles, political
shifts, and global disruptions with agility
and foresight. The past few years have been
among the most challenging in our history,
with macroeconomic volatility, sovereign
debt restructuring, and global uncertainties

Navigating economic volatility with
resilience, we accelerated digital
banking, empowered businesses, and
advanced su Ice —

testing our resilience. Yet, through it all,

we remained unwavering in our mission —
placing the needs of our customers,
shareholders, employees, and communities at
the center of our strategy.

Our journey through 2024 has been
aptly captured by the tagline of this report,
“In Context — From Turbulence Towards
Tranquillity” Having weathered multiple
storms, we are now navigating a period of
relative stability with renewed confidence,
stronger fundamentals, and a clear vision for
the future.

Economic environment:
a foundation for growth

The global economy in 2024 was defined
by the interplay of geopolitical tensions,
monetary policy shifts, and persistent
inflationary pressures. While major

tainable fin

Explore the MD/CEO's
key highlights

economies demonstrated resilience,
tightening financial conditions and supply
chain disruptions continued to shape global
trade and investment flows. Emerging
markets, including Sri Lanka, Bangladesh,
and the Maldives, faced their own unique
challenges, requiring us to remain adaptable,
forward-thinking, and disciplined in risk
management.

In Sri Lanka, the successful completion of
sovereign debt restructuring provided much-
needed clarity to financial markets, improving
liquidity and restoring investor confidence.
Inflation moderated, interest rates declined,
and foreign exchange markets stabilized,
creating a more conducive environment
for businesses and financial institutions.
However, the restructuring also resulted in
financial losses for banks, reinforcing the
need for strong capital buffers and prudent
financial management.
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Bangladesh, meanwhile, faced political
and economic turbulence, with mass protests
leading to the formation of a transitional
government. Inflation surged into double
digits, foreign exchange reserves were
strained, and GDP growth slowed. Similarly,
the Maldives grappled with fiscal imbalances,
declining reserves, and a widening trade
deficit, exacerbated by growing external debt
concerns. Despite these macroeconomic
challenges, the Bank remained unwavering
in its commitment to supporting businesses
and individuals across all our markets,
ensuring continued credit availability,
financial inclusion, and economic stability.

A record-breaking year of
financial performance

Despite the volatile external environment,
2024 was a landmark year for Commercial
Bank, delivering record-breaking financial
results and further reinforcing our market
leadership. A significant milestone was
the successful equity capital infusion of
Rs. 22.54 Bn., through a rights issue and
the raising of Rs. 20 Bn., in Tier |l capital
via a debenture issue. These initiatives
significantly enhanced our capital adequacy,
strengthened our financial stability, and
created room for future expansion.

The Bank effectively mitigated the
impact of the Rs. 45.11 Bn., net loss
resulting from the restructuring of Sri Lanka
International Sovereign Bonds (SLISBs)
through the net reversal of Rs. 63.22 Bn.,
in impairment provisions, demonstrating its
resilience, strategic foresight, and prudent
risk management. Lending reached record
levels, with the loan book expanding
by Rs. 221.34 Bn,, reflecting the Bank’s
commitment to economic growth. Group
Net interest income surged by 36.71% to
Rs. 118.13 Bn., driven by effective balance
sheet management and a strong CASA base.
The total tax contribution tripled to
Rs. 61.83 Bn., underscoring our commitment
to national fiscal stability. Profit before taxes
rose to Rs. 97.81 Bn., while profit after taxes
reached Rs. 55.69 Bn., marking a year of
remarkable financial strength and strategic
growth. In terms of profitability, Return on
Assets and Return on Equity significantly
improved to 2.01% and 22.20% respectively for
2024 compared to 0.85% and 10.20% in 2023.

To provide a clearer perspective on the
Bank’s core financial performance, a detailed
financial review based on a normalised
income statement, which discounts the
impact of the accounting treatment for
SLISBs, is given in the Financial Review
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on page 152. This adjusted analysis offers
stakeholders a comprehensive understanding
of underlying business performance,
enabling a more accurate evaluation of
revenue generation, operational efficiencies,
profitability, and long-term financial stability.

Strategic business expansion and
market leadership

Throughout 2024, the Bank continued to
reinforce its leadership across key business
segments, making strategic moves that
cemented its position as Sri Lanka’s most
resilient and customer-centric financial
institution. Our focus remained on
expanding operations, deepening customer
engagement, and creating financial solutions
that drive inclusive growth.

In the SME and MSME segments, the Bank
expanded its Agriculture and Microfinance
Units, increasing operations from 19 to
35 units, and aiming to further increase
to 100 units in the future. This expansion
enabled greater financial accessibility for
rural businesses, empowering entrepreneurs
with tailored solutions. Recognising the
crucial role of SMEs in national economic
development, the Bank introduced a
comprehensive business ecosystem initiative,
fostering better connectivity between SMEs,
suppliers, and broader market linkages.

The Bank’s commitment to the SME sector
was further demonstrated through its
continued leadership as Sri Lanka’s largest
SME lender for the fourth consecutive year.

In addition to financing, the Bank
created opportunities for SMEs to expand
their businesses through platforms such as
the SME Trade Fair 2024, which connected
small businesses with key industry players
and investors. The Bank also hosted Ran
Kethe Wap Magula, a cultural initiative
celebrating the agricultural roots of
Sri Lanka, reinforcing our deep commitment
to rural economic empowerment.

Our outstanding contributions to SME
finance were internationally recognised,

as we received 18 prestigious global awards,
further strengthening our position as a leader
in financial inclusion.

Both Corporate and Personal Banking
segments witnessed significant expansion
as well. Our Project Finance Unit doubled
its exposure, providing funding for critical
infrastructure and renewable energy projects
that will shape Sri Lanka'’s future. The Bank
also introduced innovative solutions in
supply chain financing and dealer financing,
enabling businesses to streamline their cash
flows efficiently. Moreover, the establishment
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of the Business Revival and Rehabilitation
Unit underscored our proactive approach to
supporting businesses undergoing financial
distress, offering structured support for
recovery in line with the Central Bank of

Sri Lanka’s directives.

Adopting the “Battle Card”
concept for competitive excellence

The introduction of the Battle Card

Concept revolutionised our competitive
approach, embedding a data-driven,
proactive sales culture across the Bank.

By analysing competitor movements,
customer expectations, and industry trends,
we empowered our teams with accurate
market intelligence, enabling them to deliver
tailored financial solutions with precision. This
shift from a traditional banking model to a
strategic, sales-oriented framework enhanced
our customer engagement, product offerings,
and market positioning. The initiative played
a pivotal role in expanding our wallet share

in corporate banking, SME financing, and
personal lending, while strategic automation
and operational centralisation streamlined
service delivery, making it more efficient and
customer-centric.

Transforming customer experience

With an unrelenting commitment to service
excellence, the Bank focused on enhancing
customer journeys, streamlining digital
interfaces, and embedding a customer-first
culture across all touchpoints. The Customer
Experience Steering Committee was
established to oversee service enhancements,
ensuring that the Bank consistently delivers
an unparalleled banking experience.

We introduced customer journey
mapping initiatives, refining service
interactions at branches, digital channels,
and customer contact points. These
improvements facilitated faster service
resolution, with Al-powered engagement
tools helping to predict customer needs and
offer personalised financial solutions.

The internal campaign “Service Beyond 100%"
reinforced our commitment to customer
excellence, creating a culture that prioritises
customer satisfaction above all else.

By harnessing data analytics and
Al-driven insights, the Bank was able to
increase first-time resolution rates at contact
center, providing seamless and efficient
responses to customer inquiries. These
advancements played a key role in improving
our Net Promoter Score (NPS), reaffirming our
leadership in customer experience.
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Pioneering the future of banking:
digital transformation and Al

The Bank has been a trailblazer in digital
innovation, continuously introducing
cutting-edge solutions to redefine the
banking landscape in Sri Lanka. Throughout
2024, we made remarkable progress in
Al-powered banking, automation, and
digital inclusivity.

Our ComBank Digital platform
surpassed 1.5 million users, processing over
Rs. 4 Tn., in transactions, reflecting the rapid
adoption of digital banking. We expanded
Al-powered underwriting capabilities,
allowing automated loan approvals for
home loans, personal loans, and SME credit
facilities, significantly reducing turnaround
times. Additionally, we enhanced
Host-to-Host (H2H) integration, streamlining
bulk transactions for corporate clients and
improving overall treasury management.

Our digital-first approach was further
strengthened with the launch of Sri Lanka’s
first trilingual digital banking service, making
banking services more accessible to all
segments of society. Cybersecurity remained
a top priority, with continuous investments
in fraud detection and risk mitigation
technologies, ensuring a secure and seamless
banking experience for customers.

Sustainability and ESG commitments

The Bank remained steadfast in its
commitment to sustainability, financial
inclusion, and responsible banking.
Throughout 2024, we advanced our
environmental, social, and governance (ESG)
agenda by integrating sustainability into our
core operations.

Our ongoing collaboration with the
International Finance Corporation (IFC) is
focused on developing a Climate Transition
Plan, which will align the Bank with its Net
Zero goals by 2050. This initiative remains
a key priority as we continue to refine our
sustainability strategy and integrate climate
considerations into our core banking
operations. Our 100,000 Tree Planting
Initiative was completed, reinforcing our
dedication to environmental conservation.

Financial literacy programs continued
to be a priority of our social responsibility
efforts, positively impacting over 16,000
entrepreneurs and farmers, equipping
them with the knowledge and tools needed
to manage their finances effectively. By
embedding ESG principles into our business

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

model, we continue to drive positive social
and environmental impact while ensuring
sustainable growth for all stakeholders.

Looking ahead:
vision for 2025 and beyond

As we step into 2025 and beyond, our
strategy remains anchored in regional
expansion, digital banking leadership, and
advancing sustainable finance. The Bank is
actively exploring opportunities to expand
its international presence, building on the
success of our Bangladesh operations to
enter new markets. Additionally, our focus
on Al-powered financial solutions will
continue to deepen as we enhance predictive
analytics and introduce hyper-personalised
banking services.

A key priority remains strengthening
climate finance, with a strategic focus on
green lending, renewable energy financing,
and carbon-neutral banking solutions.

In alignment with SLFRS S1 and S2, we are
gearing ourselves to systematically identify,
assess, manage and report climate-related
risks and opportunities, ensuring that our
sustainability initiatives are integrated into
our financial decision-making processes.
As we prepare to fully comply with global
sustainability disclosure standards in
2025, we are enhancing our governance
frameworks, data collection mechanisms,
and risk assessment models to provide
transparent, reliable, and decision-useful
climate-related financial disclosures.
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loyal customers and shareholders, whose
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of our success. My heartfelt gratitude goes
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teams, and employees across Sri Lanka,
Bangladesh, the Maldives, other overseas
markets as well as our Sri Lankan subsidiaries.
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inspire excellence.

To our Chairman and the other members
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external auditors, Messrs KPMG, for their
professionalism and the timely execution of
the audit.

As we embark on this new chapter, let
us remain agile, innovative, and united in
our vision. The road ahead holds immense
promise, and together, we will shape the
future of banking with resilience, innovation,
and excellence.

Innovation and purpose define our
journey. Together, we are building a future
where banking empowers, enables, and
inspires.

S CU Manatunge
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer

February 28, 2025
Colombo
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Appointed as the Chairman of the
Board of Directors in April 2024.

Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in February
2021 and served on the Board as
Deputy Chairman since March 2022.

He was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board Credit
Committee and the Board Strategy
Development Committee. He was
also the Chairman of the Board
Nominations and Governance
Committee, Board Human Resource
and Remuneration Committee,
Board Investments Committee and
the Board Technology Committee.

Skills and experience:

Mr Muhseen is a senior investment
banker with extensive experience in
mergers and acquisitions, corporate
finance, and capital markets. He has
held senior roles, collaborating with
company boards and leadership
teams of financial institutions across
Asia to drive their strategic corporate
agendas. He is credited with leading
research reports on banking sector
efficiency, currency depreciation,
and budget deficits during his tenure
as Head of Sri Lanka Banking Sector
Research and Lead Economist at
Jardine Flemming.

Mr Muhseen has also worked
at Standard Chartered Bank in the
Corporate Banking Division, where
he started out as a Management
Trainee and at Rodman and Renshaw
stock and commodities broker
based in Chicago. In his Investment
Banking career spanning over 21
years, Mr Muhseen has completed
landmark mergers and capital raising
transactions in excess of USD 100 Bn.

Under his leadership, the Asia
FIG sectors team at Merrill Lynch
and Credit Suisse won the “FIG Asia
House of the Year” awards from the
Asset magazine for several years,
and multiple transactions he led
were awarded as best country deals
and best financial sector capital-
raising transactions. Mr Muhseen
also has policy-level experience,
having worked as a Team Leader at

the National Council for Economic
Development (NCED) under the
Ministry of Finance, and as a Director
at the Task Force to Rebuild the
Nation (TAFREN), a Presidential Task
Force for rebuilding the economy
after the 2004 Tsunami.

He holds a Masters in Economics
from the University of Colombo
and a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Hons) from Western
Michigan University. He completed
the Corporate Finance training
program with JP Morgan in New York
and holds an Executive Certificate
in Directorship from the Singapore
Management University.

Other current appointments:

Currently, Mr Muhseen is the
Non-Independent/Non-Executive
Chairman of CBC Finance Ltd.,
Chairman/Director of Platinum
Advisors Pte Ltd., a Board Member

of H20 One Pte Ltd., and an
Independent/Non-Executive Director
of David Pieris Holding (Pvt) Ltd.,
Director of Canary Wharf Holdings
Pte Ltd. He is also the Independent/
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman

of Amana Takaful Life PLC and an
Independent/ Non-executive Director
of PCCW Limited, Hong Kong. He is
also a senior advisor to Great Eastern
Holdings Ltd., Singapore.

Previous appointments:

Previously, he served as Chairman
of Gestetner of Ceylon PLC and as a
Director of Lankan Angel Network.
His prior experience includes
leading roles at global investment
banks such as Credit Suisse, Bank of
America Merrill Lynch and JPMorgan.
His most recent role was Managing
Director, Head of South East Asia
Financial Institutions Group (FIG),
and Head of Asia Insurance at Credit
Suisse, based in Singapore. He was
also a Director at Merrill Lynch and
an Associate Director at Deloitte.

He has worked as a senior advisor to
TPG and BNP Paribas.

Shareholding of Bank:
Holds 3,361voting shares

Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in September
2020 and as the Deputy Chairman

of the Bank in April 2024.

Appointed as Chairman of
Board Integrated Risk Management
Committee.

Mr Senanayake was the
Chairman of the Board Audit
Committee, Board Human Resources
and Remuneration Committee and
the Board Related Party Transactions
Review Committee.

Skills and experience:

He is a Fellow Member of

CA Sri Lanka with over 30 years of
post-qualifying experience and holds
a B.Com. (Special) degree from the
University of Sri Jayewardenepura
with a second class upper division
pass and a Postgraduate Diploma

in Business Management from

the PIM of the University of

Sri Jayewardenepura. He completed
his articles at Ernst & Young to qualify
as a Chartered Accountant.

Mr Senanayake is passionate
about and possesses extensive
domain knowledge in the financial
services industry, particularly in
financial management and corporate
reporting, including aspects
such as risk management, capital
management, corporate governance,
compliance, sustainability, and
integrated reporting. Besides many
other local and overseas training
programs, he has undergone
training in banking and finance
with Euromoney and on general
management with the National
University of Singapore.

Other current appointments:

Mr Senanayake was appointed the
Chairman of CBC Tech Solutions
Limited in May 2024. Mr Senanayake
assumed the role of Chairman at
Senkadagala Finance PLC in August
2023. Prior to this position, he served
as an Independent Non-Executive

Director at the same organisation
since April 2017. He also works at
Smart Media - The Annual Report
Company as a Consultant.

He is a Director of Virtual Capital
Technologies (Pvt) Ltd., a software
development company, since August
2017. Mr Senanayake serves as an
Advisor to Unicorn Hatch Limited
a Company Incorporated in New
Zealand from March 2024. He has
been appointed as a Member of the
Corporate Governance Committee
of CA Sri Lanka for the period from
February 2024 to December 2025.

Previous appointments:

Mr Senanayake worked at Singer
Industries (Ceylon) PLC from 1991

to 1994 as the Financial Accountant.
From 1994 to 2007, he held several
key positions, progressing from
Senior Manager - Finance to
Assistant General Manager

(Finance & Planning) at Commercial
Bank of Ceylon PLC. He served as
the Chief Financial Officer of Nations
Trust Bank PLC from 2007 to 2009.
From 2009 to 2024, he worked as the
Chief Officer - Process Development
at Smart Media — The Annual Report
Company. He also served as an
Independent/Non-Executive Director
of CBC Finance Ltd. from October
2014 to March 2021 and as a
Non-Independent/Non-Executive
Director from April 2021 to

June 2022.

Shareholding of Bank:
Nil
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MsNTM S Cooray
Director

Appointed as the Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Bank in May 2022.

Appointed as a Non-Independent/
Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer in July 2018.

Skills and experience:

Mr Manatunge joined the
Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

in 1989. He has held Corporate
Management/Senior Management
positions such as Deputy General
Manager - Corporate Banking, Chief
Risk Officer, Head of Credit Risk and
Chief Manager - Corporate Banking.
Under Mr Manatunge, the Corporate
Banking Division of the Bank
experienced rapid growth in the loan
book and areas such as Trade Finance
fee-based income while maintaining
the quality of advances.

During his tenure as Chief
Operating Officer, Mr Manatunge
headed strategically important
business units of the Bank such
as Personal Banking, Corporate
Banking, Information Technology,
Cards, and Digital Banking guiding
them to become industry leaders.
He has also provided leadership and
strategic inputs for transformational
projects of the Bank such as
“SME Transformation’, establishing
a long-term digital roadmap for the
Bank, and many projects to improve
operational excellence.

He is a Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Management
Accountants — UK (FCMA) and
has obtained a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) Degree from
the University of Sri Jayewardenepura
with a Merit Pass. He has also earned
a MSc in Sustainable Management
from the University of Bedfordshire -
UK. He is also a Fellow Member of
the Institute of Bankers - Sri Lanka
(FIB), a Fellow of the Institute of
Certified Management Accountants
of Sri Lanka (FCMA), a Fellow of the
Chartered Management Institute —
UK (FCMI) and a Member of Certified
Practicing Accountants (CPA) -
Australia. Mr Manatunge has also

been a Member of the Sri Lanka
Institute of Directors since
August 2017.

He was adjudged the
“Chief Information Security Officer of
the Year” at the EC — Council Global
CISO Forum held in Atlanta — USA
in September 2013, in recognition
of his outstanding contribution
in strengthening and promoting
information security practices
and IT Risk Management. He
was instrumental in forming the
Association of Banking Sector Risk
Professionals, Sri Lanka and was
the President in 2014. He has also
served as a Council Member of the
Association of Professional Bankers
(APB) and a member of the CIMA -
“Thought Leadership Committee”.
Mr Manatunge was a visiting lecturer
for the MBA Degree program at the
University of Colombo and was a
resource person at the Training Centre
of Central Bank of Sri Lanka and the
Institute of Bankers of Sri Lanka.

Other current appointments:

Director of Commercial Development
Company PLC, Deputy Chairman of
Commercial Bank of Maldives Private
Limited, Vice Chairperson of Sri Lanka
Banks Association (Guarantee) Ltd.,
and the Employer’s Federation of
Ceylon. He is an Executive Member of
The Council for Business with Britain.

Previous appointments:

Managing Director of Commercial
Development Company PLC, Director
of CBC Tech Solutions Ltd., and
Director of Lanka Financial Services
Bureau Ltd. He also served as a
Director of the Credit Information
Bureau of Sri Lanka (CIBSL), a Director
of LankaPay (Pvt) Ltd. and the
Chairman of the Banking, Financial
Services & Insurance Group of the
Employers’ Federation of Ceylon

for year 2023/24.

Shareholding of Bank:
Holds 198,084 voting shares

Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in
August 2016.

Skills and experience:

He has a proven track record of
over 41 years in the corporate
environment and is qualified in
various management fields both
locally as well as internationally.

He holds Consultant, Business,

and Administration experience

for a period of 35 years and was
appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director to the Board
of Commercial Bank in August 2016.

Mr Niyangoda holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Agricultural Science from
the University of Peradeniya. He was
a Member of numerous professional
bodies, including the Council for
Agricultural Research Policy of
Sri Lanka, the Standing Committee
of Agriculture and Veterinary Studies,
the University Grants Commission
and the Board of Faculty of
Agriculture, University of Peradeniya.

He has been a Member of the

Sri Lanka Institute of Directors since
March 2000.

Other current appointments:
Nil

Previous appointments:

He served as the Chairman of A Baur
& Co. (Pvt) Ltd. and a Director of
Alfred Baur Memorial (Guarantee)
Limited. He served as the Managing
Director/Chief Executive Officer

of A Baur & Co. (Pvt) Ltd., Deputy
Managing Director/Chief Operating
Officer of A Baur & Co. (Pvt) Ltd., and
a Director of Baur Asia (Pte) Ltd.,
Singapore.

Shareholding of Bank:
Nil

Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in
September 2016.

Skills and experience:

Ms Cooray is a senior finance
professional with extensive experience
in the private sector. She holds a
Master of Business Administration
from the University of Colombo and

is a Fellow Member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants,
UK (FCMA). She has been a Member
of the Sri Lanka Institute of Directors
since July 2006.

Other current appointments:

Currently, Ms Cooray serves a
Non-Independent/Non-Executive
Director of The Lighthouse Hotel PLC,
Jetwing Symphony PLC and Ceylon
Tea Brokers PLC. She is a Director of
Negombo Hotels Ltd, Jetwing Hotels
Ltd, Jetwing Travels (Pvt) Ltd, Jetwing
Hotels Management Services (Pvt)
Ltd, Jetwing Air (Pvt) Ltd, Yarl Hotels
(Pvt) Ltd, Lanka Houseboat (Pvt) Ltd,
Jet Enterprises (Pvt) Ltd, Go vacation
Lanka Co. (Pvt) Ltd, Capital Alliance
Holdings Ltd, Saman Villas Ltd and
CAL Investments Ltd (Bangladesh).
She is an Independent/Non-Executive
Director of Allianz Insurance Lanka
Ltd. and Allianz Life Insurance Lanka
Ltd. In addition she is the Chairman/
Managing Director of Jetwing Travels
(Pvt) Ltd.

Previous appointments:

She served as the Chairperson of

the Sri Lanka Institute of Directors
and Jetwing Hotels Ltd., and was the
Director — Finance and Administration
on the Board of J Walter Thompson,
and Trade Finance and Investments
PLC. Additionally, she has held
positions on the Boards of numerous
private and public companies, been
a Member, of the Advisory Council
for Tourism, and served on the Board
of Management of several other
institutions.

Shareholding of Bank:

Holds 470,652 voting shares
and 73,964 non-voting shares
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Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in
August 2020.

Appointed as the Chairperson
of the Board Nominations and
Governance Committee. She was the
Chairperson for the Board Integrated
Risk Management Committee.

Skills and experience:

Ms Lee is a pioneer and leading
expert in quantitative risk
management and its applications
to strategy. She has over 35 years
of experience as a banker, capital
markets expert, and partner in
management consulting firms
serving CEOs and Boards in the
US and Asia.

She holds an MBA from the
Wharton School and a BSc from
NYU Stern School of Business.
She also attended the Advanced
Management Program and Women
on Boards Program at Harvard
Business School. She is co-author
of the books “What Every CEO Must
Know About Risk” and “RAROC and
Risk Management”. Since 2000,
Ms Lee had been a Senior Fellow of
the Wharton School, and an Adjunct
Professor at Singapore Management
University where she developed and
taught Enterprise Risk Management
for 10 years. She has also taught Risk
Management at Columbia University,
New York. Ms Lee has lived and
worked in both New York and Asia.

Other current appointments:

Ms Lee is the Managing Director of
Dragonfly LLC which she co-founded
in 2000. The New York based
consulting firm provides strategy,
risk management, and investment
advice to Boards, CEOs, CFOs, and
Business heads in the US, Europe
and Asia, covering all sectors,
corporates, financial institutions and
governments. She is also the CEO

of Dragonfly Capital Ventures (DFC)

which she founded in 2009. DFC
develops and invests in renewable
energy and infrastructure projects
in South East Asia.

She currently serves on the
Executive Board of NYU Stern School
of Business, DBS Group Holdings Ltd.,
DBS Bank Ltd., DBS Foundation Ltd.,
SMRT Corporation Ltd., Mapletree
Logistics Trust Management Limited
and JTC Corporation. She is also the
Non-Independent/Non-Executive
Chairperson of Strides DST Pte Ltd.
(a SMRT JV Company). In October
2024, she became designated as the
Co-Chair of “Women Execs on
Boards” - (@ non-profit alumni
network of Harvard Business School
of Board Governance programs). She
is also a Director of non-profit SG
HER Empowerment Ltd.

Previous appointments:

Ms Lee ended her term as
Independent Director at AlTi
Tiedemann Global and Temasek Life
Sciences Accelerator Pte Ltd. She
has served as a Board Director of
Solar Frontier, a renewable energy
subsidiary of Japan-listed Showa
Shell Sekiyu. Prior to Dragonfly,

Ms Lee was a key member of the
pioneering team that developed
quantitative risk methodology at
Bankers Trust in the late 1980s.

She ran the bank’s daily global risk
quantification and reporting. She
also worked on derivatives and other
capital market products and was the
risk manager (CRO) reporting to the
President of BT Securities.

Shareholding of Bank:
Nil

Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in
March 2021.

Appointed as the Chairman
of Board Technology Committee.

Skills and experience:

Ms Wijewardena is a corporate
executive with a proven track record
in the IT industry, both locally and
internationally. She has served

in various senior positions in the
industry for many years, gaining
diverse experience in providing
technology solutions from high-
tech startups to large multinational
businesses in the world.

She is a Graduate Member
of British Computer Society. She
received her board executive
education at Harvard Business
School and also earned Strategy
Certification for Game Changing
Organisations and Artificial
Intelligence in Impact for Business
Strategies from Massachusetts
Institute of Technology, Sloan School

of Management — WIM, together with
IFC and the Government of Australia,

awarded her as the best Woman
Board Director 2021 (Sri Lanka/
Maldives) at the WIM awards 2021
in Colombo.

Other current appointments:

Ms Wijewardena is the core-Founder/

Chief Executive Officer of Aventude
(Pvt) Ltd. (“Aventude”), which

she co-founded in 2018. She is a
Director/Shareholder of Aventude
Pte Ltd., Singapore. Aventude is a
technology strategic consultation
& solutions company based in
Colombo, Stockholm and Singapore,
specialising in solving business
problems using technology across
an end-to-end spectrum. She also

serve as a Director of Meta Dynamics,

UAE, a company providing advanced
technical services for custom

software requirements of businesses.

Previous appointments:

Vice Chairperson of the Cabinet
approved national initiative,
“Women’s Chamber for Digital

Sri Lanka” (WCDSL), an initiative to
uplift women's participation in the
digital economy of Sri Lanka through
ICT education, career empowerment
and supportive policies.

Shareholding of Bank:
Nil
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Chief Operating Officer/Executive Director

Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in April 2022.

He is the Chairman of Board
Human Resources & Remuneration
Committee and the Board
Investment Committee.

Skills and experience:

Dr Selliah holds a MBBS degree

and Master’s Degree (M.Phil).

He has over two decades of

diverse experience in varied fields
including manufacturing, healthcare,
insurance, logistics, packaging,
renewable power, plantation, retail
etc. He serves on the Boards of many
public listed and private companies.
He has extensive experience serving
on Board sub committees including
Audit, Human Resource and
Remuneration, Investment,

Strategic Planning, Related Party,
Nomination, etc.

Other current appointments:

Dr. Selliah is the Independent/
Non-executive Chairman of JAT

Holdings PLC. He is also the Chairman

of Vydexa (Lanka) Power Corporation
(Pvt) Ltd., Cleanco Lanka (Pvt) Ltd.
and Andysel (Pvt) Ltd. He is the
Deputy Chairman of ArunoAus Pte
Ltd. He is also a Non-Independent/
Non-Executive Director of Lanka
Tiles PLC, Lanka Walltiles PLC, ACL
Cables PLC, and Swisstek (Ceylon)
PLC. Dr Selliah is a Director of
Arunodhaya (Pvt) Ltd., Arunodhaya
Industries (Pvt) Ltd. and Arunodhaya
Investments (Pvt) Ltd. Currently,

he also serves on many Board
sub-committees of the companies
listed above as the Chairman or

a Member.

Previous appointments:

Dr Selliah was the Deputy Chairman
of Asiri Hospital Holdings PLC, Asiri
Surgical Hospital PLC and Central
Hospitals Ltd. He was a Director of
Expo Lanka Holdings PLC, Horana
Plantation PLC, Unidil Packaging
(Pvt) Ltd. He also served as a Director
of Lanka Ceramic PLC, Softlogic
Holdings PLC, Odel PLC, Swisstek
Aluminium (Pvt) Ltd, and HNB
Assurance PLC. He has served as

a Senior Lecturer in the Faculty of
Medicine, University of Kelaniya for
many years in the past and served
on several committees. He has also
been the Head of the Department
of Physiology during his tenure at
the Faculty. He has also served as a
Council Member at the University
of Colombo.

Shareholding of Bank:
Holds 38,408 voting shares

Appointed as the Chief Operating
Officer and Executive Director in
May 2022.

Skills and experience:

Mr Prabagar is a senior banker
with over 29 years of diversified
banking experience with the Bank.
He has served as Branch Manager
of mid-sized and larger branches

in Colombo, performed as Chief
Operating Officer and Country
Manager of the Bank’s Bangladesh
Operations, provided leadership

to the Internal Audit function of
the Bank as the Head and Assistant
General Manager, spearheaded the
Bank operations as the Assistant
General Manager in charge of
Operations and lead Corporate
Banking as the Deputy General
Manager, which was the last position
held by him before taking up this
responsibility.

Having turned around the
branches he managed to greater
performance, he was instrumental in
bringing up Bangladesh Operations
from a two-branch, two-booth
operation to a 19 branch operation.
It became the 3rd highest profitable
bank, next only to SCB and HSBC out
of 10 foreign banks, and contributed
to around 15% of the overall bottom
line of Commercial Bank. Under his
leadership, operations in Bangladesh
earned an AAA credit rating from the
leading credit rating agency CRISL.

He represented the Bank at
National Payment Council meetings
at Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL).
He also functioned as the Bank’s
Ombudsman in resolving customer
complaints with the Financial
Ombudsman of the country. He was
the representative of the Bank to the
BTAC (Bankers Technical Assistance
Committee) appointed by the
Bankers Association of Sri Lanka,
to address operational issues
faced by banks.

He served on the panel of
lecturers for the Post Graduate
Diploma in Bank Management
offered by the Institute of Bankers
(IBSL) and carried out lectures for
over 4 years. He was the Secretary to
the Bangladesh-Sri Lanka Chamber
of Commerce and Industry, actively
promoting trade and investment
between the countries.

Mr Prabagar holds an MBA
in Banking from the University
of London, is an Associate of the
Institute of Bankers (AIB - SL), and
has a B.Com from the Bharathidasan
University in India. He is fully
qualified in CIMA (Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants - UK),
and CISA (Certified in System Audit -
USA), also holding a Diploma in
System Security and Control Audit
(DISSCA - CASL).

Other current appointments:

He is a Non-Independent/
Non-Executive Director of the Board
of Commercial Bank of Maldives (Pvt)
Ltd., a Director of Lanka Financial
Services Bureau (Pvt) Ltd.

Previous appointments:

He served as a Director on the

Board of CBC Myanmar Microfinance
Company Ltd. and as a Non-
Executive Director on the Board

of CBC Tech Solutions Limited.
Additionally, he chaired the
Roadmap Committee appointed by
the CBSL for the implementation of
Blockchain technology in Sri Lanka.

Shareholding of Bank:

Holds 309,955 voting shares
and 42,215 non-voting shares
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Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in
February 2023.

Appointed the Chairman
of Board Capital Expenditure
Review Committee.

Skills and experience:

Mr Fernando is a Professional Banker,
who retired from active service in
the banking sector in August 2020.
With a career spanning over 34
years at the Bank of Ceylon (BoC),
he played many prominent roles in
the Recoveries Department and the
Product Development Banking Unit
where he had initiated a number of
noteworthy, innovative liability and
asset products.

He has vast experience in branch
banking, customer service, and
corporate/retail credit in rural and
urban branches for over 14 years.

He also has training/exposure in
international and treasury operations,
which he gained during his service

at the BoC London Branch and as

a member of expatriate staff at the
BoC Karachi Branch (now closed)

in Pakistan. He has also managed

70 BoC branches for 4 years as the
Assistant General Manager in charge
of the Western Province South

(the largest administrative region of
BoC at the time), before taking up the
assignment at Bank of Ceylon (UK)
Ltd. as the Chief Executive Officer/
Director in late 2012.

He holds a Bachelor of Science
(Hon.) degree from the University of
Colombo and served briefly on the
academic staff of the (then) Batticaloa
University College. He also worked
under the Ministry of Education as
an Education Officer in “Sri Lanka
Education Service” before joining
the BoC in 1986.

An Associate Member of the
Institute of Bankers of Sri Lanka
since 1998.

Other current appointments:

Independent Director of Ceybank
Holiday Homes (Pvt) Ltd., a subsidiary
of BoC Travels (Pvt) Ltd., Property
Development and Management (Pvt)
Ltd., which is a subsidiary of BoC,

and the General Manager of Grand
Oriental Hotel (GOH).

Previous appointments:

He served as the General Manager
of Ceybank Holiday Homes (Pvt)
Ltd., a Director of BOC Travels (Pvt)
Ltd., Merchant Bank of Sri Lanka
PLC, Property Development and
Management (Pvt) Ltd. and the
Director and Chairman of MBSL
Insurance (Pvt) Ltd. Additionally,
he was the Chief Risk Officer
(Deputy General Manager) of BOC
(which he held for more than four
and a half years until his retirement
in August 2020), and the Chief
Executive Officer/Director of

Bank of Ceylon (UK) Ltd.

Shareholding of Bank:
Nil

Appointed as an Independent/

Non-Executive Director in April 2023.

Appointed as the Chairman
of Board Related Party Transactions
Review Committee.

Skills and experience:

Mr Palitha Kumarasinghe is a Senior
President’s Counsel specializing in
Civil and Commercial matters with a
lucrative practice. Mr Kumarasinghe
was enrolled as an Attorney at Law
of the Supreme Court of Sri Lanka in
September 1982 and was appointed
as a President’s Counsel by His
Excellency the President with effect
from July 07, 2006.

Mr Kumarasinghe is actively
practicing in the District Court
of Colombo, Commercial High
Court, Civil Appellate High Court of
Colombo and the Superior Courts.
He serves as Counsel for several
State and Private Banks and Finance
Houses. He has extensive experience
in Debt Recovery matters and is
a regular Speaker in Banking and
Debt Recovery Law Sessions and
many other Corporate Law matters
in National Law Conferences,
Junior National Law Conferences,
and Continuing Legal Education
Programmes conducted by the
Bar Association of Sri Lanka, the
Association of Corporate Lawyers,
Sri Lanka and the Colombo
Law Society.

He has been a Member of the
Bar Council of Sri Lanka for the
past 36 years.

Other current appointments:

Mr Kumarasinghe is a Member of
the National Medicine Regulatory
Authority.

Previous appointments:

Mr Kumarasinghe was a member of
the Public Service Commission of
Sri Lanka from April 2006 to April
2009 and from May 2011 to May
2014. He was a Member of the
Incorporated Council of Legal
Education, the Chairman of the
Environmental Council established
under the National Environment
Act, a Member of the Advisory
Commission on Intellectual Property
established under the Code of
Intellectual Property Act, and

the Chairman of the Committee
appointed by the Cabinet of
Ministers and the Public Service
Commission to study the existing
Medical Service Minute and propose
solutions to the problems existing in
the Medical Administration Grade.
Mr Kumarasinghe was a member of
the University Grants Commission.

He has functioned as the
Chairman of the Rent Law Reform
Committee, the Chairman of the
Banking and Finance Law Reform
Committee, and the Co-Chair of the
Apartment Ownership Law Reform
Committee, Ministry of Justice,
appointed by Hon. Minister of Justice.
He also functioned as a member
of the Expert Committee to draft
the Higher Education Act and the
Commission of Sri Lanka.

Mr Kumarasinghe has previously
served as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director of Laugfs Gas
PLC and Nawaloka Hospitals PLC.

Shareholding of Bank:
Nil
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MrPY S Perera
Director
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Mr R A P Rajapaksha
Company Secretary

Appointed as an Independent/
Non-Executive Director in
October 2024.

Appointed as the Chairman
of the Board Audit Committee.

Skills and experience:

Mr Yohan Perera is a Chartered
Accountant by profession and retired
from the position of the Managing
Partner of KPMG Sri Lanka and
Maldives on March 31, 2023.

He counts over 40 years

of experience in audits of
conglomerates and listed companies
with diversified business interests.

Mr Perera was the President
of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka
(2006 & 2007) and was the
Chairman of the Sri Lanka Auditing
Standards Committee (2009-2013).
He also served on the Board of
the Confederation of Asian and
Pacific Accountants (CAPA), one of
four Regional Organizations (ROs)
recognized by the International
Federation of Accountants (IFAC).

Mr Perera is a Fellow Member
of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka (FCA)
and of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants
(FCMA), UK.

Other current appointments:

Mr Perera currently serves as an
Independent/Non-Executive Director
on the Boards of Hayleys PLC,
Haycarb PLC, Dipped Products PLC,
E.B. Creasy & Co. PLC, Laxapana PLC,
Muller & Phipps (Ceylon) PLC and
Overseas Realty (Ceylon) PLC.

Previous appointments:

Mr Perera served as a Partner at
KPMG Sri Lanka and Maldives for

33 years. During this period,

he also served the Firm as the Head
of HR, Risk Management Partner, and
the Chief Operating Officer before
becoming the Managing Partner.

He served on the KPMG Middle East
& South Asia Board during his tenure
as the Managing Partner of the Firm.

Additionally, he has served
as a member of the Securities &
Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka,
the Monetary Policy Consultative
Committee of the Central Bank of
Sri Lanka and the Governing Council
of the Postgraduate Institute of
Management of the University of
Sri Jayewardenepura.

Shareholding of Bank:
Holds 2,400 voting shares

Appointed as Company Secretary in
April 2019.

Skills and experience:

An Associate of Chartered
Governance Institute - UK &
Ireland, formerly known as
Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (ICSA - UK)
and a Graduate of the Institute of
Chartered Corporate Secretaries
(ICCS) of Sri Lanka counting over
21 years of experience in the field
of Company Secretarial Practice
including 14 years of experience
at the Bank. He is a member of

Sri Lanka Institute of Directors
since September 2017. He is also a
member of the Institute of Directors
(I0D) - UK.

Other current appointments:

Vice President of the Chartered
Governance Institute - UK & Ireland,
Sri Lanka & Asia Pacific Branch.
Appointed as an All-Island Justice
of the Peace in 2019.

Previous appointments:
Company Secretary of Bank’s fully
owned subsidiary — CBC Finance Ltd.
from November 2014 to March 2019.
Assistant Company Secretary of the
Bank from February 2011 to

March 2019.

Shareholding of Bank:
Nil
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0 Sanath Manatunge
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer

FCMA (UK)/CGMA/FCMI (UK)/CPA
(Aus)/FCMA (SL)/FIB (SL)/MBA Merit
(University of Sri Jayewardenepura)/
MSc Sustainable Management -
University of Bedfordshire - UK

35 years in Banking

9 S Prabagar
Chief Operating Officer

FCMA(UK)/CGMA/MBA (University of
London)/AIB (SL)/B. Com (Bharathidasan
University, India)/DISSCA- CA Sri Lanka/
CISA (USA)

29 years in Banking

© Nandika Buddhipala
Chief Financial Officer

FCA/FCCA (UK)/FCMA/CMA (Aus)/MCISI
(UK)/SA Fin (Aus)/IMA (USA)/BSc, BAd
(Special) (University of Sri Jayewardenepura)/
PG Dip in Management (University of

Sri Jayewardenepura)/MBA (University

of Colombo)/MA in Financial Economics
(University of Colombo)/MSc in Financial
Mathematics (University of Colombo)

34 years post qualifying experience
including 17 years in Banking

O Isuru Tillakawardana

Deputy General Manager -
Human Resource Management

LL.B (University of Colombo)/MBA
(University of Sri Jayewardenepura)/

MA (University of Colombo)/Diploma in
International Affairs (BCIS)/GSLID (SLID)/
Fellow of the Association of HR Professionals

34 years of experience including 15 years
in Banking

Annual Report 2024

o Hasrath Munasinghe
Deputy General Manager -
Corporate Banking

FIB (SL)/FCIM (UK)/FSLIM/FCMI (UK)/ACMA
(UK) /CGMA /CMA (Aus) /GSLID (SLID)/MSc in
IT (University of Moratuwa)/MBA (University
of Southern Queensland, Aus)/CPM

(Asia Pacific Marketing Federation, Sing)/
Post Graduate Diploma in Business and
Finance Administration (CA Sri Lanka)/
Advanced Diploma in Credit Management
(IBSL)/Diploma in Treasury & Risk
Management (IBSL)

31 years of experience including 14 years
in Banking

o Asela Wijesiriwardane
Deputy General Manager - Treasury

BSc (University of Colombo)/MA-Econ
(University of Colombo)/ACMA (UK)

28 years in Banking

o Delakshan Hettiarachchi
Deputy General Manager - Personal

Banking CIM (UK)/MBA (Cardiff Metropolitan
University, UK)/AIB (SL)/FCPM(SL)

41 years in Banking
(Retired from service on February 18, 2025)

o Kapila Hettihamu
Chief Risk Officer

BSc (University of Colombo)/MBA
(University of Colombo)/Member
(Association Cambiste Internationale)

29 years in Banking

o John Premanath

Deputy General Manager -
Management Audit

FCCA (UK)/ACA (ICA England & Wales)/ACA
(CA Sri Lanka)/CISA (USA)/CIA (USA)/BSc
Applied Accounting (Oxford Brookes — UK)/
AIB (SL)/DISSCA/ISO 27001:2022 ISMS Lead
Auditor/GSLID (SLID)

34 years in Banking
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@ Ms Tamara Bernard
Deputy General Manager - International

AIB (SL)/Masters in Development
Studies (University of Colombo)/MBA
(University of Sri Jayewardenepura)

35 years in Banking

0 Sumudu Gunawardhana
Chief Information Officer

BSc (Eng.) in Computer Science and
Engineering (University of Moratuwa)/

MBA (University of Colombo)/AIB (SL)/

CIMA passed finalist/PMP (USA)/EPGM-Sloan
Business School (Massachusetts Institute

of Technology USA)

27 years of experience in Information
Technology including 4 years in Banking

@ Prasanna Indrajith
Deputy General Manager - Finance

FCA/FCCA (UK)/FCMA (SL)/AIB (SL)/BSc BAd
(Special) (University of Sri Jayewardenepura)/
Postgraduate Diploma in Business and
Financial Admin. (CA Sri Lanka)

30 years post qualifying experience in
Finance related fields including 28 years
in Banking

@ Kanishka Ranaweera
Deputy General Manager -
Human Resource Management (Designate)

BBA Studies (University of Colombo), MBA
(University of Colombo), Attorney- at-Law,
ACIPM

19 years of experience including
2 years in Banking

@ Krishan Gamage
Assistant General Manager -
Information Technology (Operations)

BSc (Eng.) in Electronic and
Telecommunication (University of Moratuwa)

26 years of experience in Information
Technology including 18 years in Banking
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@ Chinthaka Dharmasena
Assistant General Manager - Services

BSc (Eng.) Hons in Mechanical Engineering
(University of Moratuwa)/MBA

(University of Sri Jayewardenepura)/

ISO Lead Auditor Certificate/visiting
lecturer at University of Moratuwa

23 years of experience in Manufacturing
and Supply Chain Management and
13 years in Banking

@ BAHSPreena

Assistant General Manager -
Corporate Banking |

MBA (University of Colombo)/FIB (SL)
37 years in Banking

@ Mrs Mithila Shamini

Assistant General Manager -
Personal Banking |

AIB (SL)/Dip. in Business Mgmt.(SLBDC)/
Postgraduate Diploma in Business and
Financial Admin. (CA Sri Lanka)/MBA
(Griffith University, Aus)

38 years in Banking

@ M P Dharmasiri
Assistant General Manager - Planning

FCA/FCMA (SL)/AIB (SL)/MSc Mgt (University
of Sri Jayewardenepura)/MA Financial

Economics (University of Colombo)/BSc BAd
(Special) (University of Sri Jayewardenepura)

35 years in Banking

@ Thusitha Suraweera
Assistant General Manager - Transformation

Passed Finalist, CIMA (UK)
27 years in Banking

27
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@ Nalin Samaranayake

Assistant General Manager -
Credit Supervision and Recoveries

AIB (SL)/Postgraduate Executive Diploma in
Bank Mgt./MBA- Cardiff Metropolitan, (UK)

37 years in Banking

@ Varuna Kolamunna

Assistant General Manager —
Personal Banking Il/Bancassurance

Intermediate Diploma in Banking & Finance
(IBSL)/Masters of Business Administration
(Open University of Malaysia)

34 years in Banking

@ S Ganeshan

Assistant General Manager -
Personal Banking Ill/SME

Intermediate Diploma in Banking &
Finance (IBSL)/Postgraduate Diploma in
Business Administration, Staffordshire
University, UK

36 years in Banking

(Appointed as the Deputy General Manager -
Personal Banking w.e.f. February 19, 2025)

@ Sidath Pananwala

Assistant General Manager -
Corporate Banking Il

AIB (SL)/MBA (University of
Sri Jayewardenepura)/CMA (Australia)

38 years in Banking

@ Dilan Rajapaksha

Assistant General Manager -
Personal Banking IV

FIB (SL)/CGMA Adv Dip MA

35 years in Banking

13,7 24
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@ Pradeep Banduwansa
Assistant General Manager - Digital Banking

Intermediate Diploma in Banking &
Finance (IBSL)/AIB Final Stage 1/
Executive MSc in Strategic Management
(Asia eUniversity Malaysia)

35 years in Banking

@ Najith Meewanage
Chief Executive Officer -
Bangladesh Operations

AIB (SL)/Masters of Business Administration
(University of Greenwich, London, UK)

32 years in Banking

@ Tivanka Damunupola
Assistant General Manager - Treasury

Intermediate Diploma in Banking & Finance
(IBSL)/Association Cambiste Internationale -
Financial Markets Association, Dealing
Certification/MBA in Banking and Finance
(Am.University of London)/Association
Cambiste Internationale FX Global Code
Certificate (ACI)

29 years in Banking

@ Mrs Chandani Siyambalagastenne

Assistant General Manager -
Compliance/Compliance Officer

AIB (SL), MBA (University of SIKKIM Manipal),
CMA (Australia), ICA (UK)

33 years in Banking

@ Ramachandren Sivagnanam
Assistant General Manager — Operations

AIB (SL)

34 years in Banking

19 14<11 21 18

15 22

12
16 29 10 23
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Corporate Banking Personal Banking
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Mrs Sushara Vidyasagara Geehan Jayawickrama Pubudu Perera Sanath Perera

Head of Corporate Banking Chief Manager — Corporate Banking  Chief Manager — Corporate Banking  Senior Regional Manager -
(Deceased) Colombo Inner

¥ 1
Prasad Fernando Mrs Ruvini Samarasinghe Himaru Kulawardene Shanthapriya Withanage
Head of Imports Chief Manager - Foreign Operations  Chief Manager — Corporate Banking  Senior Regional Manager -

Greater Colombo
(pre-maturely retired on February 07, 2025)

L

Lawrian Somanader Lakmal Subasinghe Mohan Liyanapatabendi Mrs Nelum Wasala
Head of Exports Chief Manager - Corporate Banking ~ Chief Manager — Corporate Banking ~ Head of Centralised Credit
Processing

Tharinda Jayawardana Michael De Silva
Head of Investment Chief Manager -
Banking and Research Centralised Credit Processing
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Ms Dharshini Gunatilleke Mrs Nimalka Wickremarachchi Chaminda Ganegoda Mrs Chandrima Leelaratne
Chief Manager - Centralised Regional Manager - Colombo Outer ~ Regional Manager - Central Head of Treasury Processing

Credit Processing

Chamenda Kalugamage Aruna Tennakoon Roshan Fernando Hemal Jayasekara
Regional Manager - Regional Manager - Colombo North  Regional Manager - Wayamba Chief Dealer - ALM
Uva Sabaragamuwa

Treasury

Roshan Peiris Athula Palletenna R Kajaruban Chirantha Caldera
Regional Manager - Southern Regional Manager — South Western Regional Manager - Eastern Chief Dealer - Treasury Sales

?

Arulumpalam Jeyabalan Asela Leuwanduwa
Regional Manager — Northern Regional Manager - Colombo South
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Support Services

N2

Jagath Weerasinghe
Chief Manager - IT
(Resigned on January 31, 2025)

¥

Dushmantha Jayasuriya

-?"t.
Tilak Wakista
Head of Premises

Upul Perera
Head of Central Systems Support

Mrs Pushpa Chandrasiri Ms Sunari Dandeniya

Head of Human Resource
Management

¢

Buddhika Gunawardana
Chief Manager -
Information Technology

P

Pramith Rajapaksha
Company Secretary

]

s t

Rasika Perera
Chief Manager -
Staff Development Centre

T

Dr Shanthikumar Fernando
Chief Manager -
Research and Development

Nishantha De Silva
Head of Card Centre

Priyantha Perera
Chief Manager -
Super Market Banking

Harendra Ranasinghe
Head of Security and Safety

L

Mohan Fernando
Chief Manager - SME Banking

Mrs Varuni Egodage
Head of Legal

Chief Information Security Officer Chief Manager - Retail Products

© Leadership
Senior Management

Mahela Perera
Chief Manager -
Credit Supervision and Recoveries

Asanka Wijayasinghe
Chief Manager -
Retail Credit Approval

Mrs Aparna Jagoda
Chief Manager — Marketing

Mrs Dilrukshi De Silva
Chief Manager - AML/Compliance

Thushara Yatawara
Chief Manager - IS Audit
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Ms Vathsala Wijekoon Rangika Rodrigo Mrs Chandima Dangolle Mrs Apsara Wellappili
Chief Manager - Planning Chief Manager - Procurement Chief Manager - Finance Senior Engineering Manager —
IT R&D
; III i o -
“‘_& .3 <
B s - o

Mrs Chathurani Rajamuni Keerthi Mediwake Mrs Kamalini Ellawala Mrs Nadika Nagahawatte
Chief Manager - Inspection Chief Manager - Data Governance Chief Manager - Senior Engineering Manager —

Sustainability, Women Banking and CSR  IT R&D

¢

\

Ms Jalika Hewagama Thushara Thomas Seevali Wickramasinghe Neelaka Aluthge
Chief Manager - Chief Manager - Central Cash Chief Manager - Card Centre Senior Engineering Manager -
Customer Experience IT R&D

Mrs Deepika Vidanagamage Shaliya Weeratunge Mrs Deepthi Denagama Iranjith Bandara

Chief Manager — Operations Chief Manager - Associate Principal Engineering Senior Engineering Manager —
Integrated Risk Management Manager - IT R&D IT Operations
e 4 ?
Mrs Pushpa Jayaweera Roy Adikaram Sampath Abeywickrema Mark De Zoysa
Chief Manager - Legal Chief Manager - Premises Senior Engineering Manager - Senior Engineering Manager -

IT R&D IT Operations
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Bangladesh Operations

Lol
ey

Najith Meewanage
Chief Executive Officer

Hasitha Nanayakkara
Senior Engineering Manager -
IT Operations

f g

an

Kasun Herath
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Operating Officer

|

Ms Menaka Rajapakse
Senior Business Transformation
Lead - IT R&D

1 1

Mahmud Hossain
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
and Head of Corporate Banking

Bhagya Botejue
Head of Programme Management
Office - IT R&D

Subsidiary
Operations (Local)

Damith Chanaka
Senior Engineering Manager -
IT Support Services

i

]

Nalin Gunatunga
Chief Executive Officer -
CBC Tech Solutions Limited

Binoy Gopal Roy
Chief Financial Officer

ﬁ

Haily Algewatte
Chief Risk and Investment
Strategy Officer

&

N

Shakir Kushru

Senior Assistant General Manager —

Personal Banking

Subsidiary

© Leadership
Senior Management

Ms Fatema Zohara
Assistant General Manager -
Corporate Banking

-

,.}
-

v

Kazi Mashqur Ur Rahim
Assistant General Manager -
Head of Corporate Sales

L

Asaduzzaman Asad
Assistant General Manager -
Treasury (Asset Liability Management)

Operations (Foreign)

Elmo Sooriyaarachchi
Managing Director/Chief Executive
Officer - Commercial Bank of
Maldives Private Limited

Dilan Rodrigo

Managing Director/Country Head -
CBC Myanmar Microfinance
Company Limited
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The context

Operating environment and outlook

[

2024

The global economy is holding steady,
although the degree of grip varies widely
across countries.

China: Growth in China, at 4.6 %
(2024-3Q) in year-over-year terms, was
below expectations. Faster-than-expected
net export growth only partly offset
a faster-than-expected slowdown in
consumption amid delayed stabilisation in
the property market and persistently low
consumer confidence.

India: Growth in India also slowed
more than expected, led by a sharper-
than-expected deceleration in industrial
activity.

Growth continued to be subdued
in the euro area (with Germany’s
performance lagging that of other
euro area countries), largely reflecting
continued weakness in manufacturing
and goods exports even as consumption

picked up in line with the recovery in real
incomes.

In Japan, output contracted mildly
owing to temporary supply disruptions.
By contrast, momentum in the United
States remained robust, with the economy
expanding at a rate of 2.7% in year-over-
year terms in 3Q-2024, powered by strong
consumption.

®

|

2025

Global growth is expected to remain
stable, albeit lackluster. At 3.3% in both
2025 and 2026, the forecasts for growth
are below the historical (2000-19) average
of 3.7%.

In the United States, underlying
demand remains robust, reflecting strong
wealth effects, a less restrictive monetary
policy stance, and supportive financial
conditions and growth is projected to be at
2.7% in 2025.

Euro area growth is expected to
pick up but at a more gradual pace than
anticipated in previous IMF forecasts
(Oct’2024), with geopolitical tensions
continuing to weigh on sentiment. Growth
for 2024 is projected at 1.0%.

In other advanced economies, two
offsetting forces keep growth forecasts
relatively stable.

e Recovering real incomes are expected
to support the cyclical recovery in
consumption.

e Trade headwinds—including the sharp
uptick in trade policy uncertainty— are
expected to keep investment subdued.

In emerging market and developing
economies, growth performance in 2025
and 2026 is expected to broadly match
that in 2024. Growth forecasted for 2025
is 4.2% while the forecast for 2026 is 4.3%.
China and India are expected to grow by
4.6% and 6.5% in 2025. The fiscal stimulus
package announced in November 2024
is expected to drive China’s growth in 2025.

World Economic Outlook projections

(% change) Table - 04

World Economic Outlook

World output

3.2%

Advanced
2024 2025 2026 economies
(E) P
1.7%
World output 32 33 33 : )
merging and
Advanced economies 1.7 1.9 1.8 developing Asia
i 2.8 2.7 2.1
United States 5 .20/0
Euro Area 0.8 1.0 1.4
Emerging and United States
developing Asia 52 5.1 5.1 2.8%
China 48 4.6 45
India 6.5 6.5 6.5
Russia 3.8 1.4 1.2
| 4

Projections (% change) — 2024 Figure - 08

Euro Area

0.8%

Russia

3.8%

China

4.8%

India

6.5%

Source: IMF - World Economic Outlook, January 2025
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The Sri Lankan
economy continued its recovery in 2024,
following the economic crisis in 2022 which
was the worst economic crisis experienced by
the country post independence. The country
was able to sustain the growth momentum
despite a presidential and a parliamentary
election. Elections also witnessed a major
political shift, with a third party being elected
outside the two main political parties, as the
ruling party of the country.

Authorities
continued its strict adherence to the IMF
program. The IMF Executive Board completed
the Third Review under the Extended Fund
Facility (EFF) with Sri Lanka in February 2025,
providing the country with immediate access
to SDR 254 Mn. (about USD 334 Mn.).

The country’s major
achievement in 2024 was the finalisation of
the External Debt Restructuring process.

This milestone was a significant turning point
for the year and within the broader context of
the IMF program, signaling progress towards
restoring economic stability and regaining
access to international capital markets.

Sri Lanka restructured external debt
worth USD 17.5 Bn. Out of this, USD 12.55 Bn.
(plus USD 1.6 Bn. past due interest)
were Sovereign debt and bondholders
representing 97.8% of the total SLISB value
outstanding agreed to the exchange offer,
which grants them new notes in various
structures under global or local options.

On December 20, 2024, the government
announced the completion of the debt
exchange regarding SLISBs marking the end
of the prolonged EDR process which started
in October 2023 (Ministry of Finance).

Following the bond exchange, Sri Lanka
will achieve under the baseline scenario
approximately USD 9.5 Bn. in debt service
payment reduction over the four-year IMF

Annual Report 2024

program period, a 31% reduction in the
coupon rate of its bonds, and an extension of
the average maturity profile of more than five
years, according to estimates from the

Sri Lankan Treasury. (Ministry of Finance)

Accordingly,
Fitch and Moody'’s upgraded Sri Lanka’s
sovereign ratings by several notches,
marking the country’s successful emergence
from default status. Fitch ratings, on
December 20, 2024 upgraded the country’s
sovereign rating from RD to CCC+ while
Moody’s upgraded its sovereign rating
from Ca to Caa 1 (Outlook: Stable) on
December 23, 2024.

On the fiscal front, tax reforms led to a
growth in government revenue. According

to provisional figures released in the
Government Budget 2025, revenue is
expected to grow by 32%. Meanwhile,
government expenditure is expected to grow
by 14% during the same period supported by
curtailed government expenditure measures.
Due to improved revenue collection and
subdued government expenditure, Sri Lanka
is estimated to have recorded a primary
balance Rs. 650 Bn. in 2024 (provisional
figures - Government Budget 2025). The year
end target for primary balance outlined by
the IMF was Rs. 300 Bn.

The government will need to further
boost its revenue in 2025 with a view to
meeting the 2.3% (as a percentage of GDP)
primary balance target set by the IMF.
According to the 2025 government budget,
tax revenue is estimated to be increased
by Rs. 885 Bn. year-on-year. This additional
revenue is projected to come from VAT on
goods and services imports (Rs. 192.5 Bn.),
excise duty on vehicle imports (Rs. 171.4 Bn.),
import duties (Rs. 128.9 Bn.), and corporate
taxes (Rs. 103.7 Bn.). Even though the
proposed Personal Income Tax revisions will
impact revenue to decline by Rs. 41.6 Bn.,
the upward revision of WHT is expected to
mitigate it (expected to gain Rs. 66.2 Bn.).

© The context
Operating environment and outlook

A significant
development in the monetary sector was
the introduction of a single policy rate
mechanism by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka
(CBSL). In line with IMF recommendations,
the single policy rate mechanism, known as
the Overnight Policy Rate (OPR), replaced the
previously operational policy rate corridor.
However, the previous policy rates (standing
rates): SDFR and SLFR will continue to be
available to participatory institutions for
overnight transactions with the Central Bank.

The interest rates applicable for these
facilities, are linked to the OPR, with
pre-determined margins (currently - 50 and
+50bps) as decided by the Central Bank.
Currently, these margins are symmetric
around the OPR and are set by the Monetary
Policy Board based on market conditions.

In 2024, CBSL cut policy rates by 75bps
(25bps in March and 50bps in November 2024).

The Sri Lankan rupee
appreciated by 10.7% against the US Dollar in
2024 amid favourable external performance.

Backed by a strong rupee,
decreased fuel/energy & food prices and
improvements in supply side, Sri Lanka’s
inflation moved into negative territory in
September 2024.
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Key macro events 2024 Figure - 09

o Inflation moving into
negative territory

e CBSL introducing a single
policy rate (OPR)

e Recovery of credit to
private sector

Highest growth in absolute
amount of credit to private
sector after 2018

e Completion of EDR

e Government achieving IMF
reserve target and primary
balance target
(9M primary balance 3.53% of GDP)

macro events
2024

e GDP growth for 2024-Q3
recording the highest
quarterly growth since
2021-Q2

e Robust growth in earnings
from tourism and workers’
remittances.

o Recovery of textile and
garment exports

e Rupee appreciation
e Credit rating upgrades

o ASPI breaching the 15,000 mark
for the first time in history

Key economic strategies of the Government Figure - 10

Boosting revenue while
prioritising measures that
minimise the impact on

low-income communities.

Proper targeting of social

welfare schemes.

Prioritising FDIs

Digital drive

Promotion of exports

Increase value generated
from tourism

Fostering innovation and
entrepreneurship

Key economic
strategies of the

Government

Supporting women'’s economic

Energy transition and
sustainability

Investment climate
improvement

Agriculture
modernisation

Anti-corruption
and governance reforms

SMEs as the backbone of
economic development

participation
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5 GDP

GDP continued its resurgence in 2024
recording strong growth for all three
published quarters. For the first nine
months, GDP grew by 5.2% compared
to the corresponding period of last year.

According to CBSL, GDP is projected to
have grown by around 5.0% in 2024.

Sri Lanka’s economy is expected to
sustain its growth momentum in
FY 2025, driven by robust
macroeconomic fundamentals and
enhanced fiscal stability.

CBSL expects Sri Lanka economy to
grow around 5% in 2025.

Quarterly GDP Growth Graph-11

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
2023 2024
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policy rate cuts totaling 75 basis in interest rates is anticipated towards 15
points in 2024. CBSL also introduced the end of 2025, driven by increased ————
a single policy rate: Overnight Policy government borrowing. 10
Rate (OPR) discontinuing the previous ST - o+ - = o .
policy rate corridor mechanism. The S <2358 g <2 =08
new policy rate is expected to transmit g g §
the monetary policy decisions to the - - I

markets effectively and efficiently.

:C;ﬁ Credit to Private Sector

low interest rate
environment. In the year
2024, banks had granted
credit worth Rs. 789.6 Bn.
to the private sector.

B : H B Credit to private sector - Month on month movement
Credit to per.ate LOW interest r.ate in absolute terms Rs. Bn. - (RHS)
sector experienced environment is expected %
a significant boost to further boost credit to 15
supported by the private sector in 2025. 10

5
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Credit to Private Sector Graph - 13
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@gj External Sector

In 2024 Sri Lanka'’s Import growth
was around 12% (YoY) and exports
grew by around 7% (YoY) during the
same period.

The most notable improvement was
the recovery of textile and garment
exports which recorded a negative
growth (YoY) up to January - July
but moved to positive growth (YoY)
from August 2024. The growth (YoY)
for 2024 was 3.7%.

Tea, another major export
commodity, too performed well
despite many challenges faced by
the industry.

Robust tourism and workers'
remittances performances ensured
sound foreign inflows throughout
the year.

The CBSLs gross official reserves
improved to USD 6.1 Bn. at end
2024, exceeding the year-end IMF
target of USD 5.5 Bn.

Both imports and exports are
expected to improve in 2025.

Resumption of vehicle imports and
improved consumer demand due
to revisions on personal income
tax will contribute to boost import
expenditure.

Geo political developments may

also have an impact on exports and
imports. Any shock in oil prices may

increase the country’s oil import bill.

Further, anticipated protectionist
trade policies of the new US regime
and a struggling Europe may weigh
on Sri Lanka'’s exports.

Trade Performance (monthly) Graph - 14
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é Exchange Rate

The rupee appreciated against the
US dollar backed by foreign inflows
from multilateral organisations, and
improved earnings from tourism
and workers’ remittances. Further,
foreign outflows were limited aided
by suspension of debt repayments
and vehicle imports.

Relaxation of vehicle imports,
resumption of debt repayments
and increased import demand due
to robust economic performance
are expected to apply pressure

on the exchange rate in FY 2025.
However, the magnitude of the
depreciation will not be as severe as
in 2022. Steady foreign inflows from
a strong tourism sector, healthy
remittance inflows and funding
from multilateral organisations are
expected to mitigate the downward
pressure on the rupee.

Further, the sovereign rating

upgrades will boost investor
sentiment.

USD/LKR Middle Rate Graph - 15
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ﬁ%é Inflation

Inflation remained within
the targets set by the
IMF program in the early
months of 2024.
However, from
September 2024,

Sri Lanka entered a
phase of deflation mainly

Inflation is expected

to remain in negative
territory during the first
half of 2025. However,

it is anticipated to rise
and align with the CBSLs
target range by the end
of 2025.

Inflation - CCPI & NCPI Graph - 16
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due to a drop in food and
energy/utility prices.

The Sri Lankan Banking sector
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[ Key highlights of the Sri Lankan Banking sector in 2024

e Gross loans and receivables (credit)
of the banking sector continued to
grow, while the default risk of the
sector declined during the year as
reflected by the reduction in the non-
performing loan (NPL) ratio.

e During 2024, the Return on Equity
(ROE) of the banking sector also
improved considerably. The Capital
Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of the banking
sector improved during 2024
reflecting the higher growth recorded
in regulatory capital than the Risk
Weighted Assets.

The legal and regulatory framework

of Licensed Banks was strengthened
through the Banking (Amendment) Act
and the issuing of necessary Directions
to licensed banks to facilitate the
effective implementation of the
amendments.

Accordingly, Banking Act Directions
on, inter alia, large exposure, corporate
governance, liquidity ratios, related
party transactions, and offshore
banking business were issued to
Licensed Banks.

Further, the Central Bank developed
the Bank Re-capitalisation Strategy

in line with the roadmap for the
restructuring and re-capitalisation

of nine large domestic banks with

a view to strengthening financial
system stability through an adequately
capitalised banking system.

The Central Bank also strengthened
the resolution framework under the
Banking (Special Provisions) Act (BSPA)
in 2024.

O,

[ Key policies aimed at financial system stability in 2025 by the Central Bank ]

e Exercise regulatory oversight on bank
re-capitalisation strategy

e A framework for market-driven
consolidation of licensed banks

o Further strengthening the regulatory
framework under the Banking
(Amendment) Act

e Coordinate with Colombo Port City
Economic Commission to facilitate the
conduct of offshore banking business

e Implementing phase Il of the
Masterplan for the Consolidation
of Finance Companies

Source: CBSL's Policy Agenda for 2025 and Beyond

Introducing amendments to Finance
Business Act and Finance Leasing Act

Announcements of capital buffers
of Domestic Systemically Important
Banks and identifying Systemically
Important Finance Companies

Launching the Sustainable Finance
Roadmap for Sri Lanka - Version 2.0
Strengthen oversight of banking
sector credit through the use of
appropriate macroprudential tools

Revision of the Payment and
Settlement Systems Act along with
several subsidiary legislations

Operationalise the Government Digital
Payment Platform (GDPP)

Broadening the market conduct
supervision in compliance with
Financial Consumer Protection
Regulations

Display key financial information

enabling consumers to make informed
decisions
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The Bank's performance compared to the Banking sector Table - 05
Banking Sector (*) Commercial Bank Market Share % Banking Sector (¥) Commercial Bank Market Share %
(End September 2024)  (End December 2024) Commercial Bank  (End December2023) (End December2023) Commercial Bank
(End September 2024)
Assets and liabilities (Rs. Tn.)
Gross loans and advances to
other customers 11.252 1.487 13.22 11.021 1.266 11.49
Deposits 17.340 2.237 12.90 16.631 2.085 12.54
Total assets 21.201 2.790 13.16 20.394 2.580 12.65
Profitability (%)
Return on Assets (ROA) - before tax 1.86 3.56 1.49 1.27
Return on Equity (ROE) 12.46 22.06 11.50 9.78
Net Interest Margin (NIM) 4,01 427 3.66 332
Cost to income ratio
(excluding taxes on financial services) (**) 4230 33.85 40.50 36.11
CASA ratio 32.02 38.07 3232 39.23
Asset quality (%)
Stage 3 loans (a) to total loans and
advances (b) 12.63 8.59 12.79 11.34
Net Stage 3 loans (c) to total loans and
advances (b) 12.74 276 12.78 5.85
Stage 3 impairment coverage ratio (d) 52.31 64.61 48.98 4322
Total impairment coverage ratio (e) 8.67 6.89 8.64 7.05
Capital adequacy (%)
Core capital (Tier 1 capital)
adequacy ratio 14.773 14.227 15.206 11.442
Total capital adequacy ratio 18.459 18.142 18.392 15.151
Liquidity (%)
Liquidity Cover Ratio - all currencies 284.43 454.36 288.42 516.27
Credit to total deposits 64.89 66.48 66.27 60.70
y
(*) Banking Sector = Licensed Commercial Banks + Licensed Specialised Banks (Source: CBSL)
(**) The Bank’s ratio has been computed after discounting the net derecognition loss on restructuring of SLISB’s.
Notes:
(a) Excluding undrawn portion
(b) Total loans and advances including Stage 3 loans
(c) Net of Stage 3 impairment (including undrawn portion)
(d) The ratio of Stage 3 impairment to Stage 3 loans
(e) The ratio of total impairment to total loans and advances |
!
=il
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Engaging with our stakeholders

The Bank recognises that meaningful Our stakeholder engagement principles
engagement with stakeholders is critical to our
long-term success. Our stakeholders are the
individuals, groups and organisations as well
as the society and the environment in general,
that materially affect or are materially affected
by our business activities, products, services
and performance. They provide the resources

Our stakeholder engagement process is guided by a set of core principles that ensure
consistency, transparency and accountability across all engagements:

Constructive engagement: Proactively

.@. Accessibility: Ensuring that
e engaging with stakeholders,

stakeholders can readily engage

©)

. A - with us through a range of platforms considering their concerns and
an.d c.a.pltal V\./e need to achleve our stra.teglc and mechanisms. suggestions with an open mind.
priorities, ultimately enabling us to fulfil our
purpose of sustainable value creation while F Transparency: Conducting open and 5=\ Ethical governance: Upholding
safeguarding our social license to operate. honest communications in line with @ integrity and ethical conduct in
By engaging with our stakeholders our Code of Ethics and Conduct and —all ourinteractions, fostering trust and
proactively and constructively, we gain the Communication Policy. confidence.

valuable insights that help us to:

° Shape our strategy to improve our =<7/ legitimate concerns and responding
services and performance appropriately and promptly.
o |dentify material matters and key priorities

@ Responsiveness: Listening to

e Mitigate risks and seize opportunities

e Adapt to an ever-changing operating

environment The Figure 12 illustrates the stakeholder engagement process, reflecting our unwavering

commitment to prioritising stakeholders’ interests, as captured in the tagline, “Our interest is

e Deliver value and care to our stakeholders. . P - . . :
in you”. This commitment underpins transparent and continuous engagement across various

Through ongoing dialogue, we foster platforms, promoting strong collaboration. By incorporating their legitimate concerns and
enduring and mutually beneficial relationships ~ expectations into the strategy, we create value for stakeholders while fostering mutual benefits
that drive shared value creation across the and driving sustainable value creation.

short, medium and long term.

Identifying and prioritising our key stakeholders

Our stakeholder engagement approach involves identifying key stakeholders based on their level of interest in and influence over our business.
The Bank has categorised its stakeholders into three groups, each with tailored engagement strategies:

Our key stakeholders Figure - 11 — These stakeholders require consistent communication
. to maintain trust and support
These stakeholders have the greatest influence
on the Bank'’s operations and are vital for our Business partners A
business continuity: Providers of critical and customised &
solutions that enhance our service delivery.

Investors

(?E Their capital contributions are essential Rt

]
]
S
S

2

£
o
(]
]

X

=

< . .
= for mgetmg regulatory Fapltal adequacy Society & environment
2 requirements and funding growth. @(@
= . .
&) - Ensuring that we qperat.e.responsﬂ?ly
g to secure our social legitimacy while
c GUStOMeTS contributing positively to the communities
: B ) | in which we operate.
= =M Meeting customer expectations is 0
=) fundamental to ensuring the Bank's
ﬁ viability and long-term sustainability. ¢ Maintaining regulatory compliance and
= - fostering positive relationships with these
stakeholders is crucial for operational stability
Employees BT
o8 Government institutions & regulators

' Acting as intermediaries between
the Bank and external stakeholders,
employees play a pivotal role in
delivering our value proposition.

-

Operating in a highly regulated environment, Il
the Bank prioritises compliance with
all applicable regulations and engages
regularly with regulatory bodies to maintain
transparency and accountability.
- High -7 High to moderate - -

We keep satisfied




The context ©
Engaging with our stakeholders

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC  Annual Report 2024 63

Our stakeholder engagement process Figure — 12

Objective: Maintain transparency and close the
loop by communicating outcomes to stakeholders
Key activities: Report initiatives, progress, and
impacts; share feedback and performance
outcomes; re-engage stakeholders if necessary.

Outcome: Enhanced stakeholder trust, measured

e Objective: Identify stakeholder groups and
X understand their interests, concerns, and influence.

e Key activities: Stakeholder mapping, defining
inclusivity, identifying engagement opportunities and
risks, and prioritising based on influence and interest.

e Outcome: A clear map of stakeholders and

success, and insights for continuous improvement.

® Objective: Design and
implement responsive
actions based on stakeholder
feedback.

e Key activities: Develop action
plans, formulate policies and
procedures, conduct
pre-implementation
testing, communicate
timelines, and implement
initiatives.

Outcome: Stakeholder-
driven actions embedded
into business practices for
improved outcomes.

Objective: Analyse feedback
and assess the effectiveness of
engagement efforts.

Key activities: Evaluate results,
determine alignment with materiality
assessments, and prioritise issues for
action based on impact and feasibility.

Outcome: Prioritised list of
stakeholder concerns and insights
for further action or follow-up
engagement.

How we engage

Our stakeholder engagement process

is dynamic, evolving to meet changing
stakeholder expectations and external
conditions. We engage through multiple
channels, including formal meetings,
industry forums, surveys, digital platforms,
social media and feedback mechanisms.
Engagement responsibilities are assigned
to appropriate staff members who are
responsible for reporting stakeholder
concerns and priorities to the relevant
Management and Board committees.

Informed by proactive engagement,
we continuously adapt our business
model, foster innovation and respond
to stakeholder concerns to minimise
reputational risks and enhance efficacy
of strategic planning. Our engagement

prioritised groups for engagement.

Stakeholder
engagement
strategy and
process

channels are two-way, enabling both proactive
outreach and responsive dialogue. This ensures
that stakeholders can initiate interactions while
also allowing us to raise pertinent matters.

Engagement mechanisms
and frequency

Recognising the evolving engagement
landscape, particularly the shift towards
digital platforms, we employ a mix of

formal and informal mechanisms to ensure
continuity, inclusivity, and responsiveness.
Our engagement with each stakeholder group
is focused on managing key value/risk drivers
to ensure alignment with our strategic goals.
The key engagement mechanisms, topics
discussed, concerns raised, and the Bank'’s
responses to stakeholders are detailed in
Figure 13 on pages 64 and 65.

e Obijective: Establish the
strategy for engagement.

e Key activities: Set
objectives, scope, and
timelines; prioritise
stakeholders; determine
engagement modes;
allocate resources; align
with strategic goals.

Outcome: A comprehensive
engagement plan tailored
to stakeholder needs

and aligned with the
organisation’s strategic
priorities.

"”6u19595ua 6\1\.““2\6

® Objective: Conduct meaningful
engagements with stakeholders to
gather insights and feedback.

e Key activities: Engage purposefully
using bespoke methods, collect
feedback through surveys, interviews,
meetings, and consultations.

e Outcome: Insights and feedback

gathered for evaluation and
prioritisation.

Leveraging stakeholder engagement
for strategic advantage

Our stakeholder engagement process not
only strengthens our relationships but

also enhances our ability to anticipate and respond

to emerging trends, risks and opportunities.
By integrating stakeholder feedback into our

strategy, we are able to drive innovation, improve

service delivery and contribute meaningfully to
economic and social development.

In 2024, our enhanced focus on stakeholder
engagement was instrumental in refining our
material matters, prioritising key initiatives and
aligning our Sustainability Framework with
stakeholder expectations. As we move forward,
we remain committed to deepening our
engagement efforts, ensuring that stakeholder
interests continue to shape our value
creation journey.
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Mode and frequency of stakeholder engagement Figure — 13

Engagement mechanism
and frequency

d

Key topics discussed and
concerns raise

Bank’s response to
stakeholders

\%

= Investors
=

Engagement mechanism Frequency

\ée“fgﬁ Customers

Engagement mechanism Frequency

Annual Reports and AGMs Annually Customer visits As required
Extraordinary General Meetings As required Complaints received As required
Interim financial statements Quarterly Complaints resolution officer As required
Investor presentations As required ComBank BIZ Club Continuous
Press conferences and releases As required Branch network, call centre and digital channels Continuous
Announcements to CSE As required Social media platforms Continuous
One-to-one discussions As required Corporate website Continuous
Investors’ section in the Corporate website Continuous Customer workshops As required
Feedback surveys As required Relationship managers Continuous

Engagement mechanism
and frequency
v

® Financial performance and © Non-Performing Credit Facilities ® Swift service Access to financial services
di_vi.dend policy (NPCF) ar‘1d impairment charges @ Customer security and privacy Enrolment to digital platforms -]
® Digital Roadmap of the Bank ©® Anoverview of the economy and e Service quality Operationalising of CBSL E
® The outlook of the interest rates the outlook of the Banking sector o Affordability of servi d N — T
and the exchange rates @ Economic slowdown due to lack BTy abl s cesan ) ) 29
® Business expansion plans and of policy consistency convenience Financial support for women a ¥
key strategies @ Outcome of the debt ® Grievance handling CHUCDICHEUIS 2w >
® Risk management and restructuring programme and mechanism E g
governance framework in place its impact to the Bank ® Financial education and v 2
® Rising taxes in the financial ® Sustainability and Climate literacy g- S
industry related developments ® Financial support for revival =
© Resilience to adverse economic of business Q
conditions in the countries the
Bank operates
® Robust Risk Management and ® Improvements to service @ Increasing the number of
Governance Framework delivery channels to support Agriculture & Microfinance
® Optimum level of liquidity and customers Units
prudent capital management ® Setting up Digital Experience
® Digitalisation of customer Zones to help customers
journey gradually migrate to digital
® Use of data analytics for channels
decision making © Offering concessions to
® Cost optimisation strategies individuals and businesses °
. X by restructuring and -
® Prudentimpairment X L v wn
L rescheduling loan facilities to w2
provisioning support during challenging g %
® Financial planning based on times ] N
gt . . ® Non-financial support to SMEs g
© Board approved dividend policy and Micro Businesses L =
® Assisted SME customers with = w
financial literacy programmes -]
© Offering a range of products
and services to suit customer
requirements
® Setting up of a Customer
Experience Unit to further
enhance the service quality
@ Setting up of Business Revival

and Rehabilitation unit

m Message from the Chairman on pages 32 to 34, Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer’s Review on pages 35 to 37, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 83 to 151,
Financial Statements from pages 285 to 458.
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%% Employees

Engagement mechanism Frequency

® Society and
&?% environment

Engagement mechanism  Frequency

A .
S Business partners
2D

Engagement mechanism  Frequency

2 Government institutions

N7 and regulators

Engagement mechanism Frequency

Managers’ Conference Annually Multiple delivery Continuous Supplier relationship  As required On site and off site As required
Town hall meetings Annually channels management examinations
Regional review meetings Quarterly Press releases, As required On—si.te visits and As required Directives and circulars Continuous
- , - conferences and meetings Meetings and consultations  As required
Regional Managers’ meetings Monthly media briefinas
Branch marketing meetings Monthly J Press releases As required
— - Informal briefings and  As required Periodic returns As specified
Training programmes As required communications . N N
- Submissions to policymakers ~As required
Intranet Continuous Public events As required : -
= Responses to consultation  As specified
Special staff events Annually Corporate website Continuous papers on Directions and
Trade union discussions As required other regulations

Employee satisfaction survey As required

Attending training programs  As required

Performance evaluation and rewards
Career advancement opportunities
Training and development

Work-life balance

Retirement benefit plans

Diversity and inclusion

Workplace safety

Stability of the Bank

Staff benefits

Responsible financing
Community engagement
Financial inclusion
Microfinance and SME
Ethics and business conduct
Environmental stewardship
Employment opportunities

¢ Contractual performance

® Continued business
opportunities

® Maintaining healthy
relationships

e Timely settlement of dues

e Collaboration for new
technological advances in the
financial sector

® Compliance with directives and
codes

® Provision of financial support to
mandatory industries

® Stability of the financial system

© Migration to cashless payment
platforms

® Supporting economic recovery and
growth

® A group of identified potential
branch Managers were enrolled to a
Leadership Development Program
conducted by the Postgraduate
Institute of Management (PIM)

® Special Virtual training programs were
conducted targeting Branch Managers,
Assistant Branch Managers and
Executive Officers covering technical
and soft skills

© Migration of employee engagement
and development programmes to
digital platforms

® The Bank remains committed to
the principles of equal opportunity
irrespective of gender, age, race,
disability or religion in all its HR
management processes

® The Collective Agreement with the
Bank’s branch of the Ceylon Bank
Employees’ Union (CBEU) was renewed
for a further 3-year period in 2023

® Launched a leadership programme for
21 female employees

® Introduced Al-driven learning
management systems

® Financial literacy programmes for
prospective SMEs and Micros

© Donation of fully-equipped IT
laboratories to schools and other
institutions

® Donation of critical medical
equipment to government
hospitals

©® Mangrove plants were planted
to protect lagoons

® Setup of STEM classrooms and
maths labs in rural schools

® Completion of plantation of
100,000 trees under “Trees for
tomorrow” programme

® Collaboration with National
Water Supply and Drainage Board
to plant a further 100,000 trees

@ Organised trade fairs and
networking events to connect
SMEs with larger markets,
distributors, and buyers

© Clear communication of Bank’s
policies and procedures

® Honouring payments in a timely
manner upon delivery

@ Continuous engagement

® Supplier education to improve
their business processes

® Supplier workshops for over
50 participants

® The adoption of an
e-procurement system

® Remaining compliant with
regulatory requirements

® Timely submission of regulatory
reports and returns

© Timely payment of tax payments and
furnishing of tax returns. During the
year, the Bank paid Rs. 30.6 Bn. as taxes
on its profits to the government

@ Aligning internal strategies to support
growth and revival of the economy

@ Having processes to collect and
remit indirect taxes on behalf of the
government. During the year, the Bank
collected and remitted Rs. 10.5 Bn. as
taxes to the government
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Evolving landscape and
strategic adaptation

In the post-COVID-19 era, the banking
industry has experienced significant
transformation, driven by the acceleration

of digital adoption, evolving customer
expectations and heightened sustainability
considerations. The Bank has navigated these
changes by proactively enhancing its

digital services, fostering a customer-centric
culture and embedding sustainability into its
core strategy.

Our continued investment in digital
innovation, coupled with a strong
commitment to customer experience,
has not only transformed our service
delivery but also enabled us to support
stakeholders in embracing digital platforms
and environmentally-conscious practices. In
tandem, we have remained vigilant of global
and local economic trends, ensuring financial
stability through robust liquidity and capital
buffers, proactive risk management and
sound governance practices.

Our approach to materiality

The principle of materiality forms the
foundation of our Integrated Report,
incorporating an analysis of the external
environment through a double materiality
perspective. This approach encompasses
two dimensions: Impact materiality, which
considers the outward effects of the Bank’s
operations on the society, the environment,
and the economy, and Financial materiality,
which examines the inward impacts of
external environmental and social changes
on the Bank’s capacity to create, protect, and
sustain value for stakeholders over the short,
medium, and long term.

Identifying these material matters is a
collaborative effort that involves inputs from
various business/service units and active
engagement with stakeholders, ensuring
that the Bank remains aligned with the
expectations of its key stakeholder groups.
This assessment is not limited to Bank’s
own operations but includes upstream and
downstream value chain. Once identified,
these material matters (impacts, risks and
opportunities) are prioritised based on their
relevance and potential impact on earnings
sustainability, strategic goals and long-term
value creation. The identified material topics
are reviewed and validated annually during
the strategic planning process. By aligning
these insights with our strategic planning,
we ensure our approach remains robust,
forward-looking and responsive to evolving
stakeholder expectations.

Annual Report 2024

Integrating material matters into
strategy and governance

To ensure effective management of material
matters, we integrate the material matters
into our strategic planning and performance
management processes. Accountability for
managing material topics is assigned to the
heads of relevant divisions, with resources
allocated based on their significance in
achieving the Bank's strategic objectives.
These material topics are then embedded
into the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) of
Key Management Personnel (KMP) to drive
alignment with corporate goals.

The Bank has developed a comprehensive
set of policies that promote ethical,
transparent and sustainable business
practices, ensuring that all staff members
adhere to the highest standards of conduct.
These policies are reviewed periodically by
the Board of Directors to ensure they remain
relevant and are monitored by the Integrated
Risk Management Department (IRMD),
which reports to the BIRMC.

In addition, the Bank has established
grievance handling mechanisms, ensuring
that stakeholder concerns are addressed
promptly. Social and environmental
screening is conducted for lending activities
and business partnerships to ensure
responsible engagement. Periodic internal
and external audits further enhance the
integrity of our approach by ensuring
adherence to established policies and
procedures. Findings from these audits
are reported to the Board of Directors and
relevant Management Committees for review
and corrective action, if any.

This rigorous governance framework
ensures that the Bank’s material matters are
effectively managed, contributing to its overall
resilience and sustainability. Additionally,
sustainability-related risks and opportunities,
identified based on financial materiality as
defined by SLFRS S1 and S2, are detailed on
pages 276 to 278 of this Report.

Materiality determination process

Since conducting our initial materiality
assessment, we have continuously refreshed
our analysis each year, incorporating
insights from annual strategic planning
exercises, stakeholder feedback and globally
recognised frameworks such as the GRI
Standards and SLFRS S1 and S2. This year,
we enhanced the clarity and structure of our
material matters by grouping related issues
into six broader Thematic Material Matters
and 28 value/risk drivers under them.

© The context

Thematic material matters and
value/risk drivers
Below is a structured presentation of the

six Thematic Material Matters and their
corresponding value/risk drivers:

01. Risk, compliance, and
governance

Effective risk management, adherence
to regulations and strong governance
practices are critical for safeguarding
stakeholder interests and maintaining
operational integrity.

Credit risk and asset quality
Cybersecurity and data privacy

Regulatory compliance and
ethical conduct

Risk management framework
Fraud prevention

Corporate governance
Reputation management

02. Financial performance and
economic contribution

Ensuring sustained financial performance
and contributing to economic growth are
central to the Bank'’s long-term success.

Financial performance and
capital adequacy

Asset and liability management
Economic impact and contribution

Strategic partnerships

03. Customer centricity and
experience

Delivering exceptional customer
experiences remains a key driver of our
business success.

Customer satisfaction and service
quality

Customer experience

Product diversification

Social media influence

ation and
ansformation

Innovation and digital transformation
are integral to staying ahead in a rapidly
evolving financial landscape.

.1 ] Digital transformation
2 Technological infrastructure

3] Competitive advantage through
technology

4 Sustainable finance products
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05. ESG and sustainability

Our commitment to sustainability is reflected

in our focus on environmental stewardship,

social responsibility and governance

excellence.

Climate change and environmental
impact

Social responsibility and community
engagement

Alignment with SDGs
Supply chain sustainability
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06. People and community

Our people are at the heart of our success
and our community engagement drives
inclusive growth.

Employee development and retention
Health and safety

Work-life balance

Financial inclusion

Community engagement

Double materiality matrix Figure - 14

High

Medium

Impact on people and environment (Impact materiality)
Low

Low

Scan to understand the
rationale behind our
materiality matrix

Medium

Financial impact on the Bank (Financial materiality)

Transforming risks into opportunities

Each identified risk driver, when effectively
managed, presents an opportunity of a
value driver for the Bank to create, preserve
or sustain value and in certain instances,

to prevent value erosion. This approach
reflects our strategic view that robust risk

management is not merely about mitigating

potential threats but about unlocking

opportunities for innovation, operational
efficiency and long-term value creation.
By embedding a proactive risk
management framework into our business
model, we are able to anticipate potential
disruptions, respond effectively and
leverage emerging opportunities. For
example, managing credit risk through
stringent underwriting standards and
predictive analytics not only protects
profitability but also fosters customer
confidence and trust. Similarly, addressing
cybersecurity and data privacy through
advanced technological measures and
training enhances regulatory compliance
and builds a competitive edge. Likewise,
focusing on sustainability and ESG risks,
such as climate change, opens avenues
for green financing and reinforces our
commitment to responsible banking.
This integrated approach ensures that
both risks and opportunities are woven
into our strategy, enabling us to deliver
sustained value to stakeholders across
short, medium and long-term horizons.

Ongoing commitment

We remain committed to regularly
reviewing and refining our material
matters to ensure alignment with evolving
stakeholder expectations and global

best practices. Looking ahead, a formal
materiality assessment and stakeholder
analysis will be undertaken in 2025 as part
of our preparation for adopting SLFRS S1
and S2, which would further enhance the
depth and accuracy of our reporting.

Following our commitment to
integrating risk management and value
creation, the Table 06 on pages 68 to
71 presents a structured analysis of the
Bank’s 28 identified material matters.

This tabulation serves as a comprehensive
framework linking key risk and value
drivers to strategic actions and broader
sustainability goals. It highlights how
each material matter influences the Bank’s
strategy, the capitals it impacts, and the
corresponding sustainability pillars

under our Sustainability Framework.

It also outlines proactive management
measures, opportunities for innovation,
and alignment with the SDGs and the

GRl indicators.
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Material matters - Holistic view Table - 06

Value/Risk Driver

Risks

Opportunities

Impact on Strategy

Relevant Capital(s)

Thematic material matter 1: Risk, Compliance, and Governance

1.1 Credit risk and
asset quality

Deterioration in asset quality
undermines profitability, stifles
growth and erodes stakeholder
confidence

Well-managed asset quality
enhances profitability, enables
growth and elevates stakeholder
confidence

Allocation of resources for
technological innovations
(predictive analytics, use case
development) and training &
development.

[

1.2 Cybersecurity and
data privacy

Data breaches damage reputation
and cause financial losses.

Strong cybersecurity boosts
customer trust and regulatory
compliance.

Investment in IT infrastructure
and cybersecurity systems.

©

1.3 Regulatory
compliance and
ethical conduct

Non-compliance results in
regulatory penalties and
reputational damage.

Compliance ensures operational
stability and trust from
stakeholders.

Strengthening internal
controls and ethical practices.

1.4 Risk management
framework

Insufficient risk management
increases vulnerability to market
shocks.

Effective risk management
enhances resilience and
stakeholder confidence.

Integration of risk
management into strategic
planning.

1.5 Fraud prevention

Fraud incidents lead to financial
losses and regulatory scrutiny.

Proactive prevention protects
assets and reputation.

Enhancing fraud detection
mechanisms and response
capabilities.

1.6 Corporate
governance

Weak governance erodes
stakeholder confidence and
attracts scrutiny.

Strong governance fosters
long-term sustainability and
investor trust.

Continuous improvement of
governance practices.

1.7 Reputation
management

Negative perception affects brand
value and customer loyalty.

Positive reputation strengthens
competitive positioning.

Strategic communication and
stakeholder engagement.

Thematic material matter 2: Financial performance and economic contribution

2.1 Financial
performance and
capital adequacy

Poor financial performance
hampers growth and weakens
stakeholder confidence.

Strong performance enhances
investor trust and capital inflows,
creating leeway for growth.

Focus on liquidity
management, cost efficiency
and capital optimisation.

2.2 Asset and liability
management

Asset-liability mismatches impact
liquidity and profitability.

Effective management ensures
financial stability and profitability.

Enhancing balance sheet
structure and liquidity buffers

2.3 Economic impact
and contribution

Limited contribution may reduce
stakeholder goodwill and
partnerships.

Significant contribution enhances
goodwill and partnerships.

Supporting local economic
development initiatives.

2.4 Strategic
partnerships

Failure to leverage partnerships
limits innovation and growth.

Successful partnerships improve
customer value and operational
efficiency.

Pursuing collaborative
opportunities with fintechs
and tech firms.

Thematic material matter 3: Customer centricity and experience

3.1 Customer
satisfaction and
service quality

Poor service quality leads to
customer attrition and loss of
revenue.

High satisfaction enhances loyalty
and lifetime value of customers.

Continuous service
improvement and customer
feedback integration.

3.2 Customer

Inconsistent experience reduces

Seamless experience strengthens

Enhancing omnichannel

experience customer trust brand loyalty. service delivery.
and engagement.
3.3 Product Limited product offerings reduce  Diverse offerings improve Expanding product portfolio

diversification

market competitiveness.

customer reach and market share.

and cross-selling strategies.

3.4 Social media
influence

Negative social media exposure
damages brand reputation.

Active presence enhances
customer engagement and
competitive advantage.

Leveraging social media for
proactive engagement and
insights.
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Bank’s Sustainability
Framework pillar

Management Measures

Relevant SDG(s)

GRI Disclosure

PSS Rigorous underwriting standards, predictive analytics, GRI 201: Economic performance
=@ credit scoring models, early warning systems,
post-disbursement monitoring.
PSS Robust cybersecurity policies, IT audits, penetration testing, GRI 418: Customer Privacy
=@ real-time monitoring, cybersecurity awareness training.
Lo AML, KYC, and CDD compliance, regular compliance audits, GRI 2-27: Compliance with laws and regulations
= policy updates, ethics training.
PN Enterprise risk management, stress testing, dedicated GRI 201: Economic performance
=@ risk committees, integration of risk appetite into
decision-making.
PN Advanced fraud detection systems, Al-based monitoring, GRI 205:
=@ collaboration with regulators, continuous improvement Anti-corruption
of controls.
Lo Board oversight, diversity, independence, regular Board GRI 2-9 Governance Structure and composition
=;|; evaluations, ESG-linked executive incentives. GRI 2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest

governance body
GRI 2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the
highest governance body

I

Crisis communication planning, media monitoring,
thought leadership initiatives, stakeholder trust-building,
ethical leadership.

GRI 2-23 Policy Commitments
GRI 2-25 Processes to remediate negative
impacts

Liquidity management, profitability metrics, operational
efficiency, cost-optimisation initiatives, capital planning
through ICAAP.

GRI 201: Economic performance

Dynamic balance sheet management, liquidity stress
testing, diversified funding sources, contingency funding
plans, active monitoring of mismatches.

GRI 201: Economic performance

Support for SMEs and start-ups, public-private
partnerships, regional economic development,
job creation, responsible lending, fiscal responsibility.

GRI 201: Economic performance
GRI 203: Indirect economic impacts

® B b B

Collaborations with fintechs, tech partnerships, regular
partnership outcome evaluations, co-creation of products
and services.

GRI 2-6: Activities, value chain and other
business relationships

SLA monitoring, NPS tracking, feedback mechanisms,
dedicated CRM teams, Al-driven customer support,
complaint resolution mechanisms.

GRI 2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement

Simplified processes, personalisation, omnichannel access,
data-driven personalisation.

GRI 2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement

Expanding product portfolio, continuous market research,
co-branded financial products, financial inclusion products,
digital solutions.

GRI 2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement

5 & B &

Proactive issue resolution via social media, engaging
content creation, targeted campaigns, social media as a
service and engagement channel.

GRI 2-25 Processes to remediate negative
impacts
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Value/Risk Driver

Risks

Opportunities

Impact on Strategy

Relevant Capital(s)

Thematic material matter 4: Innovation and digital transformation

4.1 Digital
transformation

Slow digital adoption hampers
competitiveness and growth.

Accelerated adoption drives
innovation and customer
satisfaction.

Implementing a forward-
looking digital roadmap.

4.2 Technological
infrastructure

Outdated infrastructure limits
scalability and operational
efficiency.

Advanced infrastructure enhances

agility and service delivery.

Investing in scalable and
resilient IT systems.

4.3 Competitive
advantage through
technology

Failure to innovate reduces
market competitiveness.

Innovation strengthens market
leadership and differentiation.

Continuous investment in
emerging technologies.

4.4 Sustainable finance
products

Limited green financing reduces
alignment with ESG goals.

Sustainable finance enhances
market positioning and ESG
credentials.

Expanding ESG-aligned
product offerings.

@ @ g ®

Thematic material matter 5: ESG and sustainability

5.1 Climate change
and environmental
impact

Failure to address climate risks
undermines stakeholder trust.

Proactive environmental action
strengthens brand value.

Aligning operations with
environmental goals.

5.2 Social responsibility
and community
engagement

Weak social responsibility reduces
stakeholder engagement

Strong engagement builds
community goodwill.

Integrating community
programs into business
strategy.

5.3 Alignment with
SDGs

Misalignment with global
goals impacts reputation and
stakeholder trust.

Alignment enhances credibility
and opens new partnership
opportunities.

Embedding ESG criteria in
operations and lending.

5.4 Supply chain
sustainability

Non-compliance by vendors
can damage reputation and
operations.

Sustainable procurement
enhances trust and operational
resilience.

Strengthening vendor
risk management and
procurement policies.

Thematic material matter 6: People and community

6.1 Employee
development and
retention

High attrition rates reduce
productivity and increase costs.

Talent development enhances
employee engagement and
innovation.

Investing in training and
career development
programs.

6.2 Health and safety

Poor health and safety standards
reduce employee morale and
performance.

Strong standards enhance
employee well-being and
productivity.

Promoting health and safety
as a core value.

6.3 Work-life balance

Poor work-life balance leads
to burnout and reduced
productivity.

Balanced work-life improves
morale and retention.

Encouraging flexible work
arrangements.

6.4 Financial inclusion

Exclusion of underserved
communities limits market
potential.

Inclusion drives market expansion
and social impact.

Expanding financial inclusion
initiatives.

6.5 Community
engagement

Limited community involvement
affects social license to operate.

Active engagement builds
goodwill and strengthens
relationships.

Strengthening CSR initiatives.
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Bank’s Sustainability Management Measures
Framework pillar

Relevant SDG(s)

GRI Disclosure

Lo Digital roadmap, fintech adoption, change management, GRI 2-6: Activities, value chain and other
=@ digital-first culture, mobile and online banking business relationships

enhancements.
<o IT resilience, cloud computing, Al integration, blockchain, GRI 2-6: Activities, value chain and other
=@ scalable infrastructure, disaster recovery. business relationships
PN R&D for financial technologies, predictive analytics, GRI 2-6: Activities, value chain and other
=@ customer-centric innovation, leveraging digital tools, business relationships

fostering a culture of innovation.
PN Green finance solutions, sustainability bonds, partnerships GRI 2-6: Activities, value chain and other
=@ for green programs, ESG-aligned financial products. business relationships
Lo gg Green finance, carbon reduction targets, eco-friendly GRI 305: Emissions
=@ E@ branches, paperless banking, renewable energy adoption.

Responsible lending, community development
partnerships, promoting financial literacy, charitable
contributions.

GRI 203: Indirect economic impacts

ESG integration in operations, SDG-linked targets,
stakeholder engagement, impact measurement,
periodic progress reporting.

GRI 203: Indirect economic impacts

Responsible and sustainable procurement,
vendor risk assessments, local sourcing initiatives.

e @ o

GRI 2-6: Activities, value chain and other
business relationships

Talent management, leadership training, mentorship
programs, competitive benefits, diversity and inclusion
initiatives.

GRI 404: Training and education
GRI 405: Diversity and equal opportunity

Workplace safety initiatives, mental health support,
employee assistance programs, regular safety drills.

GRI 403: Occupational health and safety

Flexible work arrangements, remote work options,
wellness programs, recreational facilities.

GRI 403: Occupational health and safety

Microfinance products, rural outreach programmes,
services for underserved communities, financial
literacy initiatives.

GRI 203: Indirect economic impacts

CSRinitiatives, volunteer programmes, investments in
education, healthcare and livelihoods, periodic
community impact assessments.

o B B B

GRI 203: Indirect economic impacts
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Business model for sustainable value creation

Bank’s sustainabili

Sustainability forms a core part of the Bank'’s
strategy, with a commitment to driving
long-term value creation through economic,
social and environmental stewardship. Our
Sustainability Framework, outlined in Figure 15,
follows a holistic approach with three

ty framework

foundational pillars — Sustainable Banking,
Responsible Organisation and Community
Engagement - anchoring our efforts to deliver
meaningful and measurable outcomes for all
stakeholders.

Purpose-driven sustainability

Our sustainability efforts are driven by our
clearly defined purpose through which we
aim to create shared value while ensuring
minimal adverse impact on the environment.

Bank’s sustainability framework Fig

Guiding principles and
standards

PURPOSE

To be a responsible financial services provider by enabling and
empowering people, enterprises and communities towards
environmentally-responsible, socially-inclusive and economically-

® CBSL Roadmap for Sustainable
Finance in Sri Lanka and CBSL
Direction on Sustainable

Finance Activities enriching

ure — 15

growth.

Memberships and
affiliations

® Sri Lanka Banks’ Association
Sustainable Banking
Initiative — Core Group
Member

© Sustainable Banking Principles
of Sri Lanka Bank’s Association

@ United Nations Global Compact
Principles

© UN Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs)

© GRI Standards - Issued by the
Global Sustainability Standards
Board (GSSB)

® Sustainability Accounting
Standards for Commercial
Banks — Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board
(SASB) of the IFRS Foundation

© Business Continuity
Management

® International Standard -
1SO 22301:2012

® [FC’s 8 Performance Standards
on Social and Environmental
Sustainability

® ISO 14064-1-2018
Greenhouse gases

@ |FC’s Climate Assessment Tool
for Financial Institutions

@ UN-approved Environment
Impact Index for financial
transactions

® RoHS (Restriction of Hazardous
Substances) Directive

. e(\
rop e
Mental enge?

Sofial engage\"f\e‘\‘

Social enterpris®
CO e(\“
""T)um'ty engage‘“
Pillar 3

@ UN Global Compact
Sri Lanka - Steering
Committee

© Biodiversity Sri Lanka

@ United Nations
Development Programme

® International Finance
Corporation

@ Green Building Council
of Sri Lanka

© UNGC Climate Ambition
Accelerator Initiative

® Herpetological Foundation
of Sri Lanka

© Wild Life and Ocean Resource
Conservation (WORC)
organisation of Sri Lanka

@ Ceylon Bank Employees’
Union (CBEU)

@ Association of Commercial
Bank Executives (ACBE)

® Energy Star™ Rating

® Payment Card Industry Data

Commitment to United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

Security Standard (PCI-DSS)

Certification iy

EDUCATION

L]

GENDER
QALY

¢

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMIC GRONTH

o

9ioimsmane 112 oo [ 13 5
S

17 omersues

FORTHEGOALS
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™

Guidelines and policies: ESMS Guidelines | Group Social and Environmental Policy | Green Financing Policy

Governing committees: Executive Sustainability Committee | Sustainability Working Commiittee (SWC)
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Bank'’s sustainability framework

The three pillars of our Sustainability
Framework encompass the following key
focus areas:

Sustainable banking

This pillar emphasises
responsible financing,
financial inclusion and the
development of sustainable
products and services that
meet both current and
emerging stakeholder
needs.

5

Responsible organisation
Q@, As a responsible institution,
we focus on creating a
green and safe workplace,
conducive workplace
culture and promoting a
sustainable supply chain.

Community engagement
@ We strengthen our social
license to operate by
actively engaging in
environmental initiatives,
supporting social
enterprises and contributing
to community development.

Our framework aligns with globally
recognised sustainability standards, including
the UN Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs), with a specific focus on eight SDGs
most relevant to our business operations.

A pioneering identity in sustainability

On January 1, 2024, we launched our
evolved logo, integrating a green element to
symbolise our unwavering commitment to
sustainability. As the first corporate in

Sri Lanka to incorporate such an element into
its corporate identity, we have strengthened
our position as a leader in ESG initiatives.

This refreshed identity reflects our
dedication to fostering diversity, inclusivity,
good governance, transparency and eco-
friendly financial solutions. Through this
visual transformation, we have reinforced our
long-standing commitment to sustainability,
underscoring our efforts to integrate ESG
principles into every facet of our operations.

ESG and organisational oversight

A robust governance structure underpins
our sustainability initiatives, ensuring
alignment with regulatory standards,
stakeholder expectations and best practices.

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Our Executive Sustainability Committee,
which convenes quarterly, oversees the
Bank’s sustainability strategy, monitors its
implementation across the organisation,

and reports to the BIRMC. This committee

is supported by the Sustainability Working
Committee (SWC), tasked with evaluating
proposed sustainability initiatives, assessing
their impact and ensuring alignment with the
Bank’s broader ESG goals.

In 2024, we further strengthened our
sustainability related policy framework by
introducing the Board-approved Diversity,
Equity and Inclusion (DE&I) Policy and further
enhanced our internal reporting processes
to ensure transparent disclosure of our
sustainability performance.

Through internal engagement platforms
like intranet and ComPulse, we continue to
educate our staff on sustainable practices,
fostering a culture of environmental
responsibility.

Connecting sustainability to our
business model

Our Sustainability Framework is intricately
linked with the Bank’s Business Model, which
revolves around financial intermediation
and maturity transformation. As a financial
intermediary, we play a crucial role

in converting deposits into loans and
investments, thereby driving economic
growth. Our Statement of Capital Position
(refer pages 76 and 77) highlights how we
draw on six forms of capital — Financial,
Manufactured, Intellectual, Human, Social
& Relationship and Natural - to create
sustainable value.

By integrating sustainability into our
Business Model, we ensure:

(\Z, Prudent financial
intermediation: Responsible
allocation of financial resources
that balances profitability with
long-term societal impact.

Q',‘ Resilience through maturity
transformation: Conversion of
short-term funds into long-term
lending, underpinned by robust
risk management practices.

Q) Stakeholder-centric value
creation: A continuous process
of leveraging inputs from
various capitals to generate
outputs and outcomes that
benefit our stakeholders.
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Statement of capital position and
stakeholder returns

The Statement of Capital Position offers a
snapshot of how we manage and transform
our six capitals for value creation. In 2024, we
recorded notable growth in both our deposit
base and lending portfolio, demonstrating
effective financial intermediation. Our ability
to consistently generate net interest income
and fee-based income underscores the
strength of our business model.

As part of our commitment to
stakeholder value creation, we seek to
diversify our revenue streams through
strategic partnerships and regional
expansion. Notably, our partnership with
IFC to build a supply chain financing strategy
exemplifies our approach to leveraging
strategic collaborations for mutual growth,
while aligning with our sustainability
principles.

Gearing and risk mitigation

Gearing is a key differentiator in our Business
Model, enabling us to mobilise deposits

and expand our loan book. However, given
the inherent risks of high leverage, our risk
management framework ensures that we
maintain an optimal balance between growth
and stability. By continuously monitoring our
capital adequacy and risk-weighted assets,
we safeguard the Bank’s financial health and
long-term viability.

The gearing strategy forms a critical
component of our financial operations,
allowing us to amplify our capacity for
lending and investment. This strategy,
while essential for scaling our business,
is complemented by a comprehensive
risk management framework to mitigate
potential risks associated with high leverage.

Our integrated approach to sustainability
and business strategy positions the Bank
as a resilient and forward-thinking financial
institution. By aligning our operations
with global sustainability standards and
embedding ESG principles into our core
Business Model, we are well-equipped to
create lasting value for all stakeholders.
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Business model

Our Business Model and the Sustainability Framework are closely integrated, ensuring that our strategic imperatives, value generating activities
and outcomes contribute to our overarching purpose and sustainability goals. This linkage allows us to balance economic performance with
social and environmental stewardship, creating enduring value for all stakeholders.

VALUE GENERATING ACTIVITIES >

Core and support activities that drive growth, foster positive stakeholder

INPUTS >

Essential resources and capital elements that fuel value-
generating activities, driving sustainable growth and long-term
value creation. Please refer to page 76 of the Statement of
Capital Position for the opening capital position as at 1 January
2024 representing the different capitals accumulated over
the past 105 years.

)

Financial capital - supports funding
and liquidity management

e Shareholders’ funds

e Borrowings

e Customer deposits

@ Lines of credit

@ Investment portfolios

e Financial covenants

&

Manufactured capital - enables physical

and digital accessibility for customers
Corporate offices and data centres

Automated Banking Centres

POS terminals and payment gateways

Cloud infrastructure and server networks

Mobile banking applications

Branch refurbishments and eco-friendly buildings
Public goods

&
=)

8,

Intellectual capital - drives innovation,
competitiveness and strategic differentiation
Institutionalised knowledge

Brand equity

Proprietary processes

Risk management models and frameworks
Training modules

Data analytics and Business Intelligence tools
Customer insights and market intelligence

oo 00000

=)

5

4

Human capital - essential for superior customer
experience & operational excellence

e Talent pipeline and succession planning

Employee engagement and satisfaction programs
Diversity and inclusion initiatives

Leadership & skills development programs

Cultural alignment & value-driven behaviour
Occupational health & safety protocols

Equal opportunities

Social & relationship capital - strengthens social
legitimacy and fosters long-term collaboration

e« Customer trust and loyalty

Supplier and vendor networks

Industry partnerships and affiliations

Advocacy and public policy engagement
Contribution to the Bank’s CSR Trust and its initiatives
Brand reputation and loyalty programs

Natural capital - minimises environmental footprint
through sustainable operations

@ Renewable energy initiatives

Waste management and recycling programs

Green buildings and eco-friendly construction
Sustainable procurement practices

Biodiversity conservation efforts

Climate transition plan

Environmental & Social Management System (ESMS)

@

(© Business model for sustainable value creation

engagement and manage risk, transforming inputs into outputs and outcomes
that create sustainable value across all capitals.

Vision

1 STEWARDSHIP I
|
J 3 3 12
Capital Governance Risk Governance Funding and
Management Structure and Management | [Liquidity Management
(refer page 79) (refer page 197) (refer page 254) (refer page 88)
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(refer page 81) Data Analytics (refer page 82) (refer page 82)
(refer page 82) e
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Values

(A comprehensive account of the key activities undertaken throughout the
year to create and enhance stakeholder value, contributing to the growth of all
capitals, can be found in the MD&A on pages 83 to 151.)

l

)\

Feedback loop
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Figure - 16
OUTPUTS > OUTCOMES IMPACTS
The products, services and other The tangible and intangible value delivered to stakeholders High-level, long-term results achieved through sustainable
deliverables generated through through the Bank’s activities, reflecting sustainable growth value creation, reflecting the Bank’s positive influence
the Bank’s core activities, aimed at across financial, social and environmental dimensions. on stakeholders, the financial sector, and the broader
meeting stakeholder needs and Please refer to page 76 of the Statement of Capital Position economy. Impacts validate the robustness and resilience

fostering sustainable value creation. for the closing capital position as at 31 December, 2024, of the Bank’s business model.
representing the accumulated capitals over the years.

-

1 Sustainable banking

Highest market capitalisation among all Fls on the CSE

S e Green financing and sustainable products ¢
m C@ - - . @ ® Sustained profitability and shareholder returns
=? S o Digital financial inclusion Higher-tier D-SIB
® Higher-tier D-
Loans & Investments e SME and Women entrepreneur support @ 9 . .
advances o ESG criteria int " e Leaderin SME lending
criteria integration e Highest CASA ratio among all commercial banks
o Affordable and inclusive finance o Growth in market share:
e Financial literacy programmes
. . . Market Share
g ¢¢¢¢ e Sustainable lending practices indicator 3024 (%) 2023 %)
Deposits Forex Deposits 12.90 12.54
products Loans & advances 13.22 11.49

Total assets 13.16 12.65
Exports 21.20 18.90
Imports 14.30 11.40

¢ Gl g

® Leadership in several product categories
Digital SHrS\taar;rg?nbg:e e Strong regional presence
banking ° i f
carvices products Refer page 84 Proven resilience through economic cycles

MD” : .

G) o Empl Ibei d devel " —>| e Pioneerin carbon-neutral banking operations
mployee wellbeing and developmen
ca&‘igf‘rﬂgrﬁet Secre{ges o P y . Z o clusi P @ o Employer of choice - Happiest Second Home ranking
solutions ¢ |ver5|t.y, eqm.ty andinclusion ® Partner of choice for strategic collaborations (AIA)
¢ Innovation-driven culture €a" o Achieving high employee retention and
® Green and safe work place engagement levels
o e Ethical business practices g ® Green building certifications for branches
@o g@ ® Employee recognition programs ® Over 95 awards and accolades during the year
Traglsaﬁ.tional Remittance
anking services
services Refer page 120
Community Engagement
o -
ié> = o Education and STEM initiatives e Targeted high impact CSR initiatives (Education)
+
Fee-based Trade finance o Healthcare support @% e Empowerment of underserved communities
services solutions e Environmental conservation projects ® Promoting financial inclusion through microfinance
o Volunteerism and community @ ® Active contribution to environmental
upliftment restoration projects
(= e Promoting social enterprises e Strengthening partnerships with local communities
e Climate resilience and disaster ® Supporting national development initiatives
Travel-related  Advisory preparedness
services services
_J Refer page 137

\L (KPIs depicting the value derived as outcomes are given in highlights on pages 76 and 77) \L
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Statement of capital position

Financial capital [ =

January 01, 2024

create Intellectual Capital (¥)

December 31,2024

Indicator of value derived Value derived as at Activities undertaken to Value derived as at Growth in

January 01,2024 create Financial Capital (*) December 31, 2024 value created
Total equity (Rs. Bn.) 214.931 275.262 28.07%
Deposits from customers (Rs. Bn.) 2,085.046 2,236.567 7.27%
Borrowings (Rs. Bn.) 207.712 Grew the business volumes 205.758 (0.94)%
CASA Base (Rs. Bn.) 818.008  prudently through robust 851.356 4.08%
Market capitalisation (Rs. Bn.) 124.327 f"nd efficignF financial 230.309 85.25%
Market share in total assets (%) 12.65 |ntermedlat|on and . 13.16 51 bps

maturity transformation,

Growth in total assets(%) 6.37 thereby strengthening the 8.12 175 bps
Growth in gross income (%) 21.90 leadership position. (6.95)** (2,885) bps
Net interest margin (%) 3.32 427 95 bps
Return on assets (before tax) (%) 1.27 3.56 229 bps
Return on average shareholders' funds (%) 9.78 22.06 1,228 bps
Indicator of value derived Value derived as at Activities undertaken to Value derived as at Growth in

January 01, 2024 create Manufactured Capital (*) December 31,2024 value created
Number of branches 291 ® Maintained profitable mix of 292 1
Number of ATMs and CRMs 948 owned and rented buildings 974 26
Freehold land and building (Rs. Mn.) 16,069.441  ® Multiple delivery channels 16,171.920 0.64%
Investment in capital expenditure (Rs. Mn.) 2,576.818 ® Conducted cost-efficient 3,243.491 25.87%
Total operating Income per Branch (Rs. Mn.) 405.875 transport arrangements 347.866 (14.29%)
Profit per branch (Rs. Mn.) 70313 @ lmpfoved procurement 185.183 163.37%

services
4 &

Indicator of value derived Value derived as at Activities undertaken to Value derived as at Growth in

value created

Brand equity (Rs. Bn.) 43.600 Invested in centralisation 43.600 ~ BasedonBrand
Finance Report - 2023.

Brand rating AAA Improved processes and AAA Reports avalable n

Top 10 Most Valuable Brands in Sri Lanka Ranking 3 procedures Ranking 3 https://brandirectory
com/reports/sri-lanka

Developed new products

Value of intangible assets (Rs. Bn.) 3.737 and services 4.221 12.97%

Compliance and Certifications of Complied Expanded network, Complied Complied &

1SO 20000/PCI-DSS/I1SO 27001 conducted research and

Number of Employees serving for > 20 years 1,041 development 1,056 15

ComBank Digital customer base Over 1.1 Mn. Deepened technological Over 1.5 Mn. 31.06%

expertise

Supported knowledge
sharing initiatives

(*) Please [t refer Management Discussion and Analysis for details of the activities undertaken.
(**) Please [0) refer Table 23 in Financial review 2024.
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Table - 07
£2 Human capital
Indicator of value derived Value derived as at Activities undertaken to Value derived as at Growth in
January 01, 2024 create Human Capital (¥) December 31, 2024 value created
Number of employees 5,201 ® Improved quality of SN 5,461 260
Number of new recruits 589 new recruits 700 111
Retention ratio (%) 8333 @ Conducted employee 86.84 351 bps
Return to work from maternity (%) 97 surveys 100 300 bps
Profit per employee (Rs. Mn.) 3934 @ Invested in training \ 9.902 151.69%
— 7| Totaltraining hours 180,313 and development 193,276 13,018
E-learning hours 4546 @ Enriched career 8,371 3,825
— development
Training cost per employee (Rs. '000) 17.039 oR forced perf 30.890 81.29%
; e-enforced performance
. 109.074 . .344
Staff welfare cost per employee (Rs. '000) 09.0 management and appraisals ~ 99.3 (8.92%)
5q & 5 3 5 c
= & €a" Social and relationship capital
Indicator of value derived Value derived as at Activities undertaken to Value derived as at Growth in value
January 01, 2024 create Social and Relationship Capital (*) December 31,2024 created
Government taxes (Rs. Bn.) 16.575 61.464 270.82%
CSR Trust investment in society (Rs. Mn.) 1,083 @ Promoted financial inclusion ~ 1,180 8.96%
Number of IT Labs established in schools 334 @ Co-created products and 362 28
Number of STEM Classrooms established in schools 170 services 176 6
Cumulative number of MSME participants 14907 @ Collaborated with business . 16,612 1,705
in financial literacy programmes conducted partners
by the Bank ® Improved capacity of SMEs
Number of members in ComBank BIZ Club 5678  ® Expanded Bank’s footprint 6,273 595
Cumulative number of participants in capacity- 567 ® Supported the community = 715 148
building programmes for women entrepreneurs

@%@

> Natural capital

Indicator of value derived

Value derived as at

Activities undertaken to

Value derived as at

Growth in value

January 01, 2024 create Natural Capital (¥) December 31, 2024 created

Utility power (CEB/LECO) consumption (GJ) 46,972 ® Screened loans 48,129 2.46%
Number of Solar panel installation locations 82 through ESMS 89 7
Solar power generated as a % of energy 16.09%  ® Promoted paper reduction 17.32% 123 bps
consumption and recycling

—— | Cumulative number of facilities subjected 11,925 ® Increased usage of 10,727 (1,198)

—_— to ESMS screening renewable energy

Green finance portfolio (Rs. Bn.) 17.760 ® Switched to energy-efficient 38.503 116.80%
Contribution of Green Finance portfolio for 233,918 appliances 292,331 24.97%
reduction of CO, emissions to the atmosphere ® Adopted a Green Financing
(CO, Tonnes) Policy
Paper usage cost in 2023 and 2024 (Rs. Mn.) 162.414 ® Partnered with IFC J 111.831 (31.14%)
Paper recycled (Kgs) in 2023 and 2024 286,240 to develop a Climate 150,110 -

Transition Plan
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Integrated strategy for long-term value creation

At Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC, our
strategy is not just a roadmap for growth;

it is a dynamic framework that embodies

our purpose, vision and values, driving
long-term value creation for all stakeholders.
The Bank’s Strategic Framework integrates
financial imperatives with ESG priorities to
ensure sustainable progress across multiple
dimensions. Our strategy is underpinned

by a deep understanding of the evolving
external environment, stakeholder needs and
regulatory requirements. This enables us to
strike a balance between growth, resilience
and sustainability, ensuring that our business
remains future-ready in a constantly
changing world.

Our purpose, vision, mission and values
(refer inner front cover) define who we are
and what we aspire to achieve, serving as the
foundation upon which our strategy is built.

Alignment with stakeholder
expectations and long-term
sustainability goals

Our strategy is intricately aligned with
stakeholder expectations and long-term
sustainability objectives. By integrating ESG
factors into our Business Model, we ensure
that our actions contribute meaningfully

to the SDGs while delivering consistent
value to shareholders, customers, employees
and the wider community. By embedding
ESG considerations into our strategic
decision-making, we ensure alignment with
global best practices, contributing to broader
societal goals while securing long-term
economic viability. This comprehensive
approach allows us to remain a trusted
financial partner, fostering innovation and
driving positive societal change.

Strategic planning process

The Bank'’s strategic planning process is a
cornerstone of its sustained success and
industry leadership, ensuring that strategic
priorities remain dynamic and responsive
to evolving stakeholder expectations and
market conditions. At any given time, the
Bank operates under a 5-year Strategic
Plan, which is prepared, reviewed and
updated annually on a rolling basis by the
Management, with guidance and oversight
from the Board of Directors. This well-honed
process, developed over several decades,
has played a pivotal role in steering the
Bank towards prudent growth, customer

centricity, innovation and operational
excellence, enabling it to achieve the
leadership position it enjoys today. The
current Strategic Plan 2025-2029, approved
by the Board in December 2024, outlines
ambitious yet measurable targets across all
areas of strategic priority, ensuring sustained
value creation and long-term sustainability.
This process is further guided by a Board-
approved Planning Policy, providing a
structured framework for its effective
development and implementation.

The robustness of

this process is clearly
demonstrated by the
Bank’s achievement of
its status as the largest
and most trusted
private sector bank in

the country.

Sustainability is not a separate
component of our strategy but is woven
into the fabric of our strategic framework.
Our strategic imperatives directly address
pressing societal challenges such as
financial inclusion, climate action and digital
empowerment, ensuring that we contribute
meaningfully to sustainable development.
This holistic integration of sustainability into
our strategy strengthens our ability to deliver
long-term value while remaining aligned with
global sustainability goals.

Efficient execution is as critical as
strategic planning itself. To this end, the
Bank has embedded a structured monitoring
and reporting mechanism into its strategic
planning framework. Progress is reported
to the Management on a monthly basis
and to the Board on a quarterly basis, with
a joint mid-year review conducted by the
Management and the Board. This disciplined
approach enables the Bank to continuously
track progress, respond proactively to
emerging risks and opportunities and make
timely adjustments to reflect changes in the
external environment, thereby maintaining
its competitive edge.

Formulation of ——
the 5-year
Strategic Plan

Approval by
the Board

Execution and
adjustment in response
to external environment

Monthly/quarterly
progress reporting

Mid-year joint review
by the Management
and the Board

%

Purpose-led strategic imperatives

Our strategic priorities reflect our
commitment to achieving sustainable
growth, customer satisfaction, operational
excellence and innovation. These priorities
are categorised under five core imperatives,
each designed not only to drive financial
performance but also to deliver shared
value to stakeholders in line with the Bank’s
purpose, across the short, medium and long
term (please refer pages 81 and 82).

Resource allocation

The Bank has adopted a disciplined and
strategic resource allocation approach to
ensure that investments are directed towards
initiatives that maximise stakeholder value,
while remaining aligned with our core
purpose and long-term strategic priorities.
The Board provides oversight not only

on resource allocation decisions but also

on trade-offs involving the balancing of
competing priorities, ensuring that the Bank
remains agile and responsive to both risks
and opportunities.

Resource allocation at the Bank is not
just about financial investment; it reflects our
strategic intent to deliver sustainable value.
We carefully balance resource allocation
across capitals - financial, manufactured,
human, intellectual, social & relationship and
natural - to drive growth and resilience. This
approach ensures that every investment we
make supports both immediate goals and
long-term ambitions.
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Our approach to resource allocation is
guided by four key principles:

)

Y

Strategic alignment

Every resource allocation
decision is evaluated in the
context of its alignment with
the Bank’s strategic priorities.
Whether it is capital investment,
technology deployment or
talent acquisition, we ensure
that resources are directed
towards strategic priorities.

Efficiency and productivity
Given the capital-intensive
nature of banking, optimising
resource utilisation is crucial.
By enhancing operational
efficiencies, leveraging digital
transformation and adopting
process improvements, we
maximise productivity while
minimising wastage.

Risk-adjusted returns

The allocation of financial
resources, capital in particular,
is carefully balanced to
achieve optimal risk-adjusted
returns. We prioritise products,
sectors, customer segments
and markets that promise
sustainable profitability while
maintaining a robust risk
management framework.

Sustainability integration
Our commitment to
sustainability extends to
resource allocation as well.
We allocate resources to
ESG-aligned initiatives,
green financing and projects
that promote long-term
environmental and social
well-being.

Key resource allocation areas

1. Regulatory capital allocation

As a bank operating in a highly regulated
environment, the allocation of regulatory
capital maintained to meet Basel llI
requirements is crucial for supporting asset
growth while ensuring optimal returns.

We strategically allocate this capital across
various business lines and geographies,
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carefully balancing growth opportunities
with risk-adjusted returns. Key focus areas
include:

e Maximising risk-adjusted returns on capital
(RAROC) allocated across various products.

e Optimising risk-weighted assets to
minimise capital consumption while
maintaining portfolio quality.

o Allocating capital across diverse sectors,
geographies and products to reduce
concentration risks and enhance stability.

2. Credit extension

Credit extension is a key driver of the Bank’s
role as a financial intermediary. We extend
credit strategically to foster economic
growth, support SME and retail clients, and
promote financial inclusion. Key focus areas
include:

e Ensuring a well-diversified credit portfolio
across industries to mitigate concentration
risks.

e Supporting national priorities such as
agriculture, women entrepreneurship and
green finance.

e Strengthening credit assessment and
monitoring mechanisms to maintain asset
quality.

3. Technological investments

Technology is a pivotal component of our
strategy, enabling digital transformation
and operational efficiency. Key focus areas
include:

e Developing a unified digital banking
platform that offers a seamless customer
experience across channels.

e Strengthening cybersecurity and
data privacy to safeguard customer
information.

e Investing in Al-driven automation,
process optimisation and advanced data
analytics.

4. Human capital development

Our people are central to delivering superior

customer experiences and driving innovation.

Key focus areas include:

e Talent development through continuous
learning and upskilling programs.

e Promoting employee well-being with
wellness programs and flexible work
options.

e Fostering diversity, equity and inclusion
across all levels of the organisation.
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5. Sustainability and CSR investments

Sustainability is integral to our business, and
resources are allocated to initiatives that
foster social equity, enhance community
well-being and promote environmental
stewardship. Key focus areas include:

e Expanding green financing and renewable
energy product portfolios.

o Investing in operational sustainability,
such as paperless banking and renewable
energy solutions.

e Supporting CSR programs in education,
healthcare, culture and environmental
preservation through the Bank’s CSR Trust
aimed at fostering social equity, enhancing
community well-being and promoting
environmental stewardship.

6. Stakeholder engagement

Strengthening engagement with key
stakeholders ensures transparency, trust
and long-term partnerships. Key focus areas
include:

e Enhancing communication channels and
feedback mechanisms

e Maintaining customer relationship
management systems

e Strengthening regulatory compliance
and reporting mechanisms

e Maintaining investor relations

7. Risk management and compliance

Effective risk management safeguards the
Bank’s stability and reputation. Key focus
areas include:

e Deploying robust enterprise risk
management systems

e Conducting stress testing and scenario
analysis

e Investing in AML, fraud detection systems
and regulatory compliance training.

8. Marketing and branding

Strengthening our market presence and
building brand equity is vital for long-term
growth. Key focus areas include:

o Digital marketing and social media
campaigns
e Customer outreach and loyalty programs

e Public relations, sponsorships and
partnerships to enhance brand
recognition
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9. Product development and diversification

Continuous innovation ensures that we
remain competitive and responsive to
evolving customer needs. Key focus areas
include:

e Expanding into niche markets and
developing ESG-linked financial products

e Enhancing existing products based on
customer feedback

o Diversifying revenue streams across
business segments and geographies

10. Infrastructure development

Resources are invested in both physical and
digital infrastructure to ensure scalability and
accessibility. Key focus areas include:

e Expanding and optimising the branch
network

e Upgrading office facilities and enabling
remote collaboration

e Embracing digital infrastructure to
support future growth

11. Strategic partnerships and alliances

Strategic partnerships and alliances drive
innovation and market expansion. Key focus
areas include:

e Collaborating with fintechs and
technology providers

e Establishing bancassurance partnerships

e Partnerships with international financial
institutions

Strategic trade-offs

In a highly dynamic and competitive
environment, making strategic trade-

offs is essential to achieving balanced
outcomes. These trade-offs reflect the
Bank’s commitment to integrated thinking,
balancing competing priorities such

as short-term profitability with long-

term sustainability, innovation with risk
management and regional expansion with
a strong local focus. By carefully navigating
these choices, the Bank ensures that it
remains resilient, agile and forward-looking
in a constantly evolving landscape. The
following examples highlight how the Bank
manages these strategic choices to ensure
sustainable value creation:
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1. Short-term profitability vs. long-term
sustainability

Investments in sustainable practices, such
as green financing and carbon-neutral
operations, may not yield immediate financial
returns; however, they are indispensable for
ensuring long-term resilience, adherence

to global sustainability standards and
safeguarding the Bank'’s social license to
operate. Consequently, the Bank strategically
channels resources towards ESG initiatives
as part of its journey towards Net Zero,

even if it impacts short-term profitability,

to ensure enduring value and align with
international environmental commitments.
A notable example is the Bank’s decision

to launch green financing products, a

move that entailed balancing specific risks
inherent to such products over and above
the conventional risks associated with other
forms of lending, against their long-term
environmental benefits and the overall
enhancement of stakeholder trust and value
creation.

2.Innovation vs. risk management

Pursuing innovative financial products and
digital solutions introduces new operational
and market risks. Hence, the Bank balances
the drive for innovation with robust risk
management frameworks to mitigate

© Integrated strategy for long-term value creation

potential risks associated with new product
offerings and technological advancements.
A relevant example is the adoption of Al/

ML technologies, where Risk Management
plays an active role by developing new
policies and practices to govern and manage
their use, ensuring the Bank capitalises on
their benefits while mitigating potential
risks. Similarly, advancements such as Cloud
technology, Identity Access Management,
and Data Analytics in credit underwriting
require robust governance frameworks to
address associated risks effectively. These
examples highlight the Bank’s commitment
to fostering innovation while maintaining a
steadfast focus on prudent risk management.

3. Global expansion vs. local market focus

Expanding into international markets

offers growth opportunities but may divert
attention and resources from strengthening
domestic market positions. Yet, the Bank
strategically allocates resources for regional
expansion while ensuring that the domestic
franchise remains robust and competitive.

4, Standardisation vs. customisation

Standardising services and processes
enhances efficiency but may not meet the
unique needs of diverse customer segments.
The Bank strikes a balance between

ComBank partners with IFC
to develop Supply Chain Financing

strategy

The Bank collaborated with the International Finance Corporation (IFC) to build a
Supply Chain Financing (SCF) strategy that will enable the Bank to lend more to SMEs.

IFC has identified the Bank as a strategic banking institution in Sri Lanka to take the
position as a leading SCF bank, given its prominent presence in corporate and business
banking and its strategically diversified branch network.
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standardising operations for efficiency and
customising services to cater to specific
customer requirements, thereby enhancing
customer satisfaction.

5.Employee specialisation vs. multiskilling:

Specialised roles can lead to high expertise in
specific areas, while multiskilled employees
offer flexibility and adaptability. The Bank
invests in employee development programs
that balance specialisation with multiskilling
to create a versatile and competent workforce
capable of adapting to changing business
needs.

6. Centralisation vs. decentralisation:

Centralised decision-making can lead

to uniformity and control, whereas
decentralisation empowers local branches
and can enhance responsiveness to

local market conditions. The Bank has
implemented a governance structure that
balances central oversight with decentralised
autonomy to ensure both consistency and
local adaptability.

These strategic trade-offs are integral
to the Bank’s integrated thinking approach,
ensuring that decisions are made with
a holistic view of value creation across
multiple capitals. By carefully evaluating and
managing these trade-offs, the Bank aims
to achieve a harmonious balance between
growth, innovation, risk management and
sustainability, thereby ensuring long-term
value for all stakeholders.

Our strategic framework positions
the Bank to thrive amidst challenges and
opportunities in the financial services sector.
By aligning our core purpose, strategic
priorities and resource allocation with
stakeholder expectations, we continue to
create meaningful value. As we execute
our 2025-2029 Strategic Plan, we remain
committed to evolving responsibly,
fostering innovation and contributing
to a more sustainable future. With a
disciplined approach to strategic execution,
proactive risk management and a steadfast
commitment to sustainability, the Bank is
well-prepared to navigate a rapidly changing
financial landscape while maintaining its
leadership position.

As we look to the future, we will continue
to adapt, innovate and grow responsibly,
ensuring that we remain a trusted financial
partner for generations to come.
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Strategic imperatives and highlights

» 0y

Expanding horizons with resilience

e Sustained financial growth: Group
assets grew 8.30% YoY to Rs. 2.876 Tn.,
while the deposit base rose 7.36% YoY
to Rs. 2.306 Tn. with a sector-leading
CASA ratio of 38.07%.

Capital reinforcement and stability:
Successfully raised Rs. 22.5 Bn. through a
rights issue and Rs. 20 Bn. via a debenture
issue to strengthen capital adequacy.

e Diversification and global expansion:
Overseas operations contributed 22.21%
to pre-tax profits and accounted for
15.04% of the total assets.

e Enhanced credit risk management:
Improved Stage 3 impairment coverage
to 64.61% from 43.22%, ensuring financial
stability.

SME and rural business leadership:
Maintained position as the largest SME
lender for four consecutive years and
extended tailored financing to rural
businesses.

e Sustainability in lending: Green
financing portfolio surged 117.20%
YoY to Rs. 38.5 Bn,, reinforcing the
Bank’s commitment to sustainable
finance.

e Expanding global footprint: Plans to
establish a presence in the Colombo Port
City and a liaison office in DIFC to deepen
global banking influence.

Strengthening
strategic
partnerships

Diversifying , & Sustainable

the portfolio © < finance

ﬂ expansion
el

Expanding ©
financial \ Growth
ecosystems &

Process efficiency &
market expansion

Strengthening
regional &
international lending

Customer experience and
data analytics

Enhancing service through insights

e Driving customer excellence:
Established the Customer Experience
Steering Committee to drive service
excellence.

e Empowering SMEs with market access:
Organised trade fairs and networking
events to connect SMEs with larger
markets, distributors, and buyers.

¢ Inclusive financial solutions for women:
Introduced dedicated financial products
and microfinance solutions, empowering
15,000+ women entrepreneurs in 2024.

e Supporting rural economic
development: Expanded rural business
financing solutions, enabling local
enterprises to upgrade infrastructure,
expand operations, and create
employment opportunities.

e Fostering future entrepreneurs: The
Diribala Next Gen and Export Grooming
Programs empowered youth and SMEs,
enhancing business acumen and export
capabilities.

e Promoting financial literacy: Conducted
200+ capacity-building programs since
2010, benefiting 16,000+ farmers and
entrepreneurs through expert-led
workshops.

e Leveraging digital transformation:
Introduced Al-enabled chatbots and
real-time customer feedback systems
to enhance service efficiency and
engagement.

Al-powered

customer insights Defining measurable

key service metrics

Al-enabled h&
virtual .

assistance

Standardised
. &seamless

customer

journeys

b
allll
Enhancing © Customer
omni-channel Experience and
integration o Data analytics

Real-time customer
feedback & service
enhancement
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Digitisation and IT

7.

Powering the future with technology

e Strengthening IT infrastructure:
Invested Rs. 3.7 Bn. to enhance digital
capabilities, ensuring a robust and
future-ready banking ecosystem.

e ComBank Digital milestone: Surpassed
1.5 Mn. users in 2024, processing over
4 Tn. transactions, solidifying leadership
in digital banking.

e Expanding digital adoption: Achieved
31% YoY growth in digital banking
customers, reflecting increased trust in
online and mobile banking solutions.

e Promoting inclusive banking: Launched
ComBank Digital in trilingual, ensuring
accessibility and ease of use for a diverse
customer base.

e eFD transformation: In 2024 over 60%
of fixed deposits were opened in 2024
digitally, showcasing shift towards
convenient, paperless banking.

e Host-to-Host (H2H) services: Launched
H2H payment services under ComBank
Digital Enterprise Solutions, boosting
corporate efficiency.

e Data-driven banking: Implemented
Tableau dashboards and predictive
analytics, improving risk assessment,
decision-making, and operational
efficiencies.

e Driving procurement efficiency:
Adopted an e-tendering system to
streamline procurement, enhance
transparency, and improve operational
effectiveness.

Improving IT
infrastructure
for cross-border Upgrading core IT
operations infrastructure

Enhancing J K Enhancing
payment & ‘/’ digital
transaction platforms
platforms
Automating < A "
& optimising \ Dlgltl;alfrlon
IT processes ~ an

Strengthening
cybersecurity &
data protection
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Empowering people and
building future

Commitment to ethics and compliance:
Over 95% of employees completed ethical
behaviour and compliance training.

Strengthening integrity: Conducted
19 sessions on anti-bribery and anti-
corruption for 75% of employees.

Advancing compliance culture:

More than 75% of employees earned
AML e-learning certification, enhancing
compliance capabilities across the Bank.

Ethics in action: Conducted 87
workshops and 2 e-learning sessions
on ethical decision making, conflict
resolution and compliance.

Fostering an inclusive culture:
Implemented a Board-approved Diversity,
Equity and Inclusion (DE&I) policy,
ensuring a workplace that values equality
and belonging.

Developing women leaders: Launched
an exclusive leadership program for

21 female employees, nurturing future
leaders and promoting gender diversity.

Enhancing digital readiness: Employees
received training in Al, blockchain, and
cybersecurity, strengthening digital
capabilities for a future-ready workforce.

Encouraging collaboration and
innovation: Hosted brainstorming
sessions and hackathons, fostering
cross-functional teamwork and innovative
problem-solving.

Al-driven Employee engagement
workforce & experience

transformation enhancement
Optimising b .
recruitment Strateg|.c
& onboarding ,/O succession
processesJ planning
(

Employer S Talent
branding
& talent ~

attraction Diversity &
inclusion initiatives
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Sustainability

Driving impact beyond banking

e Enhancing financial inclusion:
Empowered 16,500+ Sri Lankans, bridging
gaps in underserved communities and
strengthening economic resilience.

e Championing clean energy: Expanded
renewable energy financing to support
solar, wind, and hydro projects to reduce
carbon emissions and enhance energy
efficiency.

e Sustainable agriculture financing:
Funded eco-friendly farming, helping
farmers adopt organic practices and
water-saving techniques.

e Investing in solar energy: Expanded
the Bank'’s solar-powered branches to 89,
driving energy efficiency and reducing
reliance on fossil fuels.

e Reviving marine ecosystems: Partnered
with Biodiversity Sri Lanka to launch
the “Life to Our Coral Reefs” initiative, to
restore coral reefs at Kayankerni Marine
Sanctuary.

e Strengthening education with
technology: Established 28 new IT labs,
bringing the total to 362, empowering
students with digital literacy and future-
ready skills.

e Community-driven reforestation:
Planted 100,000 trees through the "Trees
for Tomorrow" campaign, contributing to
climate action and ecological balance.

e Advancing STEM education:
Increased STEM classrooms to 176 and
set up 123 math labs, enriching education
in rural schools.

Championing
clean energy Enhancing financial

inclusion
Advancing ,—
STEM Sustainable
education ° ‘/O agriculture
J % financing

Community-
driven Sustainability
reforestation ~

Minimizing
environmental
footprint
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Management discussion and analysis

An integrated view of performance and sustainability

Key highlights of 2024

The year 2024 marked a defining chapter in
the Bank’s journey as it seamlessly merged
performance excellence with sustainability
commitments to create value for its

diverse stakeholders. Guided by our
three-pillar Sustainability Framework

(mn Refer page 72) - Sustainable Banking
(Pillar 1), Responsible Organisation

(Pillar 2), and Community Engagement
(Pillar 3) - this year’s achievements
underscore our determination to empower
communities, drive innovation, and preserve
the environment while sustaining robust
financial performance.

This chapter offers a comprehensive
analysis of how our strategies, anchored in
global best practices and aligned with the
SDGs, delivered transformative outcomes in
a challenging yet opportunistic economic
environment. It reflects an integrated
approach to management that considers
economic, social, and environmental
dimensions, reinforcing our leadership in
sustainable banking.

Vision for sustainable value creation

At Commercial Bank, we envision a future
where economic progress and sustainability
intersect to deliver inclusive growth.

Our approach to sustainability reflects

a deep commitment to stakeholder-

centric strategies. It combines innovation,
operational resilience, and environmental
stewardship to position the Bank as a driver
of change in the financial sector.

This vision is operationalised through:

Inclusive finance

e Empower under-represented
groups

e Promote access to financial
services

Climate action

e Deliver financial products for
climate action

e Support resource efficiency

Purpose-driven organisation

e Lead with purpose and ethical
integrity

e Respect environmental and
societal well-being.

= [ ——

Integrated approach to performance
and sustainability

The Bank’s success in 2024 can be attributed
to an integrated management approach that
blends traditional banking excellence with
forward-looking sustainability principles.
This chapter delves into how the Bank:

o Achieved measurable financial milestones
while enhancing its impact across economic,
environmental, and social spheres.

e Fostered resilience through data-
driven insights and adaptive strategies
in response to an evolving economic
landscape.

e Strengthened governance frameworks to
ensure robust oversight of sustainability
initiatives, aligning with global best
practices, including the <IR> Framework,
GRI Standards, and SLFRS S1 and S2.

The way forward

The foundation laid over the years positions
us to drive sustainable growth and resilience
in an increasingly volatile global landscape.
As we move forward, our focus remains on:

e Expanding our sustainability footprint by
scaling initiatives across all three pillars of
our Sustainability Framework.

e Leveraging technology to enhance
customer convenience, operational
efficiency, and resource conservation.

o Deepening engagement with communities,
creating long-term social value, and
ensuring financial inclusion for all.

This chapter not only celebrates the
Bank’s accomplishments but also articulates
its roadmap for the future - a journey defined
by innovation, sustainability, and a steadfast
commitment to excellence. Together, these
elements underline our unique position as
a financial institution that leads responsibly,
grows inclusively and creates enduring value
for all its stakeholders.

i

Innovative sustainability-
linked products:

From financing renewable
energy projects to promoting
green leasing and sustainability-
linked credit lines, we introduced
cutting-edge solutions to

meet the needs of a rapidly
changing world.

Community empowerment:
Through financial literacy
initiatives, vocational training,
and impactful CSR projects,
the Bank contributed
meaningfully to community
upliftment and inclusion.

Employee-centric growth:
With policies promoting
diversity, equity, and inclusion,
as well as training programs
for leadership development,
the Bank cultivated a resilient,
future-ready workforce.

Climate leadership:
Leveraging partnerships with
international organisations,
we advanced our Climate
Transition Plan and reaffirmed
our commitment to achieving
Net Zero emissions by 2050.




84 Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

Annual Report 2024

Sustainable banking
Creating enduring value for all stakeholders Figure-17

Green finance portfolio

Rs. 38 | ml@@

Growth 117% YoY
|
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\r
Responsible financing

Empowering Dreams,
Bridging Gaps

16,000+ lives transformed by
financial literacy programmes

Sustainability parameter/theme

Innovate Sustainably,
Live Responsibly

ComBank Digital Surpassed
1.5 Mn. Registered users

Capitals affected

B ® o ®

Stakeholders to whom
value was delivered

& S 9 @

Embracing sustainable banking

At Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC,
Sustainable Banking is more than just

a strategy - it is a core philosophy that
defines our approach to creating value for
stakeholders while addressing pressing
global and local challenges. As a leading
financial institution in Sri Lanka, we recognise
our unique responsibility to balance
profitability with environmental, social,
and economic sustainability. Guided by the
principles of long-term value creation,

our commitment to sustainable banking

Financial inclusion O

Sustainable products and services ¢

Py
05
Sustainable
bank

Customer experience
and data analytics

Strategic imperative

reflects our role as a catalyst for progress, a
steward of the environment, and a partner in
inclusive growth.

Leadership in sustainability and
ESG integration

The banking sector plays a pivotal role in
shaping the future by influencing financial

markets and enabling broader societal goals.

With the global shift towards integrating
ESG and broader sustainability principles,
the Bank has consistently demonstrated

leadership in this transformative journey.

We are proud to be the first Sri Lankan
financial institution to achieve carbon-
neutral status, a testament to our dedication
to reducing our environmental footprint

and embedding sustainability into our core
operations. This landmark achievement is
rooted in years of deliberate action, including
robust greenhouse gas assessments,
investments in renewable energy, operational
efficiencies, and carbon offset programs such
as reforestation initiatives.



Management discussion and analysis
Sustainable banking

As the 1st Bank to introduce Environmental and Social
Management System (ESMS) in 2010 and the 1st to
venture into Green Financing, we're leading the charge
towards sustainable growth and innovation.

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC
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Commercial Bank’s sustainability journey Figure - 18

Creating a
sustainable future

2022

Formed the Executive Sustainability
Committee to oversee sustainability
matters and report to the Board of Directors.

Embarking on a steadfast journey, the Bank has
established a long-standing legacy of sustainable
initiatives as illustrated bellow:

2024
Partner with IFC for climate transition plan
Development of Sustainable Bond Framework

2023

Alignment of Green Taxonomy with Sri Lanka
Green finance taxonomy issued by CBSL

: @

2020

Issued its
“Climate Position Statement”

Achieved the significant milestone
of becoming the first bank to attain
Carbon Neutral status in Sri Lanka.

2018

Introduced the
“Green Financing Taxonomy”

2012

Became a founding member of —— @

Biodiversity Sri Lanka
2010

Became the first Bank to
Introduce ESMS (Environmental
and Social Management System)

2000

Initiated Renewable
Energy Financing

Creating
a Sustainable
Future

Sustainability
Vision

Best Sustainable Branch and Department
Award, Future Force Group

2021

Honoured with the prestigious “Best Corporate Citizen
Sustainability Award” by the Ceylon Chamber of Commerce.

2019

Established specific Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs) for Business units to align with the goals of
CBSL Sustainability Finance Roadmap and SDGs

2017

Implemented its

Green Financing Strategy
2011

Started fostering an energy
efficient culture to work towards
achieving carbon neutrality

2004

Established CSR Trust
to achieve its corporate
social responsibility goals
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Supporting global and national
sustainability goals

In 2024, we expanded our focus on
sustainability, leveraging our leadership
position to further align with global
frameworks such as SDGs. At the national
level, we supported Sri Lanka’s Nationally
Determined Contributions (NDCs) by
promoting green financing and sustainable
investments in renewable energy, climate-
resilient agriculture, and low-carbon
infrastructure. Through our alignment with
the Sustainable Finance Roadmap of the
CBSL, we have also championed industry-
wide best practices, setting new benchmarks
for ESG-driven solutions.

Annual Report 2024

Integrating green banking with
digital transformation

A cornerstone of our approach to sustainable
banking is the seamless integration of digital
transformation with green banking practices.
By promoting paperless banking, energy-
efficient facilities, and tech-driven financial
inclusion, we have successfully reduced our
operational environmental impact while
enhancing customer convenience. Initiatives
such as e-statements, digital payment
platforms, and mobile banking channels have
streamlined access to financial services for
underserved communities, reinforcing our
belief that digital innovation can drive both
sustainability and inclusivity.
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Elements of sustainable banking

At the heart of our sustainable banking
framework are three interconnected elements:

e Responsible financing: Integrating ESG
considerations into lending decisions to
ensure investments contribute positively to
the society and the environment.

e Financial inclusion: Extending banking
services to rural and marginalised
communities, empowering them to thrive.

e Sustainable products & services:
Offering innovative solutions that
align with stakeholder needs while
fostering economic growth without
compromising resources.

These elements guide our efforts to create a balanced approach that supports environmentally and socially responsible projects, broadens
financial inclusion, and innovates for a sustainable future.

Elements of Sustainable Banking Figure - 19
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Building a resilient and inclusive future

As we move forward, the Bank remains steadfast in its commitment to lead the Sri Lankan banking sector towards a more sustainable and
inclusive future. By embedding sustainability into every facet of our operations and fostering partnerships that drive collective progress, we
create long-term value for all stakeholders. Our commitment to resilience, innovation, and shared prosperity underscores our aspiration of
a banking sector that champions sustainability at its core.
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Responsible financing

Balancing growth with integrity and
sustainability

At Commercial Bank, responsible financing
lies at the core of our sustainability agenda
and strategic focus. We recognise that every
lending and investment decision we make
has significant implications for the society
and the environment. Guided by a firm
commitment to ethical principles, we ensure
that our financial activities not only drive
economic growth but also promote positive
socio-economic outcomes while minimising
environmental impacts.

In 2024, the Bank’s responsible financing
efforts were deeply aligned with global and
local sustainability frameworks, including
the SDGs, the Sustainable Finance Roadmap
of the CBSL, and the Sustainable Banking
Principles of the Sri Lanka Banks’ Association
(SLBA). Beyond regulatory adherence,
responsible financing at the Bank represents
a deliberate approach to aligning financial
growth with the broader goals of sustainable
development. Our initiatives throughout the
year were built on robust risk management
practices, rigorous regulatory compliance,
and a steadfast dedication to creating
long-term value for all stakeholders.

Strategic capital management
and resilience

A foundation for sustainable growth

As a cornerstone of its commitment to
responsible financing, the Bank continued
to place strategic capital management at the
forefront of its sustainability agenda in 2024.
With the objective of ensuring resilience,
supporting business expansion, and
safeguarding stakeholder interests, the

Bank undertook robust initiatives to
strengthen its financial foundation. These
efforts were underpinned by proactive
governance frameworks and advanced
capital monitoring systems.

Staying well-capitalised

The Bank demonstrated unwavering
dedication to maintaining strong capital
buffers to support its strategic growth
objectives and ensure compliance with
regulatory requirements. By adhering to the
Capital Augmentation Plan submitted to the
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CBSL in 2023, the Bank successfully executed
two transformative capital-raising initiatives
in 2024:

e Basel lll compliant debenture issue

The Bank raised Rs. 20 Bn. through the
issuance of Basel lll-compliant Tier Il capital
debentures. This initiative showcased the
strong investor confidence in the Bank and
boosted its Tier Il capital, enhancing long-
term financial stability.

o Rights issue to bolster equity capital

Arights issue raised an impressive

Rs. 22.5 Bn., significantly enhancing the
Bank’s Tier | capital. This achievement
marked the largest equity capital raising
initiative by any private-sector bank in Sri
Lanka, positioning the Bank as an industry
leader in financial resilience.

Together, these initiatives elevated both
Tier | and Tier Il capital levels well above
statutory minimum requirements, creating a
solid platform for future growth. Combined
with enhanced profitability in 2024 and
forward projections, these measures
provide significant leeway for the Bank to
accommodate its planned expansion for the
years ahead.

Regulatory capital ratios Table — 08

As at December 31, 2024 2023
Tier 1 (Minimum
Requirement 10.000%)* 14.227 11.442
Total (Minimum
Requirement 14.000%)* 18.142 15.151
|4

*For more details, please (Ll refer Annex 2 on page 491.

Building a capital-efficient balance sheet
for the future

Strengthening the balance sheet for efficient
capital utilisation remains a cornerstone of
the Bank’s strategic agenda, reflecting its
commitment to fostering growth, resilience,
and profitability. While the infusion of debt
and equity capital has bolstered the Bank'’s
financial foundation, enabling it to mitigate
risks and sustain operations in volatile market
conditions, the Bank continued its efforts to
optimise its capital structure. By striking a
careful balance between operational stability
and stakeholder confidence, these efforts are
firmly aligned with global best practices.

As part of its continuous efforts to
rebalance the balance sheet towards a
more capital-friendly structure, the Bank
has prioritised initiatives that align capital
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allocation with long-term strategic objectives.
Rigorous monitoring systems have been
implemented to track divisional capital
consumption and evaluate the capital
requirements of business segments, ensuring
the prioritisation of high-impact projects.

To further enhance efficiency and ensure
that returns are commensurate with risks, the
Bank introduced the RAROC (Risk-Adjusted
Return on Capital) framework, enabling

the monitoring of risk-based returns across
various portfolios. This approach ensures that
capital is deployed effectively, focusing on
both profitability and sustainability.

In tandem with fostering a culture of
capital-based decision-making, the Bank
has aligned systems and processes to
elevate governance standards and deliver
cost-effective growth on a priority basis.
These strategic actions bolster operational
efficiency and reinforce the Bank’s
competitive edge in an evolving financial
landscape, ensuring value creation for
stakeholders and long-term financial stability.

Proactive management of stress on capital

The Bank’s governance framework for capital
management was instrumental in identifying
and mitigating potential capital stress. By
conducting periodic stress tests and scenario
analyses, the Bank ensured preparedness

for adverse market conditions and external
shocks. Recognising the extremely volatile
conditions faced by the industry in preceding
years, the Bank further widened its stress
scenarios and heightened the levels of stress
for testing. These refined practices reflect the
Bank’s proactive approach to maintaining
resilience and adaptability in a rapidly
evolving financial landscape.

Resilience as a strategic asset

As the Bank continues to navigate dynamic
market conditions, its focus on strategic

capital management remains unwavering. By
leveraging its enhanced capital position, the
Bank is well-poised to drive innovation, expand
its lending portfolio, and support underserved
sectors of the economy. Furthermore, the
Bank’s commitment to responsible financing
underscores its role as a catalyst for sustainable
development, ensuring that its growth
trajectory benefits all stakeholders while
aligning with global regulatory frameworks
and sustainability goals.

The above achievements reflect
the Bank’s financial acumen and also
demonstrate its resilience and adaptability —
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qualities that will continue to define its
success and sustainability in the years
to come.

Optimising financial resources

Strategic management of financial
resources

In 2024, the Bank continued to demonstrate
financial prudence by optimising its asset
and liability management strategies to
ensure financial resilience and operational
sustainability. The Bank adopted a forward-
looking approach to funding and liquidity
management, aligning its operations with
evolving market conditions and global
regulatory standards.

The Bank employs a comprehensive
Asset and Liability Management (ALM)
framework to optimise the utilisation
of financial resources. By maintaining a
balanced portfolio of assets and liabilities,
the Bank ensures the alignment of maturity
profiles, reduces mismatches, and minimises
risks associated with interest rate volatility
and currency fluctuations. To strengthen
this approach, the Bank adopted proactive
measures such as the following to enhance
financial stability and resilience.

@ Dynamic portfolio
adjustments: The Bank closely
monitored market conditions
to rebalance its asset portfolio,
diversifying the loan book and
the investments portfolio to
mitigate risks and maximise
returns.

@ Profitability and risk
alignment: Lending strategies
were carefully aligned with risk
tolerance thresholds, ensuring
a balance between growth
objectives and sustainable
profitability.

Strengthening funding and liquidity
management with ALCO oversight

The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO)
played a pivotal role in driving the Bank’s
funding and liquidity management strategies,
ensuring resilience amid market volatility.
Acting as the central decision-making body
for balance sheet optimisation, ALCO guided
the Bank’s approach to maintaining optimal
liquidity levels, safeguarding financial
stability, and mitigating risks associated with
market fluctuations.
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ALCO’s continuous monitoring of market
liquidity allowed the Bank to anticipate
funding needs effectively, ensuring that
adequate cash reserves were maintained
at all times to meet both short-term and
long-term obligations without operational
disruptions. Additionally, the Committee
implemented robust forecasting models
to navigate evolving market dynamics,
enhancing the Bank’s ability to adapt
to external shocks and seize emerging
opportunities.

A key priority for ALCO was to maintain
a well-diversified funding portfolio, ensuring
stability and resilience across various
dimensions, including tenor, currency,
geography, and ticket size. While the
Bank did not require funding from foreign
sources in 2024 due to its strong liquidity
position, its access to global funding markets
remains a significant strategic advantage.
This diversification, combined with the
ability to tap into international funding
avenues when required, enhances the Bank’s
financial flexibility, mitigates concentration
risks, and positions it to respond effectively
to potential future funding needs. These
measures collectively reinforce the Bank’s
ability to support sustainable growth while
maintaining a robust financial structure.

Moreover, ALCO introduced advanced
analytics and scenario-based assessments to
refine decision-making processes, enabling
the Bank to align liquidity management
strategies with regulatory requirements
and industry best practices. These efforts
underscore the Bank’s commitment to
proactive financial stewardship, fostering
confidence among stakeholders and
positioning the institution for sustained
success in a dynamic economic landscape.

Managing liquidity risks amidst evolving
market conditions

As markets continued to navigate
uncertainties, the Bank prioritised robust
liquidity risk management practices to
safeguard its financial health. These measures
included stress testing, scenario analysis,

and liquidity buffer maintenance, all of
which ensured resilience in challenging
conditions. To further strengthen its

liquidity management framework, the Bank
implemented proactive strategies such as the
following:

e Stress testing for contingency planning:
The Bank conducted regular stress tests
to evaluate its liquidity position under
adverse scenarios, ensuring preparedness
for potential disruptions.

© Management discussion and analysis
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o Near real-time monitoring: Implementation
of the new Treasury System with advanced
tools and methodologies facilitated near
real-time monitoring of liquidity positions,
enabling swift decision-making to address
emerging challenges.

Alignment with Basel Il norms

The Bank’s liquidity and funding
management practices were fully aligned
with Basel Ill norms given below, reflecting
its commitment to global best practices in
financial risk management.

e Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR):
By maintaining a high-quality liquidity
buffer, the Bank consistently achieved
LCR compliance, demonstrating its
ability to withstand short-term liquidity
shocks. LCR for all currencies and Rupee
as at December 31, 2024 were 454.36%
and 529.20% (516.27% and 491.61%
respectively, as at December 31, 2023)
compared to the minimum requirement
of 100%.

e Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR):
The Bank focused on securing stable
funding sources to support its medium- to
long-term asset base, ensuring compliance
with NSFR requirements. NSFR as at
December 31, 2024 was 187.29% (193.70%
as at December 31, 2023) compared to the
minimum requirement of 100%.

For more details, please [ refer Annex 2
on page 491.

Forward momentum in resource
optimisation

As the Bank continues to strengthen its
financial foundation, optimising financial
resources remains a key strategic priority.
Central to this effort is the Bank’s robust ALM
framework, which is overseen by the ALCO
and aligned with international best practices.
This framework is further reinforced by the
Treasury Middle Office, which continuously
monitors market risks, ensuring that the
Bank remains agile in responding to dynamic
financial conditions.

By maintaining a careful balance between
risk, liquidity, and profitability, the Bank’s
ALM approach allows it to adapt to evolving
market environments while safeqguarding its
financial stability. This proactive management
ensures that the Bank not only meets its
immediate financial obligations but also
remains well-positioned to capitalise on
emerging opportunities. Through effective
resource allocation and disciplined oversight,
the Bank is able to drive sustainable growth,
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meet regulatory requirements, and align
its operations with long-term strategic
objectives, reinforcing its resilience and
stakeholder confidence in an increasingly
volatile global economy.

To further enhance decision-making
and automation within ALM and liquidity
management, the Bank has procured
several software modules focused on Asset
and Liability Management and Liquidity
Computation. These tools will empower
ALCO to optimise the Balance Sheet more
effectively, facilitating automation in
liquidity-related computations, increasing
computation frequencies, and enhancing
near real-time monitoring capabilities. The
implementation of these software solutions
is currently underway, with live deployment
scheduled in the near future.

Enhancing portfolio quality and
risk management

Strengthening asset quality for
sustainable growth

In 2024, the Bank achieved significant strides
in enhancing the quality of its credit portfolio,
driven by strategic initiatives and improved
macroeconomic conditions. By leveraging
advanced risk management tools, conducting
rigorous evaluations, and ensuring prudent
provisioning, the Bank demonstrated

its commitment to sustainable financial
performance and stability.

Improving credit portfolio quality
through targeted strategies

The Bank has consistently focused on
improving the quality of its credit portfolio by
employing targeted strategies that address
both pre- and post-sanction evaluations,
ensuring a proactive approach to risk
mitigation and enhanced asset quality,
through measures such as;

@ Comprehensive credit
risk assessments: Rigorous
credit appraisals serve as the
cornerstone of the Bank’s lending
decisions. These assessments
delve deeply into borrower
profiles, market conditions,
feasibility of the proposals, and
sector-specific risks, ensuring a
robust framework for prudent
credit allocation.
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V) Sectoral diversification:
To minimise concentration
risks and enhance resilience
against economic uncertainties,
the Bank has strategically
diversified its lending portfolio
across industries, sectors and
geographies, demonstrating
strong fundamentals and growth
potential.

@ Active portfolio monitoring:
Regular reviews and monitoring
of the credit portfolio have
enabled the Bank to detect
emerging risks early. Leveraging
predictive capabilities of the
Early Warning Signals (EWS)
system, the Bank identifies
potential vulnerabilities within
the portfolio, enabling timely
corrective actions. This predictive
approach enhances the Bank'’s
ability to safeguard asset
quality in a dynamic market
environment.

@ Independent credit risk
reviews: The Bank’s IRMD
conducts independent Credit
Risk Reviews, providing an
additional layer of oversight.
These reviews assess the
effectiveness of credit decisions,
compliance with risk policies,
and adherence to regulatory
guidelines, ensuring a
comprehensive evaluation of the
credit landscape.

By integrating these strategies with
advanced risk monitoring tools and
independent reviews, the Bank has fortified
its credit management processes. This
proactive approach has enabled the Bank to
preserve its asset quality and position the
Bank to achieve sustainable growth in an
increasingly complex financial landscape, as
evidenced by the fact that the gross loans
and advances portfolio recorded a 17.49%
growth in 2024, compared to the industry
average growth of 2.10%.
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Prudent impairment provisioning
to safeguard asset quality

As part of its prudent risk management
strategy, the Bank took proactive measures
to enhance impairment provisioning levels,
ensuring financial stability and resilience.
While asset quality improved notably in 2024,
driven by a recovery in economic conditions
and a positive shift in the Economic Factor
Adjustment, the Bank revised its impairment
policy to introduce more stringent measures.

One such revision involved making a
100% provision for facilities in the Non-
Performing category for over three years,
irrespective of collateral, reflecting the
Bank’s commitment to maintaining a sound
financial position. These measures resulted in
a substantial increase in the Stage 3 provision
coverage, which rose to 64.61% from 43.22%
in the previous year, while the open credit
exposure reduced to 15.06% from 38.69%.

This proactive approach underscores
the Bank’s dedication to strengthening its
resilience and ensuring that asset quality
remains robust amidst evolving market
dynamics.

Leveraging predictive analytics for
smarter risk assessment

The Bank utilised predictive analytics and
advanced data modeling techniques to
strengthen its risk assessment and decision-
making processes. By leveraging these
innovative approaches, the Bank was able to
proactively manage credit risk and enhance
portfolio quality through the following key
measures:

) Early warning systems:
Predictive tools enabled
the Bank to identify potential
non-performing assets (NPAs) at
an early stage, facilitating timely
interventions and recovery
measures.

@ Data-driven insights: Advanced
analytics provided deeper
insights into borrower and
repayment trends, enhancing the
accuracy of risk evaluation.

@ Customer risk scoring models:
Tailored models were developed
to align risk assessments with
the Bank'’s strategic priorities and
regulatory requirements.
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Conducting stress tests and scenario
analyses to ensure financial stability

As part of its comprehensive risk
management framework, the Bank
conducted regular stress tests and scenario
analyses to evaluate the resilience of its
portfolio under adverse economic conditions.
These measures played a crucial role in
identifying vulnerabilities and enhancing

the Bank’s preparedness for potential
financial shocks through the following key
approaches:

e Macro-stress testing:
Simulations based on varying
macroeconomic scenarios allowed the
Bank to assess the potential impact of
external shocks on its financial position.

e Capital adequacy under stress:
Stress testing results validated the Bank’s
ability to maintain adequate capital buffers,
ensuring compliance with regulatory
standards and instilling stakeholder
confidence.

e Scenario planning for risk mitigation:
Scenario analyses informed the Bank’s
contingency planning, enabling it to
prepare for and respond effectively to
evolving risks.
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Outlook for portfolio quality and risk
management

The Bank’s strategic focus on enhancing
portfolio quality and risk management
underpins its vision for sustainable growth.
By integrating advanced technologies,
adopting rigorous evaluations, and aligning
with global best practices, it is well-
positioned to navigate the challenges of

a dynamic economic environment. These
efforts not only reinforce the Bank’s financial
stability but also enhance its ability to deliver
value to all stakeholders.

Diversification of lending portfolio

Expanding credit horizons for
inclusive and sustainable growth

The Bank’s lending portfolio diversification

in 2024 reflected its commitment to

inclusive and sustainable development. By
prioritising key growth sectors, expanding
green financing, and leveraging regional
opportunities, the Bank ensured that its
credit portfolio aligned with national and
global priorities while mitigating risk through
diversification strategies.

Lending to priority sectors

The Bank remained unwavering in its
commitment to supporting socio-economic
upliftment by channeling credit towards
underserved and high-potential sectors,
reinforcing its role as a key enabler of
inclusive economic growth.

© Management discussion and analysis
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ComBank biggest
lender to Sri Lanka’s

SME:s for 4th
consecutive year

o liEE
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The Bank became the biggest lender
to Sri Lanka’s SME sector for the

4th consecutive year accounting

for nearly a one third of the value

of the loans disbursed by a total of
17 state and private sector lending
institutions.

In 2023, the Bank lent Rs. 231.655
Bn. out of the total loans of Rs.
704.142 Bn. to SMEs, accounting
for 33% of the total in value
terms according to the Ministry
of Finance Annual Report 2023.

Driving socio-economic upliftment through strategic credit allocation

Figure - 20

Empowering SMEs

Largest SME lender for four years,
providing tailored financial solutions
for working capital, infrastructure
expansion, and capacity-building
initiatives.

Contribution to SDGs:

Promoting women entrepreneurs

Tailored financing solutions to
empower women-led businesses,
providing accessible credit and
technical support.

Supporting microfinance initiatives

Extended financial services to
underserved rural populations,
fostering self-reliance and community
development.

Contribution to SDGs:
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A core focus of this effort has been
empowering SMEs, recognising their vital
contribution to job creation, innovation,

and national economic resilience. For the
past four years, the Bank has maintained its
position as Sri Lanka’s largest lender to SMEs,
underscoring its sustained dedication to this
crucial segment. Through tailored financial
solutions, the Bank has enabled SMEs to
access working capital, expand infrastructure,
and undertake capacity-building initiatives
across diverse industries. By prioritising SMEs,
the Bank has nurtured entrepreneurship,
stimulated innovation, and strengthened
economic sustainability.

In addition, the Bank has taken significant
steps to promote women entrepreneurs,
introducing specialised financing solutions
that provide accessible credit and technical
support. These initiatives have encouraged
female-led businesses, enhanced economic
inclusion, and empowered women to
contribute meaningfully to the nation’s
growth.
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Beyond SMEs and women-led businesses,
the Bank has extended its outreach
through microfinance initiatives, ensuring
financial services reach underserved rural
communities. By facilitating access to credit
and fostering self-reliance, these programs
have supported grassroots entrepreneurship,
strengthened community development, and
uplifted livelihoods in marginalised regions.

Expanding green financing

Aligned with its sustainability agenda,

the Bank significantly expanded its green
financing efforts to address environmental
challenges and promote climate-resilient
economic practices. By integrating
sustainability into its lending strategy, the
Bank facilitated projects that contribute

to a low-carbon economy and long-term
environmental stewardship.
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A key focus of this initiative was financing
renewable energy projects, supporting the
transition towards clean energy solutions.
The Bank provided funding for solar, wind,
and hydroelectric projects, empowering
businesses and communities to reduce
carbon emissions and enhance energy
efficiency.

Additionally, the Bank extended credit to
sustainable agriculture, enabling farmers and
agribusinesses to adopt eco-friendly farming
techniques such as organic cultivation and
water-efficient practices. By encouraging
responsible agricultural methods, the Bank
played a role in enhancing food security
while minimising environmental impact.

Beyond energy and agriculture, the
Bank also supported funding initiatives
such as green buildings, and eco-tourism
developments. These investments
underscored the Bank’s commitment to
sustainability across multiple sectors,
ensuring economic growth aligns with
environmental conservation and climate
adaptation.

Driving sustainability through green financing

Figure - 21

Renewable energy projects

Financed solar, wind, and
hydroelectric projects, supporting
clients’ transition to clean energy
while reducing carbon emissions and
promoting sustainability.

Contribution to SDGs:

Sustainable agriculture

Provided credit to farmers and
agribusinesses for eco-friendly
practices, supporting organic
cultivation, water efficiency, and
sustainable agricultural growth.

Contribution to SDGs:
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Climate-resilient infrastructure

Supported climate-resilient
infrastructure through green
buildings, and eco-tourism projects.

Contribution to SDGs:
. 13 o
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Strategic diversification for risk mitigation and growth

Figure — 22

Sectoral focus

Diversified into emerging sectors
including technology, healthcare,
and export-oriented industries.

Contribution to SDGs:

Regional outreach

Expanded presence in urban and
rural markets, ensuring equitable
credit access, bridging financial
inclusion gaps, and fostering
regional economic development.
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Sectoral and geographic diversification
of credit exposures

To mitigate risks and optimise growth, the Bank
pursued a strategic diversification approach
across sectors and geographies, ensuring a
well-balanced and resilient portfolio.

A key component of this strategy was
a sectoral focus, where the Bank diversified
into emerging industries such as technology,
healthcare, and export-oriented businesses.
This expansion enabled the Bank to tap into
new growth opportunities while effectively
spreading risk across multiple high-potential
sectors.

Additionally, the Bank strengthened
its regional outreach, expanding its footprint
in both urban and rural markets. By doing
so, it ensured equitable access to credit,
bridged gaps in financial inclusion, and
fostered regional economic development.

Cross-border lending and
regional expansion

Leveraging its expertise in cross-border
financing, the Bank strategically expanded

its international footprint, capturing new
opportunities and strengthening its regional
presence. This initiative enabled the Bank to
support businesses and economies beyond
national borders while reinforcing its role as a
key financial facilitator in the region.

A major focus of this expansion was the
Bank’s operations in Bangladesh, the Maldives,
and Myanmar, where it provided tailored
credit solutions, including trade financing
and project loans. These financial solutions
played a pivotal role in driving economic
development in neighbouring countries,
fostering growth across multiple industries.

Additionally, the Bank strengthened
cross-border trade support, facilitating
seamless trade financing solutions for
businesses operating across international
markets. By streamlining transactions and
offering structured financial assistance, the
Bank enhanced client satisfaction while
deepening regional economic ties.
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Expanding regional presence through cross-border financing

Bangladesh, the Maldives,
and Myanmar

Provided tailored credit solutions,
including trade financing and
project loans, fostering economic
development.

Contribution to SDGs:
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Figure - 23

Cross-border trade support

Facilitated seamless trade

financing for cross-border businesses,
enhancing client satisfaction and
strengthening regional economic ties
through efficient financial solutions.

Contribution to SDGs:
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Outlook for portfolio diversification

As part of its responsible financing strategy,
the Bank’s portfolio diversification initiatives
are designed to balance growth with
sustainability. By supporting priority sectors,
expanding green financing, and pursuing
regional opportunities, the Bank ensures
long-term value creation for stakeholders
while addressing pressing economic and
environmental challenges. Reflecting its
ambition to diversify further, the Bank
established an International Banking
Division effective January 01, 2025.

This strategic initiative aims to expand

the Bank’s footprint from subcontinental

to cross-border operations, positioning it

as the Sri Lankan bank with the highest
international presence. This division will
enhance focus and drive business growth

in areas such as the Colombo Port City,
Dubai International Financial Centre, and
cross-border lending opportunities in new
territories. Looking ahead, the Bank remains
committed to refining its credit strategies to
align with evolving market needs and global
sustainability goals.

Customer centricity

The Bank places customer centricity at the
heart of its Responsible Financing agenda,
creating experiences defined by simplicity,

transparency, and convenience. The Bank’s
commitment is evident in its unwavering
focus on understanding and addressing
diverse customer needs while fostering
meaningful relationships. By maintaining
open, transparent communication, the Bank
ensures customers are informed about its
products, services, and policies, building
trust and enabling proactive management
of expectations. This transparency is
coupled with tailored solutions, including
restructuring and rescheduling of loan
facilities, specialised account offerings, and
segmented services, empowering customers
to achieve their financial aspirations.

Customer segmentation: personalised
solutions for every need

Customer segmentation remains a
cornerstone of the Bank’s strategy, enabling
the design of tailored products and

services for distinct customer groups. This
approach ensures not only the alignment
of financial solutions with customer goals
but also exceeds expectations. The strategy
has necessitated internal enhancements,
such as agile processes, to adapt to the
evolving needs of its clientele. By leveraging
segmentation, the Bank fosters loyalty and
engagement while reinforcing the strength
of its brand.
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Customer segmentation Table — 09
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Criteria High net-worth Corporate SME (Small and Medium Micro customers Mass market
Enterprises)
Income/Size of relationship/ Individuals with Exposure> Exposure< Rs. 250 Mn. Exposure< Individuals not falling
Business turnover/Exposure banking relationships Rs. 250 Mn. and annual turnover  Rs. 1 Mn. into other categories
above set thresholds <Rs. 1 Bn.
Price sensitivity High High Moderate Low Low
Products of interest Investment Transactional, Development Transactional Transactional
trade finance, lending, Leasing and
and project loans project financing,
Transactional
Number of transactions Low High High/Moderate Low Low
Level of engagement High High High Low Low
Objective Wealth maximisation  Funding and Funding, growth and  Funding and Personal
growth advice advice financial needs
Background Elite business Rated, large Medium business Self-employed Salaried employees
community/ to medium
professionals corporates/MNCs
Number of banking relationships  Many Many A few A few A few
Level of competition High High Moderate Low Moderate
from banks
y
Channel mix and target market on perceived customer preference Table - 10
Customer segment Branches Internet & ATMs/CDMs Call centre Relationship Business  Premier banking
Mobile Banking CRMs managers promotion officers units
High net-worth v v v v v v v
Corporates v v v v v X X
SMEs v v v v v v x
Micro v v v v X v X
Millennials X v v v e X X
Mass market v v v v X X X
y
Crafting a customer-centric future Spearheaded by the Chief Manager -
Guided by its vision, mission, and 12 Service Customer Experience, this specialised unit ComBank voted

Commandments, the Bank introduced a
comprehensive Customer Experience (CX)
Vision and Service Oath to align employee

behaviour with its commitment to delivering

exceptional service. Recognising the

evolving expectations of customers, the Bank

took a transformative step in late 2023 by
establishing the Customer Experience Unit,
reinforcing its dedication to engagement,
seamless service delivery, and customer
satisfaction.

serves as the driving force behind the Bank’s
commitment to embedding customer-
centricity across all touchpoints. Through
structured initiatives and continuous
innovation, the Bank is actively reshaping

its service culture to enhance customer
interactions, optimise service standards, and
elevate overall satisfaction levels.

In pursuit of these objectives, the
Bank has implemented a series of targeted
actions to enrich the customer experience,
strengthen relationships, and position itself
as a leader in service excellence.

“People’s Private Bank
of the Year” for second
successive year

The Bank has been voted the
“People’s Private Bank of the Year” at
the SLIM Kantar People’s Awards 2024
for the second consecutive year.
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Key actions in 2024

PN

Strengthening governance:

EZS ¢ Established a Customer

oA

ot

Experience Steering
Committee, that conducts
quarterly meetings to
oversee strategies, address
challenges, and drive
customer-focused initiatives
Bank-wide.

Introduced Leaders’
Guidance to Serving,
featuring insights from
Corporate Management to
align leadership with service
excellence.

Inspiring Staff:

Launched an internal
campaign under the
inspiring theme “Service
Beyond 100%" to reinforce a

culture of service excellence.

Developed Dos and Don't
service videos to guide
service behaviours and
standardise best practices.

Innovative Tools:

Introduced Service Quality
Dashboards across various
units, providing visibility,
accountability, and
actionable insights.

Streamlined customer
journeys at service
touchpoints to enhance
efficiency and consistency.

Feedback mechanisms:

Launched customer surveys
and implemented action
points based on feedback
to foster a customer-centric
approach.

Strengthened First-Time
Resolution (FTR) focus at
the Contact Centre, driving
efficiency and boosting
customer satisfaction

Service huddles:

Introduced weekly

Service Huddles with a
structured framework to
encourage team reflection,
collaboration, and
continuous improvement.
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Measuring success:
Customer satisfaction metrics

The Bank’s unwavering commitment to
excellence in customer service is validated by
outstanding customer satisfaction metrics.

In 2022, a comprehensive study conducted
by Kantar Research showcased the Bank’s
remarkable satisfaction scores. The findings
showed the Bank’s superior customer
satisfaction scores in all three key customer
segments, Retail, Corporate and SME. These
metrics highlight the Bank’s customer-centric
philosophy, solidifying its position as an
industry leader in delivering exceptional
banking experiences tailored to diverse
customer needs.

Through its strategic focus on passionate
service, actionable insights, and the
integration of cutting-edge technology, the
Bank continues to raise the bar for customer
satisfaction. By striving to achieve best-in-
class Net Promoter Scores (NPS), it reaffirms
its ambition to set new benchmarks in
customer experience and establish itself as a
service leader in the banking sector.

Customer Experience Performance
Statistics Table - 11
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Combank opens
first Digizone experience

il

Opening the first “DigiZone”, located
at the Bank’s Wellawatte branch,
enabling visitors to experience any of
the digital services offered.

Key Performance Indicators 2024 2023
Contact Centre Inbound operation voice calls

e Service Level 80% within 20 sec 66% 77%

e Abandoned Rate Less than 5% 7% 6%

First Call Resolution Rate (FCR) 74% N/A
Customer Total Net Promoter Score (NPS)
experience e Maintain above 35 30 N/A

y

Driving digital transformation for
customer experience

The Bank integrates technology to streamline
processes, enhance efficiency, and simplify
the customer journey. The upcoming
Corporate Banking App exempilifies this
effort, offering comprehensive capabilities
across lending, deposits, trade, and treasury
services. The App aims to address talent
shortages through automation, improve
operational efficiency, and deliver an
intuitive, integrated digital experience for
corporate clients. Additionally, the Bank's
broader technology-driven CX initiatives
include customer journey automation,

QR payment innovations, biometric
authentication, and Al-driven chatbots

to create seamless, contactless banking
experiences.

Continuous innovation in
customer experience

Customer experience is at the forefront of
the Bank’s operations, focusing on creating
seamless and standardised journeys, offering
one-stop solutions, and enhancing processes
to reduce turnaround times. Regular
customer feedback, CRM-driven insights, and
personalised promotions help refine services
to align with evolving customer preferences.
The Bank also prioritises training employees
to enhance customer interactions and
leverage technology to maintain a customer-
first ethos.

By embedding customer centricity
into its operations and leveraging cutting-
edge digital solutions, the Bank reaffirms
its commitment to delivering personalised,
transparent, and future-ready financial
services. This approach strengthens customer
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relationships and ensures that the Bank
remains a trusted partner in achieving their
financial goals in a fast-evolving digital era.
Through a blend of technology, customer
focus, and innovation, the Bank continues to
redefine excellence in customer experience.

Adoption of the Battlecard concept:
Strengthening competitive strategy
in 2024

Since the beginning of 2024, the Bank
adopted the innovative “Battlecard”

concept to strategically position the Bank

in an increasingly competitive market
landscape. Designed to identify market
dynamics, competitor offerings, and growth
opportunities, the Battlecard acts as a
blueprint to enhance the Bank’s market share
in deposits and advances.

The Battlecard focused on addressing
customer pain points highlighting gaps
between competitors and the Bank. Key
differentiation areas identified included
transitioning to a sales-oriented mindset
through centralised operations, automation,
and enhanced process-driven approaches.

The competitive analysis mapped key
players in the industry - each with unique
strengths and weaknesses, which helped
the Bank generate invaluable insights that
suggested opportunities for differentiation.
Leveraging these insights, the Bank has
devised strategies to establish itself as the
preferred choice for customers.

To drive market differentiation, the Bank
introduced three strategic initiatives:

e Wallet share increase:
Aiming to grow deposits and advances
through SME and corporate client-focused
funnel management.

e Centralised operations for back-office work:
Enhancing operational efficiency while
fostering a proactive sales culture.

e Customer-centric approach:
Introducing expedited credit approvals
through automation and pre-approved
limits for top-tier customers.

With meticulously outlined action plans
and clear timelines for seamless execution in
2024, the Bank’s adoption of the Battlecard
concept exemplifies its unwavering
commitment to growth, operational
excellence, and unparalleled customer
satisfaction. By focusing on maintaining
portfolio quality and bridging market gaps
through innovative strategies, the Bank is
strategically positioned to drive sustainable
growth and adapt to the evolving dynamics
of the banking industry. This forward-thinking
approach reinforces the Bank’s ability to
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deliver value while navigating competitive
challenges, ensuring resilience and success in
an increasingly dynamic financial landscape.

Governance and compliance excellence

Embedding governance for responsible
and ethical banking

The Bank maintained its leadership

in governance and compliance by
implementing robust frameworks designed
to uphold ethical banking, ensure
regulatory compliance, and foster a culture
of accountability. The Bank’s approach

to governance excellence reinforced its
commitment to transparency, integrity,
and the highest ethical standards in all its
operations.

Strengthening ESG governance
frameworks

To align with its Sustainability Framework,
the Bank further enhanced its governance
mechanisms to integrate ESG principles
into its core business processes. These
efforts ensure that sustainability remains a
fundamental part of decision-making, risk
management, and stakeholder engagement
through the following key initiatives:

e ESG integration in decision-making:
All financing decisions are rigorously
evaluated against ESG criteria, ensuring
alignment with sustainable and
responsible business practices.

e Board-level oversight:
The Bank’s Board of Directors actively
oversees ESG-related initiatives, embedding
sustainability considerations into strategic
planning and risk management.

e Stakeholder accountability:
Regular engagement with stakeholders
ensures that the Bank’s ESG commitments
reflect their expectations while driving
sustainable value creation.

Anti-money laundering (AML), Combating
financing of terrorism (CFT) and anti-bribery
and anti-corruption measures

The Bank remained steadfast in its
commitment to preventing financial

crimes by continually enhancing its AML
and anti-bribery frameworks. Leveraging
advanced monitoring technologies, the
Bank strengthened its capacity for real-time
detection and prevention of suspicious
activities, aligning its operations with global
AML standards. These robust systems not
only enhanced compliance but also fortified
stakeholder trust in the Bank'’s ethical
practices.
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A zero-tolerance approach to bribery was
at the forefront of the Bank’s strategy. Strict
anti-bribery policies were rigorously enforced
across all operations, complemented by
comprehensive training programs. These
programs empowered employees and
third-party partners with the knowledge
and tools to uphold the highest standards of
integrity, ensuring ethical conduct at every
level of the organisation.

Number of permanent
employees who
completed on-line
AML e-learning course
and obtained the
certification — 3,909
(78% of the total
permanent employees
in Sri Lanka)

Additionally, the Bank maintained a
meticulous approach to regulatory reporting.
Comprehensive systems and procedures
were in place to ensure compliance as well as
timely and accurate submission of reports on
suspicious transactions to relevant regulatory
authorities. The Bank is cognisant of its role
and requirements to be prepared, from the
perspective of the National Risk Assessment
(NRA) that is going to be conducted towards
the latter part of 2026. This proactive
stance underscored the Bank’s unwavering
dedication to compliance, transparency, and
the safeguarding of the financial ecosystem
from illicit activities. Through these measures,
the Bank mitigated risks while reinforcing
its reputation as a responsible and vigilant
financial institution.

Ethical banking practices
and conduct risk management

Ethical banking remains a cornerstone of the
Bank’s operational philosophy, supported

by comprehensive frameworks to mitigate
conduct risk. This commitment ensures

that every action taken by the Bank aligns
with its core values, fostering trust among
stakeholders and reinforcing the Bank's
position as a responsible financial institution.

A robust Code of Ethics serves as the
foundation for employee behaviour, ensuring
that all decisions and actions are guided by
the principles of transparency, responsibility,
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and ethical behaviour. This framework

is further strengthened through regular
training and awareness programs, which
focus on ethical banking, customer fairness,
and conflict of interest prevention. These
initiatives empower employees to uphold the
highest standards of professional conduct
while fostering a culture of accountability and
ethical behaviour.

The Conduct Risk Management Policy
plays a pivotal role in maintaining an effective
risk culture. This Group-wide policy ensures
that the Bank engages in fair and ethical
practices with customers, employees, and
other stakeholders while establishing clear
accountability for all actions. By adopting a
preventive approach, this Policy enables the
Bank to proactively address risks, ensuring
that its operations remain ethically sound and
aligned with stakeholder expectations.

The IRMD actively oversees and addresses
risks that could impact operational integrity,
ethical behaviour, or stakeholder trust.
Leveraging the principles of the Conduct Risk
Management Policy, this team ensures that
ethical considerations are deeply integrated
into the Bank’s risk management strategy.
These efforts collectively reinforce the
Bank’s unwavering commitment to ethical
behaviour, responsible banking, and robust
corporate governance.

Ensuring compliance with
regulatory and ESG standards

The Bank consistently meets and exceeds
local and international regulatory
requirements, reinforcing its position as a
model of compliance excellence. Through a
structured approach to governance, financial
transparency, and sustainability, the Bank
ensures adherence to global best practices in
the following key areas:

e Basel lll and SLFRS compliance:
The Bank adhered to Basel Il capital
adequacy standards and Sri Lanka Financial
Reporting Standards (SLFRS) ensuring
robust financial health and transparency.

e Alignment with ESG standards:
By aligning its practices with global
frameworks such as the SDGs, the
Bank demonstrated its commitment to
addressing global challenges.

e Periodic audits and assessments:
Independent audits and compliance
assessments ensured adherence to
regulatory and ESG standards, reinforcing
accountability and operational excellence.
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Outlook for governance and compliance

As financial ecosystems become increasingly
complex, the Bank remains committed to
strengthening its governance frameworks
and compliance mechanisms. By embedding
ESG principles, mitigating financial crime
risks, and fostering ethical banking practices,
the Bank continues to uphold its reputation
as a trusted and responsible financial
institution. Looking ahead, the Bank aims to
leverage technological advancements and
global best practices to further enhance
governance excellence and support
sustainable growth.

Climate risk management

Proactively addressing
climate-related risks

In recognition of the growing impact of
climate change on financial systems, the
Bank has prioritised climate risk management
as a critical aspect of its governance and
operational strategy. By leveraging advanced
tools, conducting rigorous stress testing, and
addressing the challenges of green financing,
the Bank continues to ensure resilience
against climate-related uncertainties while
supporting sustainable economic growth.

© Management discussion and analysis
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Identifying climate-related
risks and opportunities

In line with SLFRS S2: Climate-Related
Disclosures and global best practices, the
Bank recognises the need to systematically
identify and assess the financial implications
of Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities
(CRROs). Understanding these factors is
critical for ensuring the Bank’s long-term
resilience and enabling strategic decision-
making in a rapidly evolving economic and
regulatory landscape.

The Bank has conducted an analysis of
both physical risks (e.g., risks arising from
extreme weather events and changing
climate patterns) and transition risks
(e.g., risks associated with the shift to a
low-carbon economy). Simultaneously,
the Bank has identified climate-related
opportunities that align with its strategy to
support sustainable economic growth and
promote a greener financial ecosystem.

This proactive approach enables the
Bank to embed climate considerations into
its risk management frameworks, lending
practices, and investment strategies. It also
provides the foundation for climate stress

ComBank first Lankan Bank to

join PCAF - the global Partnership for
Carbon Accounting Financials

€1y COMMERCIAL BANK

- |

The Bank became the first Sri Lankan bank to be a signatory to the Partnership for
Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF), a global initiative that enables signatories to
measure and disclose the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions associated with their

financial activity.

The Bank’s ground-breaking engagement with PCAF is supported by the International
Finance Corporation (IFC) and is a pivotal element of the Bank’s Climate Transition Plan.
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testing and scenario analysis, ensuring that
the Bank remains well-prepared to navigate
future climate-related uncertainties while
capitalising on sustainable opportunities.

CRROs identified in relation to the
Bank are given in Risk Governance and
Management section on pages 254 to 284.

Mitigating green financing risks

While the Bank continues to expand its green
financing portfolio, it acknowledges the
inherent risks associated with this segment,
including regulatory inconsistencies and
market challenges. To address these

risks and ensure the sustainability and
viability of its green financing initiatives,

the Bank has implemented the following
strategic measures:

e Addressing regulatory gaps:
The Bank actively engages with regulators
and policymakers to align its green
financing practices with national and
international sustainability guidelines,
ensuring clarity and consistency.

e Due diligence in green projects:
Comprehensive due diligence processes
assess the technical, environmental,
and financial viability of green projects,
reducing the risk of under performance or
non-compliance.

e Diversifying green financing portfolio:
The Bank’s green financing initiatives
span multiple sectors, including
renewable energy, energy efficiency, and
climate-resilient agriculture, minimising
concentration risk.

Way forward for climate risk management

As the global climate risk landscape
continues to evolve, the Bank is resolute

in its commitment to enhancing risk
management capabilities and integrating
climate considerations into all aspects of its
operations. Recognising the critical need for
proactive measures, the Bank has outlined a
strategic pathway for addressing CRROs.

Key focus areas for the future include:

e Expanding predictive analytics:
Leveraging advanced predictive analytics
tools to identify emerging climate risks and
assess their potential impact on operations,
portfolios, and stakeholder interests.

¢ Enhancing stakeholder engagement:
Strengthening collaboration with
regulators, industry peers, and other
stakeholders to address gaps in climate-
related regulations and frameworks,
ensuring alignment with international
best practices and local requirements.
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e Investing in innovative tools
and technologies:
Continuing investments in advanced
tools and technologies that enhance
the Bank’s ability to monitor, assess, and
mitigate climate risks effectively.

e Advancing financed emissions
calculations:
The Bank signed a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) with Partnership
for Carbon Accounting Financials
(PCAF) to become an official signatory,
demonstrating its commitment to robust
carbon accounting practices.

By embedding climate risk
management into its governance
frameworks and decision-making processes,
the Bank reaffirms its position as a
sustainable financial institution. The Bank’s
forward-thinking approach prioritises
resilience, accountability, and long-term
value creation, ensuring its ability to
navigate the complexities of a changing
climate while fostering sustainable growth.
In 2025, the Bank will actively work on
formulating detailed scorecards to assess
climate-related risks within the ICAAP
framework, specifically focusing on its
lending portfolio, and developing processes
to extract and interpret climate risk data
for financial disclosures in alignment with
SLFRS S1 and S2. These targeted initiatives
further reinforce the Bank’s commitment
to integrating climate considerations into
its operations, enabling informed decision-
making and transparent reporting to
stakeholders.

The Group Environmental and Social Risk
Management Policy

The Bank has implemented a Group
Environmental and Social Risk Management
Policy that provides a comprehensive
framework for managing environmental and
social (E&S) risks across its operations.

This policy covers E&S risk management
within the Bank’s internal operations,
ensuring responsible corporate practices,

as well as E&S risk management in lending,
integrating sustainability considerations into
the Bank's credit decision-making process.
By aligning with international best practices,
the policy reinforces our commitment

to responsible banking and sustainable
finance.

The full policy is available on the Bank’s
website and can be accessed at https://
www.combank.lk/info/file/272/group-
environmental-and-social-risk-management-
policy
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Environmental and social
management System

Integrating sustainability into lending practices

The Bank has established a comprehensive
Environmental and Social Management System
(ESMS) to ensure that all lending practices align
with its commitment to sustainability.

By embedding ESMS into its operations, the Bank
safeguards social and environmental outcomes
while promoting responsible business practices.

The ESMS has been developed based on
the IFC Performance Standards, a globally
recognised framework for managing E&S risks
in private sector projects. These standards
guide businesses and financial institutions in
identifying, assessing, and mitigating E&S risks,
fostering responsible and sustainable financing.
The framework comprises eight key standards,
addressing areas such as risk management,
labour rights, resource efficiency, community
health, safety, and security, land acquisition,
biodiversity conservation, indigenous peoples
rights, and cultural heritage. Widely adopted
by banks, investors, and development
institutions, these standards ensure alignment
with international sustainability frameworks,
including the Equator Principles and the SDGs.

Embedding ESMS in lending practices

The Bank has embedded ESMS as a
fundamental component of its risk evaluation
and lending processes, ensuring that all
financed projects adhere to stringent
sustainability criteria. By integrating ESMS
into its decision-making framework, the Bank
enhances responsible lending while aligning
with global sustainability goals through the
following key measures:

ComBank wins double
at ACCA Sustainability
Reporting Awards

The 2023 Annual Report of the Bank
was adjudged the overall runner-up
and winner in the Banking category at
the Sustainability Reporting Awards
presented by the ACCA.
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Embedding ESMS in lending practices Figure - 24

Sector-specific guidelines

Tailored ESMS guidelines address
the unique social and environmental
risks associated with various
industries, including agriculture,
energy, and infrastructure.

Pre-lending screening

Projects above a defined threshold
undergo detailed social and
environmental assessments,

ensuring compliance with national
and international standards,

including the SDGs.

Monitoring and reporting social and
environmental outcomes

The Bank’s ESMS framework prioritises
continuous monitoring and transparent
reporting to ensure accountability and
measurable impact. Through a structured
approach to data collection and stakeholder
engagement, the Bank enhances its ability
to assess and communicate the effectiveness
of its sustainability initiatives through the
following key measures:

e Outcome monitoring:
Regular audits and evaluations are
conducted to track the social and
environmental performance of funded
projects, ensuring adherence to agreed-
upon sustainability goals.

e Impact metrics:
The Bank employs key metrics, such as
carbon emissions reduction, reduction
in landfill, job creation, and community
development,
to measure the positive outcomes of its
ESMS-aligned projects.

e Transparent reporting:
Comprehensive reporting on ESMS
performance is shared with stakeholders,
reinforcing the Bank'’s accountability and
commitment to transparency.

o

ESMS

Enhancing ESMS capabilities

The Bank is committed to continually refining
its ESMS framework to address emerging
sustainability challenges and opportunities,
through many activities, inter alia the
following:

e Capacity building:
Regular training programs equip
employees with the skills to evaluate and
monitor social and environmental risks
effectively.

e Technology integration:
Advanced digital tools, such as
environmental risk assessment software
and predictive analytics, are incorporated
into ESMS processes for enhanced accuracy
and efficiency.

e Partnerships for sustainability:
Collaborations with international
organisations and local regulators
strengthen the Bank’s ESMS framework
and expand its sustainability expertise.

Medium to long-term vision for ESMS

The Bank has seamlessly embedded ESMS
into its lending practices to ensure its
financial activities contribute to sustainable
development while mitigating adverse social
and environmental impacts. The Bank is
committed to scaling the impact of ESMS by
broadening its application across all lending
portfolios, prioritising high-sustainability
projects such as renewable energy and social
infrastructure development.

Stakeholder engagement

The Bank works collaboratively with
project stakeholders to identify
potential risks and implement
mitigation measures, ensuring long-
term project sustainability.

Compliance with frameworks

Alignment with global best
practices, such as the International
Finance Corporation (IFC)
Performance Standards, ensures
responsible lending and minimises
the negative impact of financed
activities.

The Group has implemented a robust
strategy to avoid financing activities that
pose E&S risks, ensuring responsible banking
practices and compliance with regulatory
frameworks. As part of this approach, the
Group strictly adheres to a pre-identified
list of banned or illegal practices, outlined
in Annex I:“Banned/lllegal List” in the Group
E&S Risk Management Policy, which prevents
engagement in activities that could be
harmful or non-compliant with regulations.
Additionally, while certain project types
or activities listed in the E&S Negative
List (Annex I) may be legally permissible,
they carry the potential for significant
environmental degradation or social conflict.
Given the Group's low risk appetite for
such activities, lending to these projects is
restricted whenever possible. Furthermore,
the Bank’s operations in Bangladesh adhere
to additional sectoral exclusions, as stipulated
in the “Exclusion List” of the “Guidelines on
Environmental and Social Risk Management
(ESRM) for Banks and Financial Institutions
in Bangladesh (June 2022)", reinforcing the
Group's commitment to sustainable and
responsible financing.

By fostering a culture of sustainability
among its clients, ESMS actively encourages
the adoption of environmentally and socially
responsible business models, reinforcing
shared accountability. Moreover, the
Bank aligns ESMS objectives with global
frameworks, including the SDGs, as part of
its medium to long-term strategy. Through
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this integration, the Bank demonstrates its
leadership in sustainable banking, proving
that financial growth and sustainability are
mutually reinforcing goals. These efforts
underscore the Bank’s commitment to a
resilient, inclusive, and environmentally
conscious future for all stakeholders.

Support for struggling businesses

The Bank recognises the critical role
struggling businesses, particularly SMEs,
play in the economy and has implemented a
dedicated approach to support their revival
and long-term sustainability. In 2024, the
Bank focused on assisting businesses facing
financial challenges through specialised
interventions and responsive strategies.

Business Revival and Rehabilitation Unit

The Business Revival and Rehabilitation

Unit (BRRU) exemplifies the Bank’s proactive
approach to supporting distressed businesses
in overcoming financial challenges and
regaining stability. Formally established in
July 2024, the BRRU has been instrumental

in working closely with SMEs, identifying
their unique pain points, and developing
customised solutions to effectively alleviate
financial distress.

Dedicated teams of financial advisors
played a critical role, offering guidance
on operational restructuring, cash flow
optimisation, and market repositioning,
ensuring businesses could achieve
sustainable recovery. Recognising the need
for additional financial support, the Bank
also provided supplementary funding on
a need basis, helping businesses navigate
challenging circumstances more effectively.

Additionally, the BRRU focused on
preventive measures, leveraging early
warning systems to detect signs of financial
strain and implementing timely interventions
to safeguard businesses from potential
insolvency. By the end of 2024, the unit
had extended support to 65 borrowers,
reinforcing the Bank’s commitment to being
a trusted partner for businesses.
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Restructuring and rescheduling
loan facilities

The Bank acknowledged the pressing
liquidity challenges faced by businesses and
extended flexible loan restructuring and
rescheduling options to support them in
overcoming financial difficulties. Borrowers
were given the opportunity to restructure
their existing loans, allowing adjustments
such as extended repayment periods and
revised interest rates. These interventions
effectively alleviated immediate financial
pressures, giving businesses the breathing
space needed for recovery.

To further support enterprises
experiencing temporary cash flow
constraints, the Bank rescheduled payment
plans, enabling businesses to meet
financial obligations without compromising
operational continuity. Additionally, the Bank
provided concessional terms to struggling
SMEs, including reduced interest rates and
tailored repayment structures, ensuring
that they could focus on rebuilding and
strengthening their businesses.

Despite the CBSL requiring the banks
to classify such restructured facilities under
Stage 2 or 3, which necessitates higher
impairment provisions, the Bank strategically
accommodated these businesses as a trade-
off, prioritising long-term economic stability
and business continuity over immediate
financial impact.

Future outlook

Looking to the future, the Bank is poised

to expand the scope of its BRRU by
incorporating additional advisory resources
and deploying advanced digital tools to
enhance the efficiency and effectiveness

of business recovery plans. The Bank also
plans to deepen its collaboration with
government agencies, industry associations,
and NGOs to deliver a more holistic support
ecosystem tailored to the unique challenges
of struggling businesses. Additionally, efforts
will focus on developing a comprehensive
impact assessment framework to monitor
recovery outcomes, measure the success

of interventions, and refine strategies for
maximum impact.
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Cost optimisation and efficiency

Driving operational excellence through
strategic cost management

The Bank continues to uphold its commitment
to enhancing operational efficiency and
cost-effectiveness. The establishment of
robust frameworks and targeted initiatives
such as business process re-engineering
ensures that resources are optimised, and cost
savings are reinvested into strategic growth
and sustainability programs.

Cost Optimisation Committee: Enhancing
decision-making and accountability

To streamline costs while maintaining

high service quality, the Bank has
empowered a dedicated Cost Optimisation
Committee to oversee cost management
and operational efficiency strategies. This
Committee, comprising corporate and senior
management representatives, evaluates
expense patterns and identifies opportunities
for cost savings across all divisions, ensuring
focused governance and accountability.
Through strategic measures, the Committee
has implemented recommendations

that have led to significant reductions

in non-essential expenditures without
compromising service delivery standards.
Importantly, the cost savings achieved are
systematically reinvested into innovation and
sustainability projects, reinforcing the Bank’s
commitment to long-term value creation for
its stakeholders.

The efforts of the Committee led to
significant cost savings during the year,
primarily on account of energy, utility
services, security, stationery, software
licensing etc.
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Improving operational efficiency in
financing processes

The Bank has adopted modern tools and
innovative approaches to improve the

efficiency of its financing processes, ensuring

greater speed and cost-effectiveness.
These strategic enhancements streamline
operations, reduce turnaround times (TAT),

and optimise resource utilisation through the

following key initiatives:

e Automation and digitisation:
Automation of workflows, including credit
approvals, document management, and
loan processing, has significantly reduced
TAT and operational costs.

e Streamlined decision-making:

By leveraging advanced data analytics and

predictive modeling, the Bank ensures

quick and accurate credit risk assessments,

minimising redundant steps and
inefficiencies.

e Lean banking practices:
Initiatives such as paperless transactions
and centralised operational hubs have
contributed to a leaner and more agile
banking model, reducing waste and
redundancies.

Continuous monitoring and optimisation

Cost efficiency at the Bank is viewed as

an ongoing journey, underpinned by
regular reviews to ensure alignment with
organisational objectives. Performance
metrics related to cost efficiency are
seamlessly integrated into key performance
indicators (KPIs) for all departments,
fostering a culture of accountability and
continuous improvement. Employee
engagement plays a pivotal role, with

staff encouraged to contribute ideas for
enhancing efficiency through reward-based
programs, thereby driving participation and
innovation. Additionally, the Bank employs
benchmarking practices to compare its
operational performance with industry
standards, ensuring its efficiency measures
align with global best practices and remain
relevant in a dynamic financial environment.

Way forward for cost optimisation

To sustain its leadership in operational
efficiency, the Bank aims to expand its cost
optimisation initiatives, focusing on:

e Al-driven efficiency solutions:
Implementing Al and machine learning
tools to predict cost-saving opportunities
and continuing to further automate
routine tasks.

e Green banking initiatives:
Investing in energy-efficient technologies
and reducing waste to align cost-saving
efforts with environmental sustainability.

e Customer-centric processes:
Enhancing customer experience through
more streamlined and cost-effective
banking operations, ensuring both quality
and affordability.

By maintaining a balance between cost
efficiency and quality enhancement, the
Bank ensures its financial sustainability and
strengthens its capacity to invest in growth
opportunities and community-focused
initiatives.

ComBank adjudged
Best Bankin

Sri Lanka for 13th year
by FinanceAsia

The Bank was adjudged as the

Best Bank among Sri Lanka’s
domestic banks for the 13th year by
FinanceAsia, considered the world's
foremost information source on the
Asian financial markets.
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Financial inclusion

Bridging gaps and
driving inclusive growth

At the Bank, financial inclusion stands as

a cornerstone of our sustainable banking
strategy, reflecting our unwavering
commitment to making financial services
accessible, affordable, and equitable for all.
Recognising that access to financial services is
a key enabler of socio-economic development,
we place special emphasis on underserved
communities, including women entrepreneurs,
rural populations, and SMEs. By focusing

on these segments, we strive to bridge the
financial gap and foster inclusive economic
growth across Sri Lanka and beyond.

In 2024, the Bank advanced its financial
inclusion agenda through a series of targeted
initiatives designed to empower marginalised
groups and drive financial literacy. Our
approach involved offering tailored financial
products, enhancing service accessibility
through digital and branch networks, and
promoting financial education to enable better
financial decision-making. These efforts were
aligned with national priorities and global
standards, underscoring our commitment to
equitable and sustainable growth.

The Bank’s ongoing focus on financial
inclusion not only supports national
development objectives but also strengthens
our role as a trusted financial partner in
communities that have historically been
excluded from mainstream financial systems.
Through collaborative partnerships and
innovative solutions, we continue to deliver
meaningful impact, ensuring that no one is
left behind on the path to economic progress.

Expanding access to banking

The Bank’s commitment to financial inclusion
underscores its role in bridging the socio-
economic divide and fostering equitable
growth. In 2024, the Bank intensified its
efforts to expand access to banking for
underserved and rural communities through
strategic initiatives, innovative technologies,
and inclusive practices.

Our network of delivery points

Figures 25 and 26 given on pages 102 and
103 illustrate the Bank’s branch network,
showcasing its reach across Sri Lanka and
Bangladesh as a testament to its commitment
to driving customer engagement and
delivering value to stakeholders. In Sri Lanka,
this expansive network provides unmatched
accessibility, ensuring that customers from

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC

ComBank takes

world-class banking to
Puthukkudiyiruppu

Puthukkudiyiruppu in Sri Lanka’s
Mullaitivu District became the latest
town to receive World-class banking
services from the Bank.

The Bank opened its latest branch in
this fast-developing town sustained
by the fisheries industry.

urban centers to remote regions can benefit
from the Bank’s comprehensive suite of
products and services. While the expansion of
physical branches has slowed in recent years
due to the increasing adoption of digital
banking channels, the Bank strategically
opened only one branch in 2024 in
Puthukkudiyiruppu to enhance its presence
while five branches were relocated for greater
customer convenience. The wide branch
presence complemented by an extensive
map of ATMs and digital channels, facilitates
financial inclusion, offering convenience to
underserved communities and supporting
local economies.

By leveraging this robust network, the
Bank also enhances its ability to provide
personalised customer service, strengthen
relationships, and deliver tailored financial
solutions. At a time when financial service
channels are increasingly shifting to digital
platforms, the branch network provides an
essential balance by offering a personal touch
that fosters trust, understanding, and human
connection. This extensive reach positions
the Bank as a key enabler of financial
empowerment and growth for its customers
across both countries.

Looking ahead to 2025, the Bank plans
to introduce an innovative business model
designed to address geographical disparities
in banking access. This model will enable
real-time banking services for residents in
isolated regions, further reinforcing the
Bank’s commitment to financial inclusion and
accessibility.
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Expanding mobile and digital
banking solutions

Leveraging technology to overcome barriers

to traditional banking, the Bank continued

to innovate its digital solutions to enhance
financial accessibility and inclusion, particularly
for underserved communities. By introducing
user-friendly mobile platforms and expanding
digital banking services, the Bank significantly
improved outreach and convenience through
the following key initiatives:

e Mobile banking for rural communities:
The Bank’s mobile banking platform,
equipped with simplified interfaces and
multilingual capabilities, has revolutionised
financial accessibility for rural populations.

e Digital account opening:
Introducing digital account opening
processes allowed rural customers to
establish bank accounts seamlessly without
traveling to urban branches. This initiative
greatly increased financial inclusion for
unbanked individuals.

e Integration of payment systems:
QR-based payment systems, and contactless
transactions were promoted to rural SMEs
and entrepreneurs, enabling smoother
financial operations for small businesses.

e Expanded Payment Accessibility
on Q+ Payment App:
In 2024, the Q+ Payment App enabled Non-
ComBank accounts as a payment option,
expanding access beyond ComBank-issued
cards, allowing all Sri Lankans with a bank
account to use the app for payments.

Ensuring inclusivity through

trilingual communication

To ensure a more inclusive and accessible
banking experience, the Bank placed
significant emphasis on linguistic and cultural
inclusivity. Recognising Sri Lanka’s diverse
communities, customer service centers and
contact platforms were equipped to provide
seamless support in Sinhala, Tamil, and
English, fostering effective communication
for all customers. The Bank further enhanced
its online and mobile banking platforms
(ComBank Digital, Flash, Q+, ePassBook,
WhatsApp Banking and Viber Banking) with
user-friendly trilingual interfaces, ensuring
that navigation was intuitive and accessible
to individuals across different demographic
groups. Complementing these efforts, the
Bank conducted educational campaigns in
all three languages to raise awareness about
the benefits and usage of digital banking
tools. These campaigns aimed to improve
financial literacy, build trust in digital banking,
and empower communities to embrace
modern banking technologies. This approach
underscores the Bank’s commitment to
inclusivity and accessibility in its services.
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Network of delivery points in Sri Lanka and Bangladesh

Network of delivery points in Sri Lanka Figure - 25

Branches ATMs CRMs

Northern Province 18 24 35
1. Jaffna District 12 14 23
2. Kilinochchi District 2 3 3
3. Mannar District 1 1 2
4. Mullaitivu District 1 2 2
5.Vavuniya District 2 4 5 y

Branches ATMs CRMs

North-Central Province 8 12 13
6. Anuradhapura District 6 7 10
7. Polonnaruwa District 2 5 3
4

Branches ATMs CRMs

North-Western Province 24 51 40
8. Kurunegala District 14 39 24
9. Putt